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Financial Highlights
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FIVEYEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

LEMHEMNE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—T-TFE T T C_TZF| ZBZRF
HKSmilon  HK$milon  HK$milon  HKSmilion | HK$'million
BEATL BEAT BEAT BEATL BEET
Revenue e \
Restaurant, food and hotel & #k ~ & m KB /E 768 706 676 574 559
Property investment and WERERER
development 263 90 105 109 103
1,031 796 781 683 662
Profit/(Loss) Attributable to RAEBAN
owners of the Parent FEEEH,/ (B8) 14 81 4 (176) (250)
Basic Earnings/(Loss) per BREAERN,/
Share (HK cents) (B#7) (BI) 1.12 6.44 0.25 (11.18) (15.93)
Net Assets BEFE 3,563 3,831 4,078 3,585 3,005
Total Assets BEE 6,393 6,772 7,082 6,489 6,135

Analysis of Revenue
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Corporate Information
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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | would like
to present the Annual Report of Carrianna Group Holdings
Company Limited for the financial year ended 31 March 2024.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s turnover was
HK$661,856,000 (2023: HK$683,482,000), decreased by
3% as compared to last year. The Group’s loss attributable
to shareholders was HK$250,250,000 as compared to a loss
attributable to shareholders of HK$175,680,000 from last year.
The slight decrease in turnover was mainly attributable to the
decrease in the food business turnover which was largely
offset by the increase in restaurant business turnover during
the year. The increase in loss attributable to shareholders was
mainly due to the combined effect of (i) increase in the finance
costs due to the increase in interest rates in bank borrowings;
(i) the impairment of goodwill and right-of-use assets due to
downsizing of the Hong Kong style “Cha Chaan Teng” (Z%
Z E2 ) restaurant business; and (i) the operating loss in food
business due to the decrease in sale of food products.

While the Group’s business was affected by a slower than
anticipated pace of economic recovery and poor property
market sentiment in the PRC and Hong Kong, traditional
restaurant business saw a sharp rebounce following the
relaxation of pandemic-related controls and re-opening of the
Chinese borders. The business remained healthy overall and
generated good turnover and profit for the Group.

Contribution from property segment remained steady during
the year. There was no major change in the investment property
portfolio of the Group for the year. The Group had recorded
an increase of 4% in rental income for the year. The increase
in rental income was as a result of the gradual resumption of
tenancy business to normal as the restrictions of pandemic
were uplifted.

The Group’s 50% owned Dongguan Home Town project is in
full operation. The occupancy has improved during the year
as new brand name shops were introduced to the shopping
centre, with new tenancy contracts signed.

Chairman’s Statement
¥ W&

AANEHRRESTS ([EFC])REEEH
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Chairman’s Statement
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The 13 storeys high grade Guangzhou South Station
commercial property continued to contribute to the Group’s
rental income for the year. The office building has achieved
100% occupancy to date.

In Hong Kong, the Group’s 50% owned residential property
re-development project at Haitan Street, Sham Shui Po has
completed its construction and obtained the occupation permit.
The project has a buildable gross floor area of 42,500 sq.ft. The
residential building comprises 115 residential units and 2 floors
of commercial shops. 98 residential units have been sold to
date.

The Group’s another 50% owned residential property re-
development project at Castle Peak Road, Sham Shui Po has
also commenced its construction stage of development. The
project has a buildable gross floor area of 42,400 sq.ft. Site
investigation and demolition works have completed in April
2024. The project is expected to be completed by end of 2026.

The food and restaurant business is another core business of
the Group. The business segment recorded a decrease of 3%
in turnover from last year. The decrease was mainly attributable
to the decrease in food business, which was compensated by
the increase in the restaurant business in both Hong Kong and
Mainland.

Food business turnover recorded a decrease of 23% from last
year. The decrease in food business turnover mainly came
from the decrease in sale of food products this year. The
bakery business in Hong Kong recorded an increase of 2% in
sales from last year. The Group’s subsidiary Profit Smart group
has recorded a decrease in profit of 34% from last year. The
decrease was mainly due to the government subsidies received
from the same period last year. Management will continue to
strengthen product development and introduce more new
products with the aim to boost sales. Profit Smart group has
undergone a renovation of the production areas and acquisition
of additional equipment to increase its production capacity.
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The Group’s overall restaurant turnover increased by 17% from
last year. The restaurant business both in Hong Kong and
Mainland experienced a sharp rebounce following the lifting of
the pandemic restrictions and the re-opening of Hong Kong-
Mainland borders since beginning of 2023.

The economy is steadily recovering but the pace of recovery
in the Hong Kong and Mainland markets is slower than
initially expected. While there are still economic uncertainties-
inflation, high interest rates, China’s property market crisis, and
geopolitical tensions with Russian-Ukranian war and Israeli-
Palestinian conflict, the Group remains cautiously optimistic
about the economic outlook for the coming year.

Management will continue to focus its business development in
the Greater Bay Area. Management is of the view that demand
and consumer spending will remain strong and sustainable in
the area. The Group will leverage on its established branding
and reputation of the “Carrianna” Chao Zhou and “Shun Yi”
Shunde cuisine and will continue to expand its restaurant
business steadily in the region. More “Carrianna” Chao Zhou
and “Shun Yi” Shunde cuisine restaurants will be opened in the
coming year.

On the property development side, the investment property
portfolio in the Mainland and Hong Kong continues to provide
steady income flow to the Group. While there was sluggishness
of the Hong Kong property market, management believes
that the limited land supply and strong end-user demand will
continue to provide support to the residential property market
in the long run. With the Hong Kong’s property relaxation
measures announced by the government at end of February
2024, the Group’s 50% owned Haitan Street re-development
project in Shum Shui Po has recorded a further sale of more
than 50 residential units to 98 in total to date. Management is
optimistic on the sale of the remaining residential units in the
coming months.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
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Building on the solid foundation of the Group’s food business
and capacity of the production facilities, the Group will continue
to expand its food business in the Mainland market. Besides
the Carrianna mooncake, the bread production line of the
advanced Hainan food factory is also in operation. The factory
is also expected to produce packaged Hainan style food and
Chinese style dry meat products. The Group will introduce
more new products and elements in the sector. Management
believes that food business will become the Group’s another
key driver of profitability and growth in the next few years.

The Group anticipates that the prevailing high interest rates
will persist for a consideration duration, which has increased
significantly operating costs of the Group. To mitigate that,
the Group remains committed to implementing stringent
cost control measures and enhancing workflow efficiency in
its operations. The Group will keep monitoring the market
situation and adjust its business strategies in response to
market changes to increase its competitiveness and to sustain
business growth in our operating markets in Hong Kong and
Mainland.

| would like to take this opportunity to extend my appreciation
to the Board, management team and staff for their support
and dedication to the Group and to shareholders, customers,
suppliers and other business partners for their unfailing
support.

Dr. Ma Kai Yum
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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Director and Senior Management’s Biographies

HONORARY CHAIRMAN AND
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

MA Kai Cheung, PnD, SBS, BBS, aged 82, is the co-founder
of the Group. Mr. Ma has been appointed as Honorary
Chairman and re-designated as Non-Executive Director of the
Group since 1 January 2014. Mr. Ma was re-designated as
Executive Director on 10 December 2020. Mr. Ma has over
30 years’ experience in the restaurant business and property
development. He was a committee member of the 9th,
10th and 11th National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference. He is the consultant of the
All-Chinese Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese, the
permanent honorary president of the Shenzhen Overseas
Chinese International Association, the permanent honorary
president of the Federation of Hong Kong Chiu Chow
Community Organizations Ltd., the permanent honorary
president of the Hong Kong Chiu Chow Chamber of Commerce
Limited and the permanent honorary president of the Hong
Kong & Kowloon Chiu Chow Public Association. Mr. Ma is the
elder brother of Mr. Ma Kai Yum.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MA Kai Yum, PhD, BBS, aged 73, a co-founder of the Group,
has been an Executive Director of the Group since 1984,
and Chairman of the Group since 1 January 2014. Mr. Ma
accumulated many years of management experience from
garment business, property development, hotel and catering
business. Mr. Ma is currently responsible for the important
decision-making and business development of the Group.
Mr. Ma was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) from
the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region in July 2024. Mr. Ma was a former member of
Guangdong Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference and also serves as the life
honorary president of Hong Kong & Kowloon Chiu Chow
Public Association, the supervisor of Hong Kong & Kowloon
Chiu Chow Public Association Secondary School, the
vice president of the Federation of Hong Kong Chiu Chow
Community Organization, the executive vice-chairman of the
Chinese Manufacturers Association of Hong Kong and the chief
supervisor of Federation of Hong Kong Shantou Community
Organizations. Mr. Ma is the younger brother of Mr. Ma Kai
Cheung.
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Director and Senior Management’s Biographies
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

MA Hung Ming, John, PhD, BBS, JP, aged 57, is an
Executive Director of the Group since May 2009. Mr. Ma
joined the Group in 1990 and was appointed Vice-chairman
on 28 June 2019. He has been the Managing Director of
Carrianna Holdings Limited since April 2002 and is currently
responsible for the Group’s property development operations.
He has extensive experience in the catering industry, as well
as property management and development. Mr. Ma was
awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) from the Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2003,
appointed Justice of the Peace (JP) in 2015 and a Honorary
Doctorate of Philosophy degree by Morrison University in
2004. In 2011, he was awarded the honorary citizen by the
Shenzhen government. He was the chairman of Tung Wah
Group of Hospitals for the year 2002. He is a member of Tung
Wah Group of Hospitals Advisory Board, a member of the
Standing Committee of Shenzhen Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference and also serves as
the executive vice chairman of the Federation of Hong Kong
Guangdong Community Organisations, the executive director
of China Overseas Friendship Association, the president of
the Hong Kong Chiu Chow Chamber of Commerce and the
president of the Hong Kong & Kowloon Chiu Chow Public
Association. Mr. Ma is an independent non-executive director
of Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited, the shares of which are
listed on Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Mr. Ma is the son of Mr. Ma Kai Cheung.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

LIANG Rui, aged 49, is the Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director of the Group since 2 January 2021. He is
a representative of Shenzhen Municipal People’s Congress.
He holds a doctoral degree in technical economics and
management from the School of Economics and Business
Administration of Chongging University and a postdoctoral
degree in applied economics from the School of Economics and
Finance of Xi'an Jiaotong University. Since 2000, Mr. Liang has
worked for the Shenzhen Luohu District People’s Government
for nearly 17 years, serving various senior posts including
deputy director of the Letters and Calls Bureau, director of the
District Committee (Government) Office, director of the District
Civil Affairs Bureau, and secretary and director of the Party’s
Working Committee of Nanhu Street Office. He has served
as the chief executive officer of Shuibei Jewelry Group since
October 2017. Mr. Liang is currently a non-executive director of
Coolpad Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He
has served as the executive director of Coolpad Group Limited
from January 2018 to December 2020 and also their chief
executive officer from September 2019 to December 2020.

CHAN Francis Ping Kuen, aged 65, is the Executive Director,
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the Group.
Mr. Chan joined the Group as the Group Financial Controller
in June 2019 and was appointed Company Secretary of the
Company in November 2019. He was appointed Executive
Director and Chief Financial Officer of the Group on 1 March
2020. Mr. Chan has over 30 years of experience in auditing,
accounting and financial management. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Chan has held senior finance positions in a number
of listed companies and multinational corporations. He was
also the director of an investment and business consultancy
firm and has extensive experience in corporate finance and
investment in the Mainland and Hong Kong. He also possesses
substantial working experience in public accountancy practice
with an international accounting firm. Mr. Chan holds a
bachelor’s degree in Economics from the University of Sydney
in Australia. He is a member of the Chartered Accountants
Australia and New Zealand and the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chan is currently an
independent non-executive director of Ev Dynamics (Holdings)
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He is also currently
an independent non-executive director of Indigo Star Holdings
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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Director and Senior Management’s Biographies
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

MA Hung Man, aged 48, is the Executive Director of the
Group since 8 September 2022 and is currently responsible for
the development of Group’s food business. Mr. Ma graduated
from the University of California, Davis with a bachelor of
Science degree in Civil Engineering in 2000. He then began his
professional practice in structural engineering in California and
obtained his professional license in civil engineering (BPELSG,
USA) in 2004. Mr. Ma returned to Hong Kong to join the
Group in 2006 and participated in the property development
projects in Mainland China. He was appointed Managing
Director of the Group’s restaurant and food production division
in 2012. Mr. Ma has substantial management experience
in food and beverage business and property development.
He was a committee member of the 10th, 11th and 12th
Hunan Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference. Mr. Ma is the son of Mr. Ma Kai
Cheung, the controlling shareholder and an executive director
of the Company and a brother of Mr. Ma Hung Ming John, an
executive director of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

LO Ming Chi, Charles, aged 74, is an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lo joined the Group
in 1991. Mr. Lo is a member of the CPA Australia and fellow
member of the Financial Services Institute of Australasia. Mr.
Lo is an independent non-executive director of Cash Financial
Services Group Limited. He was an executive director of
Winshine Science Company Limited from 3 October 2009
until 10 November 2014 when he was re-designated as non-
executive director and served until 18 December 2017. All
these companies are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. He has more than 30 years of professional and
business experience in financial and investment services in
Australia, Hong Kong and other Asian countries.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (Continued)

WONG See King, aged 62, is an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Wong joined the Group in August
2007. Mr. Wong is currently the chief financial officer of HAGER
Asia Limited, a subsidiary of the HAGER Group which is a
market leader of selling building hardware products in the
US market, being engaging for building hardware business in
China and Hong Kong. Mr. Wong had also worked as financial
and business executive in various Australian, UK and US
multi-national companies. He has over 20 years of working
experience in corporate finance, building hardware, consumer
goods manufacturing and distribution business in Hong Kong
and China and property development business in Australia.
He holds a bachelor’s degree in Economics from Macquarie
University, Australia and is a member of the CPA Australia.

CHEUNG Wah Fung, Christopher, S5S, Jr, aged 72, is
an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company.
Mr. Cheung joined the Group in July 2021. Mr. Cheung
was formerly a member of the Legislative Council (Financial
Services) of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
He is currently the Chairman of Christfund Securities Limited.
He obtained an EMBA degree from the City University of
Hong Kong in 2007. Mr. Cheung has extensive experience
in the financial market and securities industry for over 40
years. He was a former member of the National Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference,
and also serves as the honorary president of the Hong Kong
Securities Professionals Association, an elected director of
the Hong Kong Chinese General Chamber of Commerce, the
president of the Hong Kong China Chamber of Commerce,
the honorary president of the Hong Kong Federation of Fujian
Association, the deputy secretary of the Friends of Hong Kong
Association, and the vice president of the Federation of HK
Jiangsu Community Organization. Mr. Cheung is currently an
independent non-executive director of Tongda Group Holdings
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Director and Senior Management’s Biographies
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Director and Senior Management’s Biographies

LR VT & E:UN-§ )

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

LEE Chor Kwing, aged 57, is the Managing Director of the
China Food Division of the Group, Carrianna (Hainan) Catering
Service Co., Ltd. and Carrianna (Hainan) Food Processing Co.,
Ltd.. He has been serving the Group’s Carrianna (Chiu Chau)
Restaurant in Hong Kong since 1986. Mr. Lee has been in
charge of operation of Hainan Carrianna restaurant and food
business since 1993.

JIANG Benhua, aged 57, joined the Group in 1992 and was
promoted to executive chef of the Group in 1993. In 2016,
he was appointed as the Managing Director of Carrianna
restaurant group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Jiang worked
for a well-known restaurant group in Hong Kong. Mr. Jiang
has over 30 years of experience in restaurant operation and
management and has acquired honorary awards and positions
including Chinese Cooking Master, Golden Chef of Europe
Excellent Food Society, Shenzhen Top Ten Golden Chef and
Honorary Chairman of Asia Pacific Grandchef Society.

CHU Chun Fung, aged 683, is the founder of the Profit Smart
group and currently an Executive Director of Profit Smart Group
Limited. Mr. Chu has more than 35 years’ experience in bakery
business. He is responsible for business development and daily
operation of the Profit Smart group.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”), in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
which became effective on 1 January 2005. The corporate
governance principles of the Company emphasise a quality
board of directors (the “Board”), sound internal control,
principles and practices, transparency and accountability to
all shareholders of the Company. Save as disclosed below,
the Company has complied with the CG Code throughout the
accounting period covered by this report.

In accordance with Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election. Currently, the independent non-executive
directors are not appointed for a specific term. However, all
the directors (except Chairman) are subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years at the annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with the provision of
the Bye-laws of the Company and their terms of appointment
are reviewed when they are due for re-election.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE
FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code for
securities transactions by directors of the Company. Following
specific enquiry by the Company, the directors of the Company
have confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard under the Model Code throughout the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2024, the Board comprised nine directors,
including six executive directors and three independent non-
executive directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The brief biographical details of the directors are set out in the
“Director and Senior Management’s Biographies” on pages 9 to
14 of this report.

The composition of the Board is reviewed regularly to ensure
that it has a good balance of expertise, skills, diversity of
perspectives and experience which can meet the requirements
of the business of the Company.

The directors of the Company have been appointed for a term
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Bye-
laws of the Company. According to Bye-law 99(B) of the Bye-
laws of the Company, director appointed to fill any casual
vacancy shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting after their appointment and shall be subject to
re-election by the shareholders of the Company. According to
Bye-law 96 of the Bye-laws of the Company, one-third of the
directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
(except Chairman or Managing Director) and shall be eligible for
re-election at each annual general meeting.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for ensuring continuity of leadership,
development of sound business strategies, availability of
adequate capital and managerial resources to implement the
business strategies adopted, adequacy of systems of financial
and internal controls and conduct of business in conformity
with applicable laws and regulations. All directors of the
Company have made full and active contribution to the affairs of
the Board and the Board has always acted in the best interests
of the Group.

The executive directors and senior management of the
Company are delegated with respective levels of authorities
with regard to key corporate strategy and policy and
contractual commitments. Management is responsible for
the day-to-day operations of the Group with divisional heads
responsible for different aspects of the business.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements. The Company has adopted the generally accepted
accounting standards in Hong Kong in preparing the financial
statements, appropriate accounting policies have been
adopted and applied consistently, and reasonable and prudent
judgement and estimates have been made. The publication of
the financial statements of the Group is also in a timely manner.

The Board has reviewed the financial projections of the Group
and the Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt over
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly,
the Board has continued to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements.

The responsibility of Ernst & Young, the Company’s external
auditors, is set out on pages 66 to 74 of the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.

BOARD MEETINGS

During the year, the Board met regularly and held four regular
board meetings. The attendance of the directors at the board
meetings was as follows:
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Number of
attendance
Directors BE= R E
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman) BNBEE (E8FE) 4/4
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) BNREE (FE) 4/4
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John (Vice-chairman) BBk (BEE) 4/4
Mr. Liang Rui (Chief Executive Officer) R T (TTHAEZL) 4/4
Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen PoR AP 1 S A 4/4
Mr. Ma Hung Man BB/ EE 4/4
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHITESE
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BT EE 4/4
Mr. Wong See King HERBEE 4/4
Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher IREIR S AE 4/4
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
BOARD MEETINGS (Continued)

Regular board meetings are scheduled in advance to
facilitate all directors’ attendance. Regular board meetings
are scheduled to be held four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. At least 14 days’ notice of a board mesting
is given to all directors who are given an opportunity to include
matters for discussion in the agenda. If potential conflict of
interest involving a substantial shareholder or a director arises,
the matter is discussed in a physical meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolution. The directors attend
meetings in persons or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company.

Board papers are circulated approximately three days before
the board meetings to enable the directors to make informed
decisions on matters to be raised. The Company Secretary
assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda for meetings
and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are
complied with. The Company Secretary shall attend all regular
board meetings to advise on corporate governance, statutory
compliance, accounting and financial matters when necessary.
Directors shall have full access to information on the Group and
are able to obtain independent professional advice whenever
deemed necessary by the directors. The Company Secretary
shall prepare minutes and keep records of matters discussed
and decisions resolved at all board meetings.

Each newly-appointed director will be provided with a
package of orientation materials setting out the duties and
responsibilities of directors under the Listing Rules, related
ordinances and relevant regulatory requirements of Hong Kong.
Updates are provided to directors when necessary to ensure
that directors are aware of the latest changes in the commercial
and regulatory environment in which the Group conducts its
business.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
BOARD MEETINGS (Continued)

According to the records of the Company, during the financial
year ended 31 March 2024, the directors participated in the
following trainings:
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Type of training

Directors = EIN|R
Executive Directors ITES

Mr. Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman) EN\EE(EEEE) @
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) BShREE (/E) (1.2
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John (Vice-chairman) BB EE (BIEE) M.
Mr. Liang Rui (Chief Executive Officer) DI (TTHAEE) (1.2
Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen BoR S 1 4 A (1),(2)
Mr. Ma Hung Man BB ek 1.
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIYFHTES

Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BERE o M,
Mr. Wong See King BERBEAE @)
Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher REW L (1.2

(1) Attending training sessions/seminars

(2)  Reading materials

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. For the year
ended 31 March 2024, Mr. Ma Kai Yum was the Chairman and
Mr. Liang Rui was the Chief Executive Officer, of which the roles
are separated and not performed by the same individual.

One of the important roles of the Chairman is to provide
leadership to the Board to ensure that the Board always acts in
the best interests of the Group. The Chairman shall ensure that
the Board works effectively and performs its responsibilities,
and that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by it in
a timely manner. All directors have been consulted about any
matters proposed for inclusion in the agenda. With the support
of the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that
all directors are properly briefed on issues arising at any board
meeting and have received adequate and reliable information in
a timely manner.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive directors provide a wide range
of expertise and experience as well as checks and balances
to safeguard the interests of the Group and its shareholders.
Their participation in the board and committee meetings brings
independent judgement on issues relating to the Group’s
strategy, performance, conflicts of interest and management
process to ensure that the interests of all shareholders of the
Company have been duly considered.

The Company has three independent non-executive directors
representing one-third of the Board. More than one of the
independent non-executive directors have the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Board confirms that the Company
has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of his independence and
considers that all the independent non-executive directors are
independent under the guidelines set out in Rules 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, to handle particular responsibilities of
the Board and the Company’s affairs. All board committees
of the Company were established with defined written terms
of reference which have been uploaded to the website of
the Stock Exchange and that of the Company. The board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 1 April 1999 and
comprises three independent non-executive directors, including
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles (Chairman), Mr. Wong See King and
Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher.

A set of written terms of reference, which describes the
authority and duties of the Audit Committee, was adopted by
the Board on 1 September 2004, amended and restated on 26
March 2012 and the contents of which are in compliance with
the Code Provisions and Recommended Best Practices of the
CG Code.

The Audit Committee is accountable to the Board and the
principal duties of the Audit Committee include the review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process, internal
controls and review of the Group’s financial statements. The
Audit Committee is also provided with other resources to
enable it to discharge its duties fully.

During the year, the Audit Committee held two meetings and
the external auditors were in attendance. The attendance
records of the members of the Audit Committee are set out in
the table below:
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attended/Total

number of

meetings

HESBRE

Directors = BEBRE
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles (Chairman) BRAE Sk () 2/2
Mr. Wong See King HERBEE 2/2
Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher o EE I8 5 A 2/2

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of
the Company and Ernst & Young, the external auditors of the
Company, the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and has discussed auditing, internal controls and
financial reporting matters, including the review of the annual
report of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2024.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration to Ernst & Young in respect of the services
rendered was as follows:

% Wk 2
RRABE BB RIS 2 BE T

2024 2023 2022
—EC-UE —E-=F —_Fq-_—

HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000

FHT FHET FHET

Audit fee = E R 2,850 2,850 2,850

Non-audit service fees* IEAZ AR TS 214 80 80

Total 1@t 3,064 2,930 2,930

*

Non-audit services include taxation compliance and other
professional services provided

The Audit Committee had concluded that it was satisfied with
the findings of its review of audit service fee, process and
effectiveness, independence and objectivity.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 1 April 2005
and comprises three independent non-executive directors,
including Mr. Wong See King (Chairman), Mr. Lo Ming Chi,
Charles and Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher.

A set of written terms of reference, which describes the
authority and duties of the Remuneration Committee, was
adopted by the Board on 1 April 2005, amended and restated
on 26 March 2012 and 13 January 2023 respectively and the
contents of which are in compliance with the code provisions of
the CG Code.

The objectives of the Remuneration Committee are to
establish and maintain an appropriate and competitive level of
remuneration to attract, retain and motivate directors and key
executives to run the Company successfully. The Remuneration
Committee also ensures that the remuneration policies and
systems of the Group support the Group’s objectives and
strategies. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to perform its duties.

o REBREEENBA R RRHE MR
b

ERZBEOHGEYERRB2ER BiE
LRBEME BUMREBEETRN 2ER

mE e

nMEZEE

FMZEenN _TTRFNUA—HKY  B=
FEUIFFNTEFRAK BEEEBRELE (F
JE)  SBRBEERREERE -

EXetN _TTRFNA—BEA—HER
BESHEEZ UHRR_TE—=—F=A=+~
BR-—F-=F—A+t=-HAEBHRER A
HFMEEe R MBE  ABRDAE (B
BRI ZspRIE -

FMZESZBMNDHIEMERA BT AL
FHZFHBOKT EERE BBENESES
REEXTBITRAR SIERRBEBLRMK
e FE 8 & TR AN 5 [H 3 BN BOR e
BREXHASEZ BREMNRE - FMEES
EHieTR T ERABITERE -



REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held two
meetings. The attendance records of the members of the
Remuneration Committee are set out in the table below:
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Number of

meetings

attended/Total

number of

meetings

HERRRE,

Directors BEx BEBRE
Mr. Wong See King (Chairman) BERBEEE(LE) 2/2
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BT E 2/2
Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher REEIE S 2/2

During the year, the Remuneration Committee made
recommendations to the Board on executive directors’
remuneration packages and terms of employment. The
Remuneration Committee also formulated and evaluated the
remuneration policy and structure for the directors and senior
management of the Company.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the members of senior management by band

FR FHZEERATES2HFMEFER
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BRI R EARBEERSREEABZH
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EEREBERAANEMN S

BRI KEEERTAD ZFAHEXEB1.5&
RE BE_FT_NF-_A=1T—HLEE

for the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out below: RHEWERE D 2 REBEABNHSHI
W

Number of
individuals
A"
Up to HK$1,000,000 % 11,000,000/ 7T 3
HK$1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,000,001% 7T 22,000,000/ 7T 4
HK$2,000,001 — HK$5,000,000 2,000,001/ 7T 25,000,000/ 7T 2

Further particulars in relation to the remuneration of directors
and the five highest paid employees’ remuneration as required
to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules
are set out in notes 8 and 9, respectively, to the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 26 March 2012
and comprises one executive director and three independent
non-executive directors, including Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman),
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles, Mr. Wong See King and Mr. Cheung
Wah Fung, Christopher.

A set of new written terms of reference, which describes
the authority and duties of the Nomination Committee, was
adopted by the Board on 26 March 2012 and the contents
of which are in compliance with the Code Provisions and
Recommended Best Practices of the CG Code.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the nomination of directors with a view
to appointing suitable individuals with relevant expertise and
experience to enhance the constitution of the Board and to
contribute to the Board. In the nomination procedures, the
Nomination Committee makes reference to criteria including
reputation of candidates for integrity, accomplishment and
experience, professional and educational background.

During the year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting.
The attendance records of the members of the Nomination
Committee are set out in the table below:
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Number of

meetings
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number of

meetings

HEEBERE

Directors BE= BEBRE
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) SNhREE (E/FE) 11
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles LA 11
Mr. Wong See King BRBEAE 11
Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher o EE U S A 11



COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is Mr. Chan Francis
Ping Kuen, who is also the Chief Financial Officer and Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor’s degree
in Economics from the University of Sydney in Australia and
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Chartered Accountants Australia and New
Zealand. Mr. Chan has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules for taking not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the year.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is overall responsible for maintaining an effective
risk management and internal control systems to safeguard the
Group’s assets and its shareholders’ investments. The Board
oversees the operations of all the businesses units within the
Group and continuously reviews and makes improvements in
its risk management and internal control framework. Suitable
candidates are appointed by the Board to join in the boards of
all subsidiaries and associates operating in key business areas,
to attend the board meetings and to oversee the operations
of such companies. The management of each business area
is accountable for these operation and performance of the
business under its area of responsibility. The Board conducts
reviews of the effectiveness of the system of internal controls
as well as the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the accounting and financial reporting
functions, and their training programmes and budget.

The Board conducted semi-annual reviews on the internal
control and risk management systems of the Group covering
all material controls including financial, operational controls
and risk management pursuant to the Codes and considered
that all the material internal controls and risk management in
the Group were adequate and effective during the year. The
Board will keep reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness of
the internal control and risk management systems on a regular
basis to ensure that the systems in place are adequate.
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COMMUNICATION CHANNELS

In order to develop and maintain continuing relationships
with the shareholders of the Company, the Company has
established various channels to facilitate and enhance
communications:

()  the annual general meeting provides a forum for
shareholders of the Company to raise comments and
exchange views with the Board;

(i) updated key information of the Group is available on the
Company’s website at www.carrianna.com to enable the
shareholders of the Company and the investor community
to have timely access to information about the Group;

(i) the Company’s website offers a communication channel
between the Company and its shareholders and
investors;

(iv)  the rights of the shareholders of the Company are set out
in the Bye-laws of the Company; and

(v)  the shareholders may put forward their proposals or
enquiries to the Board by sending their written requests to
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

The Chairman and the directors are available at the annual
general meetings to answer questions raised by shareholders
of the Company or other interested parties.

CONVENING A SPECIAL GENERAL
MEETING BY SHAREHOLDERS (“SGM”)

The Board shall on the written requisition of shareholders of the
Company holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
in aggregate not less than one-tenth of such of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at the SGM,
forthwith proceed duly to convene the SGM (“Requisition”). The
Requisition, which may consist of several documents in like
form each signed by one or more requisitionists, must state the
objects of the SGM and be deposited at the Company’s head
office and principal place of business in Hong Kong.
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CONVENING A SPECIAL GENERAL
MEETING BY SHAREHOLDERS (“SGM”)
(Continued)

If the Board does not within twenty-one days from the date of
the deposit of the Requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM,
the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a SGM in the same manner, as nearly as possible,
as that in which SGM may be convened by the Board, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the aforesaid date of the deposit of the
Requisition.

All reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a
result of the failure of the Board to convene such a SGM shall
be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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PROPERTY

Turnover of property segment for the year ended 31 March
2024 was HK$102,565,000 (2023: HK$109,021,000), a
decrease of 6% from last year. The decrease was mainly
attributable to the decrease in sale of property income which
was partly compensated by the increase in rental income
during the year. The Group’s rental income from investment
properties for the year was HK$100,272,000 (2023:
HK$96,045,000), an increase of 4% from last year. There was
no major change in the investment property portfolio of the
Group for the year. The increase in rental income was as a
result of the gradual resumption of tenancy business to normal
as the restrictions of COVID-19 were uplifted. Segment loss for
the year was HK$45,087,000 (2023: HK$96,642,000), reduced
by HK$51,555,000 from last year. The decrease in segment
loss was mainly attributable to: (i) the decrease in net loss on
investment property valuation of HK$51,956,000 from last year;
(i) the increase in operating profit of the property rental and sale
business of HK$16,403,000; and (i) the increase in share of
associates’ losses of HK$16,804,000 mainly due to impairment
loss of the Haitan Street re-development project.

The Group’s 50% owned Dongguan Home Town project is
in full operation, comprising the east tower of home furniture
and building materials centre with a total floor area of
109,000 sg.m. and the west and north towers of community
and shopping mall with a total area of 164,000 sq.m. The
occupancy has improved during the year as new brand name
shops were introduced to the shopping centre, with new
tenancy contracts signed.
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Shenzhen Imperial Palace
Pl 3

Dongguan Home Town Project
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Red Star Macalline International Home Furniture Mall Home Town Furniture and Building Materials Mall
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The Guangzhou South Station Property, a high grade
commercial tower comprising the ground floor lobby, all office
units from 3rd to 13th floors and 75 car parking spaces at the
basement level with a total gross floor area of the office units
of 9,203 sg.m., continued to contribute to the Group in rental
income for the year. The office building has achieved 100%
occupancy to date.

The Group’s 50% owned Haitan Street re-development project,
which is situated at 223-225A Haitan Street, Sham Shui Po,
Hong Kong has completed its construction and obtained the
occupation permit. The project comprises a site area of 4,729
sq.ft., buildable gross floor area of 42,500 sq.ft., and saleable
floor area of approximately 34,400 sq.ft. The residential building
comprises 115 residential units and 2 floors of commercial
shops. 98 residential units have been sold to date.

The Group’s another 50% owned Castle Peak Road
redevelopment project, which is situated at 300-306 Castle
Peak Road, Sham Shui Po, Hong Kong has also commenced
its construction stage of development. The project comprises
a site area of 4,709 sq.ft., buildable gross floor area of 42,400
sq.ft., and saleable floor area of approximately 34,300 sq.ft.
Site investigation and demolition works have completed in April
2024. The project is expected to be completed by end of 2026.
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Carrianna Business Centre Castle Peak Road re-development project site at
at Guangzhou South Station Sham Shui Po
JE& W 7 i EE AR P B AR K FILBERIER AR

The Vim — Haitan Street re-development project at Sham Shui Po
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RESTAURANT, FOOD AND HOTEL

Turnover of restaurant, food and hotel segment for the
year ended 31 March 2024 was HK$559,291,000 (2023:
HK$574,461,000), a decrease of 3% from last year. The
decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in food
business, which was compensated by the increase in the
restaurant business in both Hong Kong and Mainland. Segment
loss for the year was HK$73,781,000 as compared to a profit
of HK$8,970,000 from last year. The decrease was mainly due
to (i) the operating loss in food business due to the decrease
in sale of food products; and (i) the impairment of goodwiill
and right-of-use assets due to downsizing of the Hong Kong
style “Cha Chaan Teng” (%% & E& ) restaurant business,
which was compensated by the increase in operating profit
of the “Carrianna” Chao Zhou and “Shun Yi” Shunde cuisine
restaurant business during the year.

Restaurant turnover for the year was HK$315,653,000
(2023: HK$270,267,000), an increase of 17% from last year.
The restaurant business both in Hong Kong and Mainland
experienced a sharp rebounce following the lifting of COVID-19
pandemic restrictions and the re-opening of Hong Kong-
Mainland borders since beginning of 2023. Restaurant
business has recorded an operating loss of HK$33,408,000
as compared to a loss of HK$559,000 from last year. The
increase in operation loss was mainly attributable to the
downsizing of the Hong Kong style “Cha Chaan Teng” (%&£
2 ) restaurant business, which was affected by the change in
“going-north” consumption pattern by the Hong Kong people.
The “Carrianna” Chao Zhou and “Shun Yi” Shunde cuisine
restaurants have performed well and recorded an operating
profit of HK$11,676,000 during the year.
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Newly opened “Carrianna” Chao Zhou cuisine restaurant at Shenzhen Bay, Shenzhen
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Food business turnover for the year was HK$218,446,000
(2023: HK$283,257,000), a decrease of 23% from last year.
The decrease in food business turnover mainly came from
the decrease in sale of food products this year. The advanced
Hainan food factory has a site area of 29,968 sq.m. and a total
floor area of 58,114 sg.m. The advanced automatic moon cake
production line is in full operation. The bread production line is
also in operation. Besides, the factory is expected to produce
packaged Hainan style food and Chinese-style dry meat
products. Management believes that the food business will
continue to contribute to the Group’s profitability and growth.

The Group’s bakery business in Hong Kong recorded an
increase of 2% in sales to HK$132,336,000 from last year. The
Group’s subsidiary Profit Smart group has recorded a profit
of HK$5,546,000 (2023: HK$8,441,000) during the year, a
decrease of 34% from last year. The decrease was mainly due
to the government subsidies received from the same period
last year. Management will continue to strengthen product
development and introduce more new products with the aim to
boost sales. Profit Smart group has undergone a renovation of
the production areas and acquisition of additional equipment to
increase its production capacity.
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Premium Assorted Snowy Mooncake
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Deluxe Abalone and Bird’s Nest Mooncake
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Hotel business has recorded a turnover of HK$25,192,000
(2023: HK$20,937,000), an increase of 20% from last
year. The operating loss of the two hotels for the year was
HK$16,344,000 (2023: HK$18,929,000), decreased by 14%
from last year. Both hotels have achieved positive operating
cash flows during the year.
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OUTLOOK

With the lifting of COVID-19 pandemic restrictions and the re-
opening of Hong Kong-Mainland borders, the economy is
steadily recovering but the pace of recovery in the Hong Kong
and Mainland markets is slower than initially expected. While
there are still economic uncertainties-inflation, high interest
rates, China’s property market crisis, and geopolitical tensions
with Russian-Ukranian war and Israeli-Palestinian conflict, the
global economic situation has become increasingly complex
and the business environment is still challenging. The Group
remains cautiously optimistic about the economic outlook for
the coming year.

Management will continue to focus its business development in
the Greater Bay Area. Management is of the view that demand
and consumer spending will remain strong and sustainable in
the area. The Group will leverage on its established branding
and reputation of the “Carrianna” Chao Zhou and “Shun Yi”
Shunde cuisine and will continue to expand its restaurant
business steadily in the region. More “Carrianna” Chao Zhou
and “Shun Yi” Shunde cuisine restaurants will be opened in the
coming year.

On the property development side, the investment property
portfolio in the Mainland and Hong Kong continues to provide
steady income flow to the Group. While there was sluggishness
of the Hong Kong property market, management believes
that the limited land supply and strong end-user demand will
continue to provide support to the residential property market
in the long run. With the Hong Kong’s property relaxation
measures announced by the government at end of February
2024, the Group’s 50% owned Haitan Street re-development
project in Shum Shui Po has recorded a further sale of more
than 50 residential units to 98 in total to date. Management is
optimistic on the sale of the remaining residential units in the
coming months.
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“Carrianna” Chao Zhou cuisine restaurant at Wan Chai,
Hong Kong
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“Carrianna” Chao Zhao cuisine restaurant at Carrianna
Friendship Square in Shenzhen »
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Runcheng “Shunyi” Shunde cuisine restaurant and
“Carrianna” Chao Zhou cuisine restaurant at Kunming
City, Yunnan Province
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“Carrianna” Chao Zhou cuisine restaurant at Fuhua 1st
Road, Shenzhen
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Tiley Fame City “Shunyi” Shunde cuisine restaurant at
Nanshan District, Shenzhen )
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Building on the solid foundation of the Group’s food business
and capacity of the production facilities, the Group will continue
to expand its food business in the Mainland market. Besides
the Carrianna mooncake, the bread production line of the
advanced Hainan food factory is also in operation. The factory
is also expected to produce packaged Hainan style food and
Chinese style dry meat products. The Group will introduce
more new products and elements in the sector. Management
believes that food business will become the Group’s another
key driver of profitability and growth in the next few years.
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NeV\{Iy renovated V28 Bakery at Fu Heng Estate, Tai Po Newly renovated Empery Bakery at Fanling Town Centre,
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Jumbo Snow Crab Stick Bun
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Double Fish Fillet Bun Spicy Chicken Pizza Crispy Cookies
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The Group anticipates that the prevailing high interest rates
will persist for a consideration duration, which has increased
significantly operating costs of the Group. To mitigate that,
the Group remains committed to implementing stringent
cost control measures and enhancing workflow efficiency in
its operations. The Group will keep monitoring the market
situation and adjust its business strategies in response to
market changes to increase its competitiveness and to sustain
business growth in our operating markets in Hong Kong and
Mainland.
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Food factory in Hainan
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Advanced production facilities of the food factory in Hainan
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Food factory in Shenzhen Food factory in Kunming
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OVERALL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s turnover was
HK$661,856,000 (2023: HK$683,482,000), decreased by
3% as compared to last year. The Group’s loss attributable
to shareholders was HK$250,250,000 as compared to a loss
attributable to shareholders of HK$175,680,000 from last year.
The slight decrease in turnover was mainly attributable to the
decrease in the food business turnover which was largely
offset by the increase in restaurant business turnover during
the year. The increase in loss attributable to shareholders was
mainly due to the combined effect of (i) increase in the finance
costs due to the increase in interest rates in bank borrowings;
(i) the impairment of goodwill and right-of-use assets due to
downsizing of the Hong Kong style “Cha Chaan Teng” (Z%
Z 2 ) restaurant business; and (i) the operating loss in food
business due to the decrease in sale of food products.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s consolidated net assets after
deduction of non-controlling interests was HK$3,095,292,000
(31 March 2023: HK$3,585,202,000) and consolidated net
assets after deduction of non-controlling interests per share
was HK$1.97 (31 March 2023: HK$2.28).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s cash and bank balances
amounted to HK$127,369,000 (2023: HK$287,707,000),
which were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi
and United States dollars of HK$31,448,000, HK$90,634,000
and HK$5,287,000, respectively. The Group’s free cash
and bank balances amounted to HK$127,369,000 (2023:
HK$287,707,000).
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As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings
and convertible bonds amounted to HK$1,660,035,000
(2023: HK$1,699,047,000) and HK$76,971,000 (2023:
HK$57,988,000) respectively. All interest-bearing bank
borrowings bear interest at floating rates. The convertible
bonds bear interest at 6% per annum. Netting off cash deposits
pledged for borrowings, the Group’s net borrowings were
HK$1,702,221,000 (2023: HK$1,723,467,000). Net borrowings
less free cash and bank balances were HK$1,574,852,000
(2023: HK$1,435,760,000).

The Group'’s gearing ratio, which was defined as the Group’s
interest-bearing bank borrowings and convertible bonds, net
of cash and bank balances, and pledged time deposits as a
percentage of the Group’s total equity net of debit reserves,
was approximately 42.8% (2023: 36.5%).

The Group adopts a conservative treasury policy in cash and
financial management. The objective of the Group’s treasury
policy is to maintain a sound financial position by holding an
appropriate level of cash to meet its operating requirements
and long-term business development needs.

The Group generally funds the operations from internal
resources, investment income and bank borrowings. The
liquidity needs mainly comprise general working capital,
capital expenditure and investment, and repayment of bank
borrowings and interest.

During the year under review, management closely monitored
the cash position of the Group from time to time to ensure
that it was adequate to finance the financial and operational
requirements. With the increase in the level of cash balance,
management will utilize it for appropriate investments in
accordance with the Group’s strategies and directions from the
Board.

Financial Review
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had no
contingent liabilities relating to guarantees given to banks for
mortgage loan facilities granted to purchasers of properties
(2023: Nil).

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at the end of the reporting period, certain of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment, investment properties, time
deposits and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
with a total carrying value of approximately HK$1,977,504,000
(2023: HK$2,030,345,000) were pledged to secure general
banking, trade finance and other facilities granted to the Group.
In addition, rental income generated in respect of certain
investment properties of the Group was assigned to banks to
secure loan facilities granted to the Group.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and Mainland China.
Most of the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions
as at 31 March 2024 and for the year then ended principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. Majority of
the sales, purchases and expenditure incurred by the operating
units of the Group during the year were denominated in the
units’ functional currencies and as a result, the Group does
not anticipate significant transactional currency exposures. The
Group has not used any derivative to hedge its exposure to
foreign currency risk.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

The Group’s staff consists of approximately 400 employees
in Hong Kong and approximately 1,100 employees outside
Hong Kong (Mainland China). Employees are rewarded on a
performance-related basis within the general framework of the
Group’s salary and bonus system.
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The directors herein present their report and the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries
are set out in note 1 to the financial statements. There were
no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required
by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
including a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that the Group faces and an indication of likely future
development in the Group’s business, can be found in the
Business and Financial Review set out on pages 28 to 46 of
this annual report. This discussion forms part of this directors’
report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2024 and the
Group’s financial position at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 75 to 246.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2024.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
Annual General Meeting

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
Friday, 23 August 2024 to Wednesday, 28 August 2024, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
effected. In order for a shareholder to be eligible to attend and
vote at the Annual General Meeting, all transfers accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis
Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 22 August
2024.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The table set out below summarises the results, assets,
liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the published audited
financial statements. This summary does not form part of the
audited financial statements.

Bt % ¥R HE

TEBINAEEBEABMBFE2C R
XE BE BEMFEEED DREAX
SEZEELMBRE MBS TEKL

BEZMBRER D

Year ended 31 March/At 31 March
BE=A=1+-ALEE /W=A=1+-AH

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-NE —T-=fF C—T-C —E-— —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T TEL FEL AL
RESULTS E4
REVENUE B 661,856 683,482 781,170 796,026 1,031,070
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR X%/ (E#E) (261,089) (169,733) 25,111 110,537 14,861
Attributable to: e
Owners of the parent DAEBA (250,250) (175,680) 3,822 81,004 14,123
Non-controlling interests kR (10,839) 5,947 21,289 29,533 738
(261,089) (169,733) 25,111 110,537 14,861
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EE 8K
NON-CONTROLLING FERER
INTERESTS
TOTAL ASSETS HEE 6,134,911 6,489,071 7,081,620 6,771,712 6,393,211
TOTAL LIABILITIES “meE (3,039,619) (2,903,869  (3,003215)  (2,940,504)  (2,830,207)
NON-CONTROLLING FERER
INTERESTS 20,924 6,762 8,268 5,738 36,355
3,116,216 3,591,964 4,086,673 3,836,946 3,599,359




SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 33 and 34 to the
financial statements, respectively.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 March 2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Company had no reserves
available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the
provision of The Bermuda Companies Act 1981. In addition,
the amount of approximately HK$1,505,959,000 previously
included in the Company’s share premium account may be
distributed in the form of fully-paid bonus shares.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions
totalling approximately HK$236,000 (2023: HK$1,595,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, the Group’s sales to the five largest
customers and purchases from the five largest suppliers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s revenue and
purchases for the year respectively.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates
or any shareholders, which to the best knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s total number
of issued shares, had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest customers and suppliers.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
maintaining the highest environmental and social standards to
ensure sustainable development of its business. The Group
has complied with all relevant laws and regulations in relation to
its business including health and safety, workplace conditions,
employment and the environment. The Group understands
that a better future depends on everyone’s participation
and contribution. It has encouraged employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders to participate in environmental
and social activities which benefit the community as a whole.
The Group maintains strong relationships with its employees,
has enhanced cooperation with its suppliers and has provided
high quality products and services to its customers so as to
ensure sustainable development.

A separate Environmental, Social and Governance Report
conducted by a professional third party will be published in
compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman)
Ma Kai Yum (Chairman)

Ma Hung Ming, John (Vice-chairman)
Liang Rui (Chief Executive Officer)
Chan Francis Ping Kuen

Ma Hung Man

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Lo Ming Chi, Charles

Wong See King

Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher
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In accordance with Bye-law 96 of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John, Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen and Mr.
Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher will retire by rotation and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

The Board has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
directors, and as at the date of this report still considers them
to be independent.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the directors and senior
management of the Company are set out on pages 9 to 14 of
the annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Liang Rui and Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen had entered into
a service contract with the Company. The contract has no fixed
terms of engagement and is subject to retirement by rotation as
required by the Company’s Bye-laws and termination by either
party giving three months’ notice in writing.

Mr. Ma Kai Cheung, Mr. Ma Kai Yum, Mr. Ma Hung Ming,
John and Mr. Ma Hung Man had no service contract with the
Company as at the end of the reporting period.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
been appointed for a term subject to retirement by rotation as
required by the Company’s Bye-laws.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not terminable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company’s board of directors with reference to directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group.

Particulars of the directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31
March 2024 are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’
and chief executive’s interests and short positions in shares
and underlying shares”, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Company’s directors, their respective spouses or
minor children to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EFERFERABRN KD KM
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN Mz iR RIRE
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the R -_Z-_MHF=A=+—H ARQAGRZES
directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, N T BITH A BRARQ Ak H (T fFH L E
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of (F&ER (BEHFLHBEEG) ([ (BEMPE
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of &) 1) EXVEL) 2 i - BN M & AT+
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) as recorded A Z X KA R  BELRANRATIRE (B
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant % R EIEEH]) FEIS2EMEBATEE 2 ER
to Section 352 of the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the A : kB E E R B 2 ZESFRBRITH
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model &ARAREZATZEIRSIABIT
Code under the Listing Rules, were as follows:

(a) The Company (a) A2H
Underlying
Number of ordinary shares held shares Percentage of
and nature of interests pursuant to the Company’s
Capacity/ Personal Family Other  share options issued share
Name of director nature of interests interests interests interests (note 1) Total capital
REBREZ
BELBRRO#E RESME HERG#E HRAFSERT
4.2 5/ ERE AR FiRER HibER (F3t1) At BRARGHE
Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner, security 361,283,936 7,050,000 259,129,025 - 627,463,011 (1) 39.93
BNE interest in shares, interest (note 2) (note 3)
of spouse and beneficiary GiE#) (WizE3)
of trust
ERBEA BRROES
REERREEZHA
Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner, security 204,688,714 3,200,000 101,201,040 - 309,089,754 (1) 19.67
B interest in shares, interest (note 4) (notes 5 & 6)
of spouse and beneficiary GED) (Bt zE576)
of trust
BiEAA  ARRIER
REEZRERREA
Ma Hung Ming, John Beneficial owner 476,000 S = 2,000,000 2,476,000 (L) 0.16
b EREAA
Chan Francis Ping Kuen  Beneficial owner - - - 6,000,000 6,000,000 (L) 0.38
Bt E&fBA

L - Long position &
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(Continued)

(a) The Company (Continued)

Notes:

(1) The underlying shares represent interests of options
granted to the directors and senior executive under the
2015 Share Option Scheme to acquire shares of the
Company, further details of which are set out in note 34 to
the financial statements.

(2)  The shares were owned by Cheung Lin Kiu, the spouse of
Ma Kai Cheung.

(8) Ma Kai Cheung and his family are the beneficiaries of
a discretionary trust which effectively owns the entire
issued share capital of Regent World Investments Limited
(“Regent World”) and 70% of the entire issued share
capital of Bond Well Investments Limited (“Bond Well”).
At the end of the reporting period, Regent World owned
184,121,625 shares and Bond Well owned 75,007,400
shares of the Company.

(4)  The shares were owned by Kwok Kit Mei, the spouse of
Ma Kai Yum.

(5) Ma Kai Yum and his family are the beneficiaries of a
discretionary trust which effectively owns the entire issued
share capital of Grand Wealth Investments Limited (“Grand
Wealth”) and Peaceful World Limited (“Peaceful World”).
At the end of the reporting period, Grand Wealth owned
74,651,040 shares and Peaceful World owned 19,050,000
shares of the Company.

(6) Peaceful World owns the entire issued share capital of
Real Potential Limited (“Real Potential”). At the end of
the reporting period, Real Potential owned 7,500,000
shares of the Company. The interests of Real Potential in
the Company are therefore deemed to be the interests of
Peaceful World in which Ma Kai Yum is also deemed to
have interests for the reason as stated in note 5 above.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EERFETRAB N KD KM

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(Continued)

(b) Subsidiaries

Bk 0 2 HE &5 R R B (a0

(b) W& 2=

Percentage of
the subsidiary’s
issued share

Number of Type of capital (ordinary
Name of subsidiary Name of director  Capacity shares held (L) shares shares)
EHEAR
ERTRABSL
WELREH £33 &t FREOBEL  RHER (EBR)
Ginza Development Company Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 15 Ordinary 0.68
Limited
SBHBRARLA ENE ERBEA Tk
Ginza Development Company Ma Kai Yum Beneficiary of trust 66 Ordinary 3
Limited
SBHBERERLA ENR FEXEA LiEk
Gartrend Development Limited Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 500,000 Non-voting N/A
deferred
RRERABRAA BNE ERBEEA BERERE ESELE
Tkt
Gartrend Development Limited Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner 500,000 Non-voting N/A
deferred
ERERAERAA BN EmfBA BRERR TEA
TR
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 9,000 Non-voting N/A
N deferred
BNE ERBEBA BRERE iR
Tkt
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner 1,000 Non-voting N/A
deferred
SN ERBEBA BERFER @R
T in
EREEHFRMEMAE  MakKa Cheung Bengficial owner N/A N/A 15
SNE EREBA @R TEA

L - Long position #F &
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
(Continued)

In addition to the above, Mr. Ma Kai Cheung and Mr. Ma
Kai Yum have non-beneficial personal equity interests in
certain subsidiaries held for the benefit of the Group solely
for the purpose of complying with their minimum company
membership requirements in prior years.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the
directors and chief executive had registered an interest or
short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company, or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be
recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as detailed in note 41 to the financial statements, no
director nor a connected entity of a director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of the
Group to which the holding company of the Company, or any
of the Company’s subsidiaries of fellow subsidiaries was a party
during the year.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEME

2015 OPTION SCHEME

At the annual general meeting of the Company convened on
24 August 2015, the Company adopted a new share option
scheme (the “2015 Option Scheme”) with a validity period of 10
years.

The principal terms of the 2015 Option Scheme are as follows:

1. Purpose of the option scheme

The purpose of the 2015 Option Scheme is to
grant options to eligible participants, recognise
and acknowledge the contributions that the eligible
participants have made or may make to the Group and
will provide the eligible participants with an opportunity
to have a personal stake in the Company with a view
to motivate the eligible participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group,
track and retain or maintain relationships with the eligible
participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial
to the long-term growth of the Group, and additionally in
the case of executives, to enable the Group to attract and
retain individuals with experience and ability and to reward
them for their past contributions.

2. Participants of the option scheme

The eligible participants are eligible to participate in the
2015 Option Scheme. In determining the basis of eligibility
of each eligible participant, the Board would take into
account such factors as the Board may at its discretion
consider appropriate. The Board shall have absolute
discretion to determine whether a person shall qualify as
an eligible participant.

3. Total number of shares available for issue and
percentage to the issued share capital as at 31
March 2024

The total number of shares available for issue under
the 2015 Option Scheme was 125,388,753 shares
representing 7.98% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 March 2024.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEME (Continued)

2015 OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

4.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and which may fall
to be issued upon exercise of the options to be granted
under the 2015 Option Scheme (including both exercised
and outstanding options) to each eligible participant in any
twelve (12)-month period shall not exceed one per cent.
(1%) of the issued share capital of the Company for the
time being (“Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options
in excess of the Individual Limit in any twelve (12)-month
period up to and including the date of such further
grant shall be subject to the issue of a circular to the
shareholders and the shareholders’ approval in general
meeting of the Company with such eligible participant and
his associates abstaining from voting. The number and
terms (including the exercise price) of the options to be
granted to such eligible participant must be fixed before
the shareholders’ approval and the date of board meeting
for proposing such further grant should be taken as the
date of grant for the purpose of calculating the exercise
price under note (1) to Rule 17.03(9) of the Listing Rules.

The period within which the shares must be taken
up under an option

The period during which a share option may be exercised
will be determined by the directors at their absolute
discretion, save that no share option may be exercised
more than 10 years after grant.

Payment on acceptance of an option

An option shall be deemed to have been granted and
accepted by the grantee and to have taken effect when
the duplicate notice of grant constituting acceptance
of the option duly signed by the grantee, together with
a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 by
way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by
the Company on or before the relevant acceptance date
as stipulated in the option documents. Such remittance
shall in no circumstances be refundable and shall not be
deemed a part payment of the exercise price of an option.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEME (Continued)

2015 OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

6.

Payment on acceptance of an option (Continued)

Any offer to grant an option may be accepted in respect
of a lesser number of shares for which it is offered
provided that it must be accepted in respect of a board
lot or an integral multiple thereof and such number is
clearly stated in the duplicate notice of grant constituting
acceptance of the option. To the extent that the offer to
grant an option is not accepted by the acceptance date
as stipulated in the option documents, it shall be deemed
to have been irrevocably declined.

The basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price in relation to each option offered to an
eligible participant shall be determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion but in any event shall not be less than
the highest of:

(@) the official closing price of the shares on the Stock
Exchange as stated in the daily quotation sheet
of the Stock Exchange on the date of offer of the
options (“Offer Date”);

(b) the average of the official closing prices of the
shares on the Stock Exchange as stated in the daily
quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five
(5) business days immediately preceding the Offer
Date; and

(c) the nominal value of the shares of the Company.

The remaining life of the option scheme

The 2015 Option Scheme is valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on 24 August 2015
(being the date of fulfilment of all conditions on the
adoption of the 2015 Option Scheme).

As at 31 March 2024, the Company had 11,000,000 share

options outstanding pursuant to the 2015 Option Scheme.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION BB R BER E BE R (e
SCHEME (Continued)
The following table discloses the movements in the Company’s T XRIBEBFARNRAGRIE T — A FHERE

share options outstanding under the 2015 Option Scheme & &|38 T & AR1TE 2 B EE
during the year:

Number of share options
BREHA
Closing
price
Exercise at grant
Granted  Exercised Forfeited Date of Exercise price of date of
At 1 April during during  during the At 31 March grant of period of share share
2023  the period  the period period 2024  share options share options options options
(Note 1) (Note 2)
HK$ per share  HK$ per share
R® IS RERE
—BC=f i3 A 1}:3 Bt i i REAH
MA-H REREL RERTE %% ZA=t-B BRERS BRESE BREES 2B {E
(BzH1) GE)
BRET BB
Executive Directors
HTES
Ma Hung Ming, John 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 20-2-2020 20-2-2020 to 0.714 0.70
ot 19-2-2025
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 20-2-2020 20-2-2021 to 0.714 0.70
19-2-2026
Chan Francis Ping Kuen 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 20-2-2020 3-6-2020 to 0.714 0.70
RIimiE 2-6-2025
2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 20-2-2020 3-6-2021 to 0.714 0.70
2-6-2026
2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 20-2-2020 3-6-2022 to 0.714 0.70
2-6-2027
8,000,000 - - - 8,000,000
Other continuous contract 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 20-2-2020 20-2-2020 to 0.714 0.70
employees 19-2-2025
EtEEAHIES 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 20-2-2020 20-2-2021 10 0.714 0.70
19-2-2026
3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000
In aggregate

@t 11,000,000 = = - 11,000,000




INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEME (Continued)

Notes:

1. The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the
grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

2. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment
in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in
the Company’s share capital.

Save as disclosed above during the period under review,
no options under the 2015 Option Scheme were exercised,
cancelled or lapsed.

As at 31 March 2024, the Company had 11,000,000 share
options outstanding under the 2015 Option Scheme. Should
they be fully exercised, the Company will receive approximately
HK$7,854,000 (before issue expenses). The grant date fair
value of these unexercised options measured in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policies (note 2.4 to the financial
statements) amounted to approximately HK$1,249,000.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2024, according to the register kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO and so far as was
known to the directors, the following persons or corporations
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which was required to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO:
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Number of Percentage of the

Name of Capacity/ ordinary Company’s issued

substantial shareholder nature of interests Notes shares held share capital

BB R NG

TERFER 2V +:1:3-1 B 3E AREBRYA ERTRATHL

Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner, a 627,463,011 (L) 39.93
BSNE security interest

in shares, interest
of spouse and
beneficiary of trust
ExEAA BRR
i BB ERE
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

FERE &)

Number of Percentage of the
Name of Capacity/ ordinary Company’s issued
substantial shareholder nature of interests shares held share capital
BB AR
TERRER 27V E:3:3-1 Tk NRAEBRHE ERITREBHLL
Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner, b 309,089,754 (L) 19.67
B security interest
in shares, interest
of spouse and
beneficiary of trust
EnEAA BERR
s REER
REEZZA
East Asia International Trustees Trustee 360,330,065 (L) 22.93
Limited fFsEA
Golden Yield Holdings Limited Interest in controlled 259,129,025 (L) 16.49
corporations
XENAER
Regent World Investments Limited Holding corporation 184,121,625 (L) 11.72
BEERAT
Wealthy Platform Limited Interest in controlled 101,201,040 (L) 6.44
corporations
RENEER
Bond Well Investments Limited Holding corporation 75,007,400 (L) 4.77
HEEERAT
Grand Wealth Investments Limited Holding corporation 74,651,040 (L) 4.75

L - Long position &f &
S — Short position % &

Notes:

BEERERAT

a. The 627,463,011 shares comprised:

=
Eﬂ:

5%627,463,011 IR (0 B2 4% -

M 5N =% 8 §9361,283,986R% A% 15
HENENEZETFTEEBHEEN
7,050,000/ %17 2 #Ew &

HENERERAAZZANDERE
FERE 2 5 B #19259,129,025 M ik {7 = 1
= (B TXOFTEENR —H#AD) -

361,283,986 shares owned by Ma Kai Cheung; i.

i interest in 7,050,000 shares owned by Cheung Lin Kiu, the i.
spouse of Ma Kai Cheung; and

ii interest in 259,129,025 shares indirectly held by a ii.
discretionary trust of which Ma Kai Cheung and his family
are the beneficiaries (same block of shares disclosed in (d)
below).




SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

b.

The 309,089,754 shares comprised:
204,688,714 shares owned by Ma Kai Yum;

i. interest in 3,200,000 shares owned by Kwok Kit Mei, the
spouse of Ma Kai Yum; and

. interest in 101,201,040 shares indirectly held by a
discretionary trust of which Ma Kai Yum and his family are
the beneficiaries (same block of shares disclosed in (g)
below).

East Asia International Trustees Limited (“EAIT”) is the trustee
of a discretionary trust of which Ma Kai Cheung and his family
are the objects and through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Golden
Yield Holdings Limited (“Golden Yield”), EAIT was indirectly
interested in 259,129,025 shares of the Company. EAIT is also
the trustee of a discretionary trust of which Ma Kai Yum and his
family are the objects and through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Wealthy Platform Limited (“Wealthy Platform”), EAIT was
indirectly interested in 101,201,040 shares in the Company. As
at the end of the reporting period, EAIT was effectively interested
in a total of 360,330,065 shares of the Company.

Golden Yield by owning the entire issued share capital of Regent
World and 70% of the entire issued share capital of Bond Well,
was indirectly interested in a total of 259,129,025 shares of
the Company. The total shares held by both Regent World
and Bond Well are the same block of shares as disclosed in
“Other interests” of Ma Kai Cheung under the section headed
“Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short positions in
shares and underlying shares” set out above.

Wealthy Platform by owning the entire issued share capital of
Grand Wealth and Peaceful World and indirectly owning the
entire issued share capital of Real Potential through Peaceful
World, was indirectly interested in 101,201,040 shares of the
Company. The total shares held by Grand Wealth, Peaceful
World and Real Potential are the same block of shares as
disclosed in “Other interests” of Ma Kai Yum under the section
headed “Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short
positions in shares and underlying shares” set out above.

Save as disclosed above, the directors of the Company are
not aware of any other persons who, as at 31 March 2024,
had registered an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company in the register that was
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
OBLIGATIONS OF THE LISTING RULES

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE
OBLIGATIONS OF THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS (RULE 13.18 OF CHAPTER
13)

The agreement for the following loan to the Group imposes
specific performance obligations on the controlling shareholders
of the Company:

Outstanding balance of Specific
banking facilities as at Final maturity of performance
31 March 2024 banking facilities obligations
HK$’000
R-EB-_WE=A=+—H SBITERREEHA BEBTEME
REBRITERERE
FHET
89,400 19 May 2027 (Note)
—E_t+FRATHE (BtsE)

Note:

Mr. Ma Kai Cheung, the Honorary Chairman and the controlling
shareholder of the Company holding a 39.93% shareholding interest
in the Company, and Mr. Ma Kai Yum, the Chairman of the Company
holding a 19.67% shareholding interest in the Company, undertake to
maintain a total of at least 42% of the shares of the Company.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, there were no transactions, which
need to be disclosed as connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules.

To the best of the directors’ knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiries, save as disclosed in
this annual report, none of the related party transactions as
disclosed in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report is a connected transaction.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors; at least 25% of the
Company’s total number of issued shares were held by public
as at the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 15 to 27.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Lo Ming Chi,
Charles (Chairman), Mr. Wong See King and Mr. Cheung Wah
Fung, Christopher.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting
matters including the review of the Group’s financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2024.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.

OUTLOOK

The Group will continue to develop and grow while maintaining
its healthy financial position and solid business foundation to
create long-term shareholders’ value.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Dr. Ma Kai Yum
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 52 4 R o

e
EY:

To the shareholders of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 75 to 246,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Audlitor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of
how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulffiled the responsibilities described in the Auditors
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
Staterments section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
HAREXER

BB F T (s

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BMzERNMEERREREE

Assessment of net realisable values of properties
under development (“PUD”) and properties held for
sale (collectively, the “Properties”)
FEBEREFYERIFIELHEYFE (7 [YWE]).Z A
BT FE

The Group had properties under development
and properties held for sale of approximately
HK$314,303,000 and HK$408,789,000, respectively,
as at 31 March 2024.
RZZBE-_MNE=A=+—H EBE5EBZZ&RT
W) 5% R R 1E H & W ¥ 9 Bl 4 /314,303,000 7T K&
408,789,000/% JT °

The Properties are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The determination of the net
realisable values of the Properties of the Group is
highly dependent on management’s judgements and
estimates, including the expected selling prices in
the ordinary course of business, the estimated selling
expenses and the estimated costs to be incurred to
completion.

VIR BRI FEME T RIEEAR -EE
ESEYMECAERFEREXKBERE 2B &
et BRENABEBBEF 2HEE HFEE
X RFEHT I TES ZAEHRAE-.

The audit procedures we performed on the
assessment of net realisable values of the Properties
included, among others, the following:

B BYE AR FEMETIERETFE
F(HEPEE) ATRE:

o we evaluated the obijectivity, capabilities and
competence of the external valuers;
e  HMEAEMNEGHEMZFEMNL e REEBE

ak,
BE

° we involved our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in evaluating the valuation techniques,
key assumptions and inputs adopted in the
valuations; and

e BMEEFHRMAZABBEZXRBGE R
HERABZHERE FERILBABE: &



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

HEELER

Independent Auditpr’s Report
LA QR

BB F T (8

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RMzERNIEERRERER

Assessment of net realisable values of properties
under development (“PUD”) and properties held for
sale (collectively, the “Properties”) (Continued)
FEBERERAYERIFIEHEYFE (7 [WE]).Z A
B FE (F)

The Group engaged a firm of independent
professionally qualified valuers (the “external valuers”)
to perform valuations of the Properties based on
prevailing market conditions and information available
at the time of the valuations, and by applying
valuation techniques considered as appropriate, so
as to assist management in assessing whether any
write-down of the Properties to their net realisable
values is required.
EEEZE-RBUEXSERMEEMAR ([HME
b ERD ) RIBBRITH R RN A ER AT EERIER
ERERRBEE 2 MEEEYEETHE KM
MYERENHESAEME AR FEELE
fa] HORL

We focused on this matter due to the magnitude of
the balances involved and the significant accounting
judgements and estimates required.
ERPIPREHRZ SRR NDNARAEZERNGH
B Ko fh T RAIRFARULER

Related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 20 to
the consolidated financial statements.

HEREHN GRS M BEHRMFEIN20 -

° we assessed certain key assumptions and
estimates including, among others, (i) the
expected selling prices of the Properties by
comparing the expected selling prices to,
among others, the recent transaction prices for
similar properties or the prices of comparable
properties; (i) the estimated selling expenses
by comparing the historical average selling
expenses to revenue ratio or to other relevant
information; and (i) the estimated costs to be
incurred to completion for PUD by checking the
estimated costs against budgets approved by
management and examined, on a sample basis,
relevant construction contracts and other reliable
evidence available.

e  HBMTENEETEERERMEE B (HEF
BIE) ((ERGATEER (AP aE) &
LB E L TSRS ETHRMBERITH R
HEMEESE: ()FREEL FHHEERX HEK
AL EETHE R AT HE X K (i)E Bk
ATTEHKAEKLEREN E s AEETHLET
HET e ERT YRR TELE 2 TR A
BRERArRGEEa N NEM A FRE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
HAREXER

BB F T (s

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BMzERNMEERREREE

Assessment of fair values of investment properties

FEREY R 2 FlE

The Group had investment properties of
approximately HK$2,232,073,000 as at 31 March
2024.
R-—ZE-_WNFE=R=+—8"
49 52,232,073,000/ 7T ©

BEEBZREME

Investment properties of the Group are stated at fair
value and are revalued at the end of each reporting
period by a firm of independent professionally
qualified valuers (the “external valuers”) engaged
by the management of the Group. The valuation of
investment properties involves significant estimations
and assumptions, including, among others, the
estimated rental values and capitalisation rates for
the income capitalisation approach and the estimated
market price for the direct comparison approach.

EEECKREMERATAEIEERRERERR
B ESEEREZRE-—MBYEXESERMAERD
naEl ([FNEfEER]) EFEE -REMEGBELIR
BAMFREBR BF (EREE)RABEREZ
HEHEBERERNMEURBEELBUA 2 AET

We focused on this matter due to the magnitude of
the balance involved and the significant accounting
judgements and estimates required.

BN RERZ @R N ARAEZEXRE T
B K fhET RAAIEF UL EIER

Related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 14 to
the consolidated financial statements.

HEARESH NGRS M B RERMEIR14 -

The audit procedures we performed on the
assessment of fair values of investment properties
included, among others, the following:
BPRTEREMEC AT EMETZIERIEFE
F(HEPEE) ATRE:

o we evaluated the obijectivity, capabilities and
competence of the external valuers; and

o  HMEAEINEGHEMZFEMNL  seh KRBT
7R

° with the assistance of our internal valuation
specialists, we evaluated the valuation
techniques used and assessed the underlying
key inputs and assumptions through, among
others, enquiry with management and the
external valuers and with reference to relevant
historical, underlying and market information.

e HBMEEFHRMAZARBBEZRGEHFER
MERERIMNEGHEMELEEARREREE
£ BEARTSERMAEAERAZGERER
AL AR Z A BUR RRER -



OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN
THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

Independent Auditpr’s Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Wong Yat Kin.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

26 June 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or LLoss

Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—/F=H=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-E =4
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
B 5 FHET FET
REVENUE WA (9 661,856 683,482
Cost of sales $HE K AR (398,069) (384,589)
Gross profit E A 263,787 298,893
Other income and gains, net Hap g A KUz F 58 5 48,714 67,658
Selling and distribution expenses HEMDHEAX (141,847) (136,163)
General and administrative expenses — 8% & 77 B 5 52 (119,075) (150,826)
Other expenses, net HEmAX 558 (123,695) (132,658)
Finance costs BF S R 7 (127,036) (84,283)
Share of losses of associates FEAG B E A E)E R (64,870) (48,066)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BB AT 1R 6 (264,022) (185,445)
Income tax credit FTEHiE R 10 2,933 15,712
LOSS FOR THE YEAR REEFE (261,089) (169,733)
Attributable to: FEAh
Owners of the parent UNCIEZZ=DN (250,250) (175,680)
Non-controlling interests FEIE R M = (10,839) 5,947
(261,089) (169,733)
LOSS PER SHARE BAREEREZFEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EtERER
ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 12
- Basic —®K HK cents (15.93)78 1l | HK cents (11.18)1L
- Diluted — s HK cents (15.93)581ll | HK cents (11.18)%1l




Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

eIl W&

Year ended 31 March 2024 #EZ=-F=F=H=+—HI FE

2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
LOSS FOR THE YEAR REEFE (261,089) (169,733)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Hit2HEE R
Other comprehensive loss that may be BREZBETEFHDES
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 1B % 2 E i 2 T E5 18
periods:
Exchange differences: EHER:
Exchange differences on translation of BREBINEBIELEZR
foreign operations (145,950) (195,887)
Share of other comprehensive loss of DEBE AR Z M|
associates B 18 (15,310) (79,528)
(161,260) (275,415)
Other comprehensive loss that will not be R EZ BB TAIEFHEE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent  18%8 2 Eth & E E5 18 -
periods:
Changes in fair value of equity investments &7 & 1% A &S8R M A E A
designated at fair value through other PHBAFREBZ#ERKRE
comprehensive income MAFEES (66,414) (24,118)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR #AFEHM2EEIE
THE YEAR (227,674) (299,533)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR ZAEE2HEEEE
THE YEAR (488,763) (469,266)
Attributable to: J?;Efﬁ :
Owners of the parent S RRHEEB A (475,748) (474,133)
Non-controlling interests 3H AR #E 2 (13,015) 4,867
(488,763) (469,266)




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

b 6 BB R &

31 March 2024 Z—ZF=pJF=H=+—H

2024 2023
—E-WF —T=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Ui FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB K& 13 629,138 858,120
Investment properties wEYE 14 2,232,073 2,329,752
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15(a) 107,477 137,587
Goodwill B 16 28,162 52,581
Interests in associates i RR/NCI - 17 1,175,813 976,948
Equity investments designated EEBZATFEYERR
at fair value through other REMZEKAFRERE
comprehensive income BRI E 18 43,054 95,868
Properties under development BERPYE 20 314,303 321,756
Deferred tax assets EREFIREE 31 34,269 20,964
Other receivables, deposits and HM RN e RER
prepayments A 23 22,764 34,066
Total non-current assets ERBEEMAE 4,587,053 4,827,642
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Properties held for sale FIER Sy 20 408,789 449,774
Inventories FE 21 34,380 30,082
Tax recoverable A U =] A 1 3,954 4,120
Trade receivables FEUE SRR 22 31,596 30,913
Other receivables, deposits and HibEWRERER % & RTafRt
prepayments A 23 316,713 381,529
Due from directors JE U E = FR1E 24 5,133 2,765
Due from an associate JE Y — P B & R B 5RIR 17 354,064 283,038
Financial assets at fair value through 22 FE 51| BE K i 1825
profit or loss BEZEHEE 19 35,309 124,238
Equity investments designated EEBRANFEYER
at fair value through other REMZEKARREZ
comprehensive income BmIgE 18 17,329 33,663
Restricted cash ZRHIRE 25 - 32
Pledged time deposits BT TR 25 34,785 33,568
Cash and bank balances e RiRTTH R 25 127,369 287,707
1,369,421 1,661,429
Assets classified as held for sale DEABKIENEEE 26 178,437 =
Total current assets MEBEELE 1,547,858 1,661,429




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R RSV

31 March 2024 —ZFZpj#F=H=+—H

2024 2023
—E-lE —T=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
i FET FET
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables FERTE SRR 27 (50,046) (56,819)
Other payables, accruals and HEMEMNER EBHEBRAK
deposits received [ & 28 (193,865) (227,484)
Convertible bonds AR (& 75 30 (76,971) (57,988)
Due to directors BN EEHRIE 42 (660) (3,067)
Due to non-controlling shareholders & < JE4% Hﬁﬂﬁ HFRIA 42 (38,770) (37,956)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings WEZIRITEE 30 (1,450,391) (1,189,482)
Lease liabilities HEAE 15(b) (34,747) (36,366)
Deferred income I A 32 (28,230) (31,213)
Tax payable FERBLIE (291,531) (306,710)
(2,165,211) (1,947,085)
Liabilities directly associated with the 2/ 18 AL EEE
assets classified as held for sale EREEzaE 26 (226,696) =
Total current liabilities MEBAREE (2,391,907) (1,947,085)
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEEEE (844,049) (285,656)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEHAERARBERS
CURRENT LIABILITIES 3,743,004 4,541,986
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Accruals and deposits received EAERREWIES 28 (12,748) 6,779)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings ez RITEE 30 (209,644) (509,565)
Lease liabilities HESE 15(b) (71,062) (81,782)
Deferred income JRIEUT A 32 (75,085) (82,678)
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEAE 31 (274,919) (271,293)
Provisions B 29 (4,254) (4,687)
Total non-current liabilities EMEBBEMESE (647,712) (956,784)
Net assets BEFRE 3,095,292 3,585,202




Consolidated Statement of F@nancial Position
G A M Ik %

31 March 2024 Z—ZF=pJF=H=+—H

2024 2023
—E-NEF i
Notes HK$’°000 HK$’000
Mt & FERT FHT
EQUITY % 7
Equity attributable to owners of BRI #Em
the parent
Issued capital BEITIRA 33 157,136 157,136
Reserves ] 35 2,959,080 3,434,828
3,116,216 3,591,964
Non-controlling interests AR A 2 (20,924) (6,762)
Total equity EmiEE 3,095,292 3,585,202
Ma Kai Yum Chan Francis Ping Kuen
BAK PR SR HE
Director Director

EF EF




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GAENEH R

Year ended 31 March 2024 #Z-F-F=H=+—HIFEZ

Attributable to owners of the parent
SRTEEARE
Leasehold
Equity [and and
Share  component of biding Share Exchange Capital Cepttal Non-
Issued premium  converfiole  revaluation option Goodwil ~ fluctuation  redemption Reseve  Fairvaue  and other Retained coniroling Totd
capial account bonds fesenve esene Tesene esene resene funds esene 8seMes profts Total inferests equity
BELH
BEf R AEREH kg B EX 23 ATE E5R FiEK
& ER  Badh  EhER R HREE  MBEE  RERR (153 BE  AbER A &t s BaEE
Note HKS§000 HK§ 000 HKS'000 HK§000 HK§ 000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK§ 000 HK§000 HK§ 000 HKS 000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000
fit TR TR TR TR TR TER TR TEL TR TR TR TR TEL TR TR
A1 Apr 2022 HIZZZF
mA-B 157,136 1505959 16,162 83218 551 (86,230 208544 316 581 (101,730) (62914 2360060 4086673 (8268 4078405
Loss for the year FEEER o & = o = S & = o = - (175880 (175680 5047 (169,733)
Other comprefensive loss REREDZE
forthe year: BB:
Changes in far value of BAVEIIRR
equity investments at REHRE
fair value though other RARERZ
comprehensive income EaRELTE
29 - - - - - - - - -y - - (g -
Exchange diferences on REENERL
ranslation offoreign Exza
operations S & = o = - (194807) = o = S o (194,807) (1080 (195,887)
Share of oher comprehensie  AE—HEER T
Joss of an associate Eh2EER - - - - - - (19,528) - - - - - (19528) - (19528)
Total compreensive loss FEERE
for the year FEgE = = = = = - ) = - i S (A @413 4T (69269
Dividends paid o non-controling 22 RBEZ
shareholders k& - - - - - - - - - - - - - (10,735) (10,73)
Eouity-seted shere option HEREE ERE
anangements 2 kKl - - - - 20 - - - - - - - 20 - 20
Transfer of share option resene ~ REER K
upon foreture of share options - EEBRER & - - - - (18) - - - - - - 18 - - -
Aoquistion of non-contoling B TR
interests i a subsidary FEkER - - - - - - - - - - - 4,882) 4882) 7374 249
Fine 2022 didend ~TooFRERS . . . . g . . . . . ST (5 - (5
At 31 March 2023 i it 2
ZR=1-8 157,136 1,505,059 16,162" 83218 5518 (86,2301 (65,791 316 5810 (1258487 (62914 2163802 3,591,964 (6,762) 3,585,202




Consolidated Statement of C}}anges in Equity
GatnEER

Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

Attributable to owners of the parent
BRAREARE
Leasehold
Equity  land and
Share componentof  building Share Exchange Capital Capital Non-
Issued ~ premium  convertible revaluation option  Goodwill fluctuation  redemption Reserve  Fairvalue  andother  Retained controlling Total
capital  account bonds reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve funds reserve  reserves profits Total  interests equity
il 6
2&ff B TERES i 53 BRE Ed g% AVE B4R #ER
Bx  BEE  EESR  EfEE BF HEHE ROER  WEER i BF  RbRE  REE a3t BE REAE
Notes HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000
fit TEn  TER iz TR TER Tin TER TR TR TER Tin TER TR Tin TER
At31 March 2023 and
1 Apri 2023
167,13 1505959 16,162 83278 5513 85.230) 65,791) 316 1 (125848 (62914) 2163802 3,591,964 (6762 3,585,202
Loss forthe year = = S = S = = S = = S 020 (50250 (108%) 261089
Other comprehensive loss FEREMRE
forthe year: B
Changes In far value of RATVEIRR
equity investments at REWZE
faivlue through oter BAPREZ
comprehensive ncome BEREDTE
%9 = = = = = = = = - oty - - o4ty - oty
Exchange diferences on BERNERL
tranglaton of foregn [3:53:3
operatons = = S = = - (w3 S = = S ST R (14590
Share of other comprehensie. S —FBERFZ
Joss of an associte L2 EER - - - - - - [18310) - - - - - (15310 - (15310
Totel compreensive loss TEE2EEREE
for the year = = = = = - (159084 = = (66414) - (5020 (475748 (13015 (488763
Dividends paid to non-contioling 2 3£ R E 2
sharefolders Re - - - - - - - - - - - - - (1,147) (1,147)
Tanler fom retaned profts ~ REEHER - - - - - - - - 4 - - (414 - - -
A1 March 2024 R-B-mE
Zh=t-8 167,136 1,605959" 16,162 83,278' 5518 (86230 (224875 316" 9 (1922600 (@014 1913138 3116216 (20924 309,292

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of — * IR EE%@2,959,0§0,0005%75 (ZE==
approximately HK$2,959,080,000 (2023: HK$3,434,828,000) in F : 3,434,828,000/% 7t ) B B IE L 4R & M 75
the consolidated statement of financial position. AR ZEREHEZA -




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GoBERER
2024 2023
—E-NE —E=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FET F&ET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING Z& % IEzRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax B 3 AT S 18 (264,022) (185,445)
Adjustments for: FER
Finance costs B TS AR 7 127,036 84,283
Share of losses of associates EILE 2 AR EE 64,870 48,066
Bank interest income IRITHBULA 5 (10,607) (3,528)
Investment interest income EF B WA 5 (3,926) (2,081)
Other interest income H b BULA 5 (17,976) (33,397)
Dividend income from financial BAFEYERERIBET R
assets at fair value through BraomEEL
profit or loss % B A 5 (1,654) (3,323)
Loss on disposal/write-off of & FHEME BB MR
items of property, plant and BIEB 2 KB F58
equipment, net 6 492 3,194
Impairment of goodwill EENERE 6 24,419 11,889
Fair value loss, net: NFEEE FE:
Financial assets at fair value BAFEYRERBEF
through profit or loss REZERMEE 6 16,067 7,674
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ #1%¥ - MEMEZHE 2 ITE
equipment 6 68,430 93,187
Changes in fair value of investment & &% A&
properties, net HE) FEE 6 38,047 90,003
Impairment of trade receivables, net JEUE 5 8RN 2 RE @ F5 6 2,943 2,498
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) £ {th FE U BR 2k 2 I8 (B~
of other receivables, net (ORERE) JF58 6 (163) 18,373
Impairment of property, plant and Y BEMEE
equipment and right-of-use assets ~ R{F FAEEE 2 RE 6 7,856 =
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEEZITE 6 38,354 40,014
Release of deferred income IR A 2 iR bR 6 (401) (783)
Equity-settled share option expense LAAEZR 45 & 7 BERCHERT X 34 - 20
Gain on lease modification HEBIT 2 W= 5 (215) (733)
Gain on lease termination mIERE 2 s 5 - 2,115)
Fair value loss on redemption option & @l A] #2 I (&5 R 12 ~
of convertible bonds NEEEE 6 17,465 -
Loss on modification of BETRI IR E A 2 BB
convertible bonds 6 2,363 -
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMRBRARIZEE 6 1,644 -




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GZABeMER
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
Bt FHExT FHET
Increase in properties under BERPMEZ
development 3 0 (6,710) (7,266)
Decrease in properties held for sale 3 {EH & W E 2@ 11 989
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL,(Em) (6,330) 6,443
Increase in trade receivables FEUE 5 BR FE N (5,626) (2,411)
Decrease in other receivables, EMERERNR Ze Kk
deposits and prepayments TE SRIB R 69,598 37,464
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due BN EEKIER L~
from directors (3Eh0) (2,613) 2,210
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables &I Z FBRFIE N,
ORLA) (3,720) 9,168
Increase/(decrease) in other HEMEMARRK
payables, accruals and deposits EEtERRERIES
received g, CRd) 108,408 (157,619)
Decrease in amounts due to & = FRIE R A
directors (2,696) (1,780)
Decrease in provisions BiEm (330) (724)
COVID-19-related rent concessions 7 A ¥ COVID-1948 %8
from lessors MEeER - (1,000)
Cash generated from operations KEEBMESZzR® 261,014 53,270
Hong Kong profits tax refunded/ RiE/ (B BBFEHK
(paid) 233 (162)
Net cash flows from operating KEXEBEZ
activities HeEmEFH 261,247 53,108




Cpnsolidated Statement of Cash Flows
SEBLHER

2024 2023
—E-NEF —EC=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ihE=2 FHExT F&ET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZHHLSRE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received EUWERITH 8 10,607 3,528
Other interest received HAap B U F B 21,902 35,478
Dividend received from financial BUiRAFESR RN IERS
assets at fair value through profit PFREZEHMEERS
or loss 1,654 3,323
Purchases of items of property, plant B A% % B E &
and equipment HRHEIEB (39,650) (101,050)
Proceeds from disposal of items of ~ HEWE - HE &
property, plant and equipment 1A B FT1S IR 6,362 3,643
Purchases of financial assets at fair B AR A FESI IR &
value through profit or loss RERFEE L
TREE (11,713) (59,604)
Proceeds from disposal of financial &% A F (AR K
assets at fair value through profit REZFREEZ
or loss CREEMBFNRIEA 84,252 87,633
Proceeds from disposal of HEREYEFMFRIEA
an investment property 17,480 48,200
Decrease/(increase) in pledged EERTE TR R
time deposits and pledged bank EHEFRITSSR
balances B, (3G ) (1,217) 9,905
Decrease in restricted cash ZREIRE 2R 32 53
Investment in an associate & E QT - (2,300)
Increase in amounts due from JrE W Bt 2 A
associates FIE 2 (349,861) (877)
Disposal of subsidiaries &M B AR 251 -
Advance to an associate TEf— & Q) - 299
Increase in assets classified as DEABELHEEEL
held for sale b Jil (178,437) =
Increase in liabilities directly HAOBARBFELEERE
associated with the assets BEERAENEEZ
classified as held for sale bl 226,696 =
Net cash flows from/(used in) WEEBFE, (FA)Z
investing activities BemEF8 (211,642) 28,231




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GABLMER
2024 2023
—E-NE —Eo=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 FERT FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING @& EEBzHERE
ACTIVITIES
New bank loans FTILIRITER 556,332 1,049,844
Repayment of bank loans BEERITER (588,604) (976,704)
Changes in balances with non- FEIERAR R ERFEE B - F
controlling shareholders, net 327 12,903
Principal portion of lease payments T &4 Z & K35 (36,647) (33,727)
Dividends paid EfRE - (15,714)
Dividends paid to non-controlling BT IR AR AR R AR B
shareholders (1,147) (10,735)
Interest paid ERFE (127,881) (85,538)
Net cash flows used in financing BMEEBMAZ
activities Rene#a (197,620) (59,671)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) HEFBREEHEEHR
IN CASH AND CASH ®wm R B
EQUIVALENTS (148,015) 21,668
Cash and cash equivalents FUzBHekReEE
at beginning of year HH 287,707 279,616
Effect of foreign exchange rate INEER B EM R E
changes, net R (12,323) (13,577)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FR&ZHR&R
AT END OF YEAR ReEEER 127,369 287,707
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES HeEREESEE
OF CASH AND CASH HB&ERZDWT
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and unpledged bank balances IR & K A& 1 ER 17 45 #4 120,844 280,746
Time deposits with original maturity 4 & R 2| HA B >
of less than three months when K= Az EBFRK
acquired 6,525 6,961
Cash and cash equivalents as stated AR ERERANESZ
in the consolidated statement of RekRE&FEER
cash flows 127,369 287,707




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
G A BB R

Year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE—-F=—/NF=A=+—HI FZ

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.
INFORMATION

Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The registered office of the Company is located
at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM10, Bermuda.

7 K 4 B %

FEEMEEZERAERAR ([RAAF])
E—HRBREIMKN L ZERAF -
A &) 5 it # 55 5E f R Victoria Place,
5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM10, Bermuda °

FR-ARBREMB AR (58 [RE
BDMEEXBAREZER MERE
RBERIAMGEBE  BERRRmMER -

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were principally
engaged in investment holding, property investment and
development, and the operations of hotel, restaurant and
food businesses.

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

Wit & 2> 5 A B & R
ARAEEHBARZFHEMT

follows:
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration Class of equity registered equity attributable
Name of company and bysiness interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
ML, BRITER/ ERFEGERE
ARAR MR E K FrisREER HEBRA BAl TEEY
2024 2023
—E-NE | ZT-=%
Amica Properties Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 100 100  Property investment
BENMBERERAA S0 LER 28T MERE
Carrianna (BVI) Ltd.* British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares Us$1 100 100 Invgstment holding
EBRAHS LRk e REZR
Carrianna (Chiu Chow) Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$8,000,000 91 91  Restaurant operations
Restaurant Limited
EEH M) BIBERAR &A EER 8,000,000% 7T B
Carrianna Chinese Food Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$900,000 100 100 Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited
&%#}JW ARm(FE) EE Lidik 900,000 70 REZR
RAT
Carrianna Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$25,000,000 100 100  Property investment
and development
EEREERERAF BB LRk 25,000,000/ 7T MERERER
Carrianna (Shenzhen) People’s Republic Registered capital HK$80,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
Investment Co., Ltd. of China (‘PRC")/ and property
Mainland China investment and
development
Ei b ORI RE EP%Q;E#@@ AMER 80,000,000/ 7T REZBRNNERE
RARO [ ) REE
IR R




Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements
BAMBHEME

Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. 2 k&EE &R @
INFORMATION (Continued)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES W B 2 B B & R s
(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration Class of equity registered equity attributable
Name of company and business interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
EMAL/ BRTEE/ EREEGERE
ARAR AR E L PR EER BTN BOk FEXEK
2024 2023
ZECI@E | ZE2=F
China East International Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
Materials City Limited
ERERMHEERRT  BE Limik 1,000,000/ 7T REER
Sunshine Group Dining Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$13,733,601 100 100  Restaurant operations
Services Limited
CrEEERRBERRE FE Limik 13,783,601/ 7T ZHEE
Earn Fame Group Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment holding
NEEEBRLA KBRS £ E REER
Elite Brave Development British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares USS$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited*
BEERBRAA" KBRS LER E REER
Goldfield Properties Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 100 100 Investment holding
FYEXERAA Eit Limik 28T REZR
Huge Moral International British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited*
EEERERAR" EREXHES Limik e REZR
Max Honour Investments Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited
TEREBRAR Eit Limik 17T REZR
Profit Smart Group Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$5,598,059 76 76 Bakery operations
MERREEAERAF BE i 5,508,0597 1T ERESE
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$200 100 100 Investment holding
and property
investment
&t Lidik 200 7T REZRRNERE
Non-voting HK$1,000,000 - -
deferred
shares
BRZE 1,000,000/ 7
RN
Tak Sing (Panyu) Fashion PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital HK$51,000,000 100 100 Property investment
Company Limited ) )
EMHMERREERDRE B/ REARE FMER 51,000,000%5 7T MERE
Wealth Mark Group Limited ~ Byitish Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$10 90 90  Investment holding
REEEBERAA EREXHES Limik 10%7T REZR
EEF (FL) PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB14,700,000 100 100 Hotel and restaurant
BRAG® operations
HE/REAE HMEE AR ¥14,700,0007 BEEREREE




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A W R

Year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE—-F=—/NF=A=+—HI FZ

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. 2a k&EE&EH @
INFORMATION (Continued)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES W & 2> 5] M BB R ()
(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration Class of equity registered equity attributable
Name of company and bysiness interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
HMAL, CRITEE/ ENEELRE
ARER AR E & Fris R R R AR A Ak TEER
2024 2023
ZECI@E | ZE2=F
BEEEFRRERA PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB31,000,000 65 65  Food business
HE/REAE FHEL AR ¥31,000,0007 RMER
HHEEMEREEER  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital ~ RMB100,000,000 90 90  Hotel operations
HRARR R REARE AfMER i BEEE
100,000,0007T
RINERHERERE PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB5,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
BRARW R/ B K R ULV AR 5,000,007 B
EZREBERMAHMAE  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital 1US$46,000,000 100 100 Property investment
(BEB)BRAR R B AR SMER 46,000,000 7T and development
MERBRER
Carrianna Food PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital HK$1,000,000 100 100  Food business
(Shenzhen) Ltd." E/REARE AR 1,000,000 7T RERH
E=Hem ORI
BRAGN
RYMERBER PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB6,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
BRARW R/ B K R ULV AR 6,000,007 B
= (BM)EELELE  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB40,000,000 100 100 Property investment
ERERDAY HE/REAKE FHEL AR ¥40,000,0007T MERE
SR ERHESRE PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB50,000,000 65 65  Restaurant operations
BRARY REREARE FHfE A AR H50,000,0007C BHEE
EREEHRHERAFD  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital US$2,000,000 75 75  Food business
HE/REAE HRER 2,000,000 T RRES
Sleek Treasure Ventures British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$77,200 60 60  Investment holding
Limited (‘Sleek Treasure’) ~ RBR XA S EEk 77,200% 70 BEER
JEERIHERA A
(1E=Z])
FYMIEEERER PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB6,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
bl YNGR HE/REAE HHEX AR #6,000,00070 e
FYIMIEEESERER PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB1,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
BRARS REREARE & & AR #1,000,00070 B
FITEEHEREERLE  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB1,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
b YNGR HE/REAKE FHER AR %1,000,00070 e
RREEHEHER PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB1,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
BRARS REREARE FHfE & AR #1,000,0007C B




Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements
BAMBHEME

Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. 2 k&EE &R @
INFORMATION (Continued)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES W B 2 B B & R s
(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration Class of equity registered equity attributable
Name of company and business interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
EMARL BRTLE/ EREEGERE
ARAR AR E L PR EER BTN BOk FEXEK
2024 2023
ZECI@E | ZE2=F
Carrianna Land Development  British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares U§$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited (formerly known as  EBRE LB E L@k E RAZR
Tak Sing Asia Inc.)*
EEFHEERERRF
Max Honour Investments British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares USs$1 100 100 Investment holding
P ++ 3= AL = [LR 50 AL
iﬁgﬁlérg?ﬁdﬁﬁwﬁl* EREXHES L 1% REZR
Quantum Data Science Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1,000 95 95  Data center
Limited % EaRk 1,000 T operations
BEET (MB)ERAA YEDLEE
Jade Choice Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1,000 95 95  Property investment
BYERAR EB Limik 1,000 7 NERE
* Direct subsidiaries of the Company * NN N=E 4L 1) =N
M Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises 0 HNEEERE
@ Sino-foreign joint venture companies @ HRINEEDE
@ Domestic enterprises @ ANEZHE

EERR/ UERIIARAR 2 EEHE
RARETEFEFEEENERAEHE
BEFEZEEND UREFRS
ETHREZEBRREMHERRHAEE
HHIEEXEERKRBEN -BEFEARE
HIEMHBAR &R B<EHB
RITE-

The above table lists the major subsidiaries of the
Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results for the year or formed a substantial
portion of the net assets of the Group, as well as certain
investment holding and other subsidiaries, which in the
opinion of the directors, are of specific importance to or
of specific purpose for the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
HAMBHEME

Year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE—-F=—/NF=A=+—HI FZ

2. @K
2.1 MWL A

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (‘HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain
leasehold land and buildings, investment properties and
certain financial assets which have been measured at fair
value. The financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 March 2024. A subsidiary is an
entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee
(i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

ZEMBBRRDEBELGANRE
(BB EFERE]) B2 BEEMBER
SREA([EBMBREER]) (B
FIAEERBMBRE LR FEGHER
(IFEgst £ R2E) BEAR
SHRAREBB QAR 2 WERE R
S PRI L XA E RS - HEIA
NP EFECETHELHEET &
EMERETEREERI - ZFHH
BRIVABTEY) RABFHA - AEE
BEERAEREREOZ T

GAEE

AV BRREEBEARTLENB AR
BHE_Z-_NE=-A=+—HILtFEZ
PHERER-MEBRRAKXARHE M
BEEFINER (RREABMEER) -EX
EEAZKZELREREHREBRE
WAl bk BREBBEREH S ME
(B TASERBRENETEREY
SMEBEEESHRMTERN) 2% E R R
B+ BIERAS 2 il 4 o

R—RIEATHFES BIRERTAE
HlEZHEE - MARBERKEEES
PREEHRAZHEN R RN LUE
M RIREERFEERTHEEHRE
HRNENE SEREMARBEER
(EDIAREEEE

(@) BERBEHRHMEEREAANA
WLk

b) BEMEHRPERTELNERN: &

© AEENREENEEREE-



Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements
LA W R M

Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests,
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as
an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the exchange
fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit
in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

2. ®EMEUR ()
2.1 HWEE 9

BAEE W

¥ B 2 B 40 B 7 4R 3% W0 3R 25 M B A A )
R WA B S ER RS - B
ARz EERAEEESESIEY B2
BAHE YRESRAABEZAESR
BRI B AL

Bam M HEMEEBASAKRE D TR
RAKBRRRHA AMIFZERER
B0 1tk B8 5| BR O ¥ B bt 1 11 3R S At A
TR -BSBEARREZEERARE
s WA X RASBKE QAR
SHRBEZRESRANEGS KRB RF 2K
i

A FE R BERER £ ATt = & 5
BAZEF-—HXZEFE AIAKH
HEFFEEEDEHIREHR KB
NRAEIZHEAEEDES (L ERKIES
)RR IR S -

fieh 7 5= [ 2K 2= 4 — ) B /B8 % =) 2 4%
e RIEBHRREREE (BERE)
R BB - (] SEHR il i 2 K SN R B 1
B RERARETAREZRAFER
BaRPEARLES 2 BERSEAL-
EAREMEEBRARNERZ A EEE
RO ERFBERRNASEERLE
HEEESAEMERNERELEEN

DREBEEHREB G -




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #EZ=-F=F=H=+—HI FE

2. ®@EMEUR ()
2.1 4 WEE (m)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

OPERATING CYCLE

The operating cycle of the Group for the property
investment and development business is the period
between the acquisition of assets and their realisation.
Due to the nature of such business, its normal operating
cycle may be longer than 12 months. The Group’s current
assets include assets (such as properties held for sale)
which are sold, consumed or realised as part of the
normal operating cycle for the property investment and
development business even when they are not expected
to be realised within 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
recorded a net loss of approximately HK$261,089,000
(2023: HK$169,733,000) and as at 31 March 2024, the
Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately HK$844,049,000 (2023: HK$285,656,000).
As at 31 March 2024, included in its current liabilities were
interest-bearing borrowings drawn down from banking
facilities totalling approximately HK$1,450,391,000,
among which approximately HK$835,324,000 were
drawn down under revolving loan facilities, of which the
Group could roll over the facilities in the next twelve
months generally.

E SR
AEBENMEREREREREXR
HAWBEEZEEEHE AL A
BMALEBMEE  HEEBARATEAR
12 A - AEBYEERERBEREBD
RBEEREE—BEEEEERPALY
B OBEERESANEE (NINHIERE
M)  AMERMZEEETREREH
HIRE 12 A RE IR -

HEREEE
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Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

2. ®EMEUR ()
2.1 HWEE 9

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

GOING CONCERN BASIS (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors have given careful consideration of the liquidity
requirement for the Group’s operations, the performance
of the Group and available sources of financing in
assessing whether the Group has sufficient financial
resources to continue as a going concern. The Directors
have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections prepared
by management which covers a period of twelve months
from 31 March 2024. The Directors have taken into
account the following plans and measures in assessing
the sufficiency of working capital requirements in the
foreseeable future:

(@ Subsequent to the end of the reporting period
and up to the date of this report, the Group
has refinanced the existing banking facilities of
approximately HK$61.8 million;

(b) Ignoring the effect of any repayment on-demand
clauses, interest-bearing borrowings of HK$306.8
million which were classified as current liabilities as
at 31 March 2024 would have become non-current
liabilities and will be settled in accordance with
the maturity dates as set out in the banking facility
letters;

(c) Subsequent to the end of the reporting period,
the Group has entered into a sale and purchase
agreement in relation to the disposal of the entire
equity interest in #= 5 EE IR IEEIE B R A A
(Yiyang Carrianna International Hotel Management
Company Limited) and the net proceeds from
the disposal are estimated to be approximately
RMB111.9 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$120.7 million) which are to be received upon
the completion of the transaction before 20 October
2024;

HEREEE 9
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
HAMBHEME

Year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE—-F=—/NF=A=+—HI FZ

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. &K ()
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2.1 % WEE (9
GOING CONCERN BASIS (Continued) HEgEEE W
(d) Based on the existing signed sale and purchase o WREBHEEINEEHE A&
agreements to date, the Group expects to receive EREHen _T-MFNAZETAH
net proceeds of approximately HK$51.8 million HEKIINESEEEREEFE
between August and October 2024 from the sale B\ KPS 3R IEF ¥ £951,800,000
of the residential units of the Haitan Street re- BT

development project; and

() The Group will have the financial resources e ZAEBKBANBLEMRSES:
reasonably available from the internally generated HEEEMSRIEUARAREER ¢
funds from operations, proceeds from disposal of MRTEBEGSEENTBEIR-

assets and cash and bank balances of the Group.

Based on the above, the Directors consider that the ERNUEM - EFRALAEEEER
Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its NEEESMEER_T-_WMF=A
financial obligations as and when they fall due in the =t+—BRFRR+ZEA 2%
coming twelve months from 31 March 2024. Accordingly, BEE At KRB EZRRIRGELE
the Directors consider it is appropriate to prepare the ARGV BmKRBEHE-
consolidated financial statements on a going concern

basis.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 @itk k#kZF 2 & H

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised REBERMNERNFENBRKERE

HKFRSs that are applicable to the Group for the first time RAATERARAEER ] REIEFTE

for the current year's financial statements. B S 4ER) o

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts BERMBRERDY REAY

BT
Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting BRI ENEIRR SFEEIKE
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies BAMBRELER
EBREE2R
CHES,

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting BRGQTENESS BRI ITE
Estimates CHES,

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to BRGQIERNE1S HE-XFELEER
Assets and Liabilities CHES) REWHH EEHE
arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax BRQTENE1S AEFENE-£-%
Reform — Pillar Two CHES) e HA

Model Rules




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

G & M B ok e

Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised
HKFRSs that are applicable to the Group are described
below:

(@)

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose
their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if,
when considered together with other information
included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply
the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. The Group has disclosed the material
accounting policy information in note 2 to the
financial statements. The amendments have had
an impact on the Group’s disclosures of accounting
policies, but not on the measurement, recognition
or presentation of any items in the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates and
changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts
in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also
clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. Since
the Group’s approach and policy align with the
amendments, the amendments had no impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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Year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE—-F=—/NF=A=+—HI FZ

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

()

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no
longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences,
such as leases and decommissioning obligations.
Therefore, entities are required to recognise a
deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable
profit is available) and a deferred tax liability
for temporary differences arising from these
transactions.

Prior to the initial application of these amendments,
the Group applied the initial recognition exception
and did not recognise a deferred tax asset and
a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
for transactions related to leases. The Group has
applied the amendments on temporary differences
related to leases as at 1 April 2023. Upon the
application of the amendments, the Group has
determined the temporary differences arising from
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately,
which have been reflected in the reconciliation
disclosed in note 31 to the financial statements.
However, they did not have any material impact on
the overall deferred tax balances presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position as the
related deferred tax balances qualified for offsetting
under HKAS 12.

2. "R ()
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Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

2. ®BEHOK ()

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 €3 Bk ki ZE &8 (o)
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

©)

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory
temporary exception from the recognition and
disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the
implementation of the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development. The amendments
also introduce disclosure requirements for the
affected entities to help users of the financial
statements better understand the entities’” exposure
to Pillar Two income taxes, including the disclosure
of current tax related to Pillar Two income taxes
separately in the periods when Pillar Two legislation
is effective and the disclosure of known or
reasonably estimable information of their exposure
to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in which the
legislation is enacted or substantively enacted
but not yet in effect. The Group has applied the
amendments retrospectively. Since the Group did
not fall within the scope of the Pillar Two model
rules, the amendments did not have any impact to
the Group.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE—-F=—/NF=A=+—HI FZ

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these
financial statements. The Group intends to apply these

2. "R ()
23 B R ERZ HHEMY

B i i I

AEBRZEMHHRET RHREBAT
ERMERRERZFH] MEERTRE
MR ELER - REERN A FLEER]

revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they become BB HRELERNERETAEA (10

effective. @A) -

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Vlenture®

EAPBREELF105R BB ED REZHEABE NG A E1DE 2 A& EHE LT &S
F285% (IEETA)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’

BERVBHREERF165 (BFIA) E#MEzHEERE

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

(the “2020 Amendments”)" *
ERGERIE19 (BETA) HRESHEBREEF RS (| _E_TFEFTAR])
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)'- 4

BBGFTERIE1 (BRI A) WERgEzFndaE ([ T _F &R

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements’

ERGHERBTR BBV HRE LR RIEE & L

EBMEFTH (BEIA)

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

BB ERIE215 (BFTA) = A] 5 12

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 L R2024F1 A1B sk 2 B G R F E 5
January 2024 i A3

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 g 7202591 A1H 3k 2 1% 18 K F [E 53
January 2025 AR

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available 8 AR A ER S A% BB - (B0 &
for adoption

4 As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 d E 20204 M2022F £ 5T A B AR
Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of BESRAY B IHRERZH— EFALE
Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a HIZEKE T E IR BB RE A
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause SIS AR AR R A
was revised to align the corresponding wording with no T

change in conclusion

Further information about those HKFRSs that are FEHEEARAER Y B EHRE 8
expected to be applicable to the Group is described Bl —HERT e
below.
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Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—/F=H=+—HILFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of
a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction
when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not
constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective
date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was
removed by the HKICPA. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e. 1 January 2019).
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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2. "R (@)
23 B HE KR ERZ HFHEMY

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an
equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification
of that liability as current or non-current. Additional
disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that
are subject to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with early
application permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously
the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is
currently assessing the impact of the amendments and
whether existing loan agreements may require revision.
Based on a preliminary assessment, the amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The
disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended
to assist users of financial statements in understanding
the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an
entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.
Earlier application of the amendments is permitted. The
amendments provide certain transition reliefs regarding
comparative information, quantitative information as at
the beginning of the annual reporting period and interim
disclosures. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another
currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate
at a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking.
The amendments require disclosures of information that
enable users of financial statements to understand the
impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier
application is permitted. When applying the amendments,
an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments
shall be recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate
component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of
initial application. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

2. ®WEFHK ()
23 B R ERZ HFHEMY

BooE e

BB ERBETR LB BN B HRELE
AIE7R (BRTA) BB HERRE LB
RSB I RSRERIME B LR T - 18R]
AR EZRRKEEEBPBERRNE
RETHEERERELHYERRE
ReEREMRDERROTE - EFT
AAFREEM - ETAELBER
FERSHREFAFNE(ER K+ H
BEITEREHRE TBEERR &
FEFI T EHARENPERRELE
MERTE-

FEEERE215 (BRIA)FTH &
BENAFE-EEERTALBRKS
—RE¥ URERZAHLBENGTE
RERBENA G AHEX -EFIAE
KEBRABER LWERBHRRERE
BERTREBE NI LBNTE LR
RREM - EERBERI AR BERTHES
BB - B RERETANEMNRE
FERNEXERRRERREREN
AR AR R s B
BOP RN EZRRESHNFE
(WER) - Bt FEF T e HAEE
MM MREEEMNERTE -




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A W R

Year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE—-F=—/NF=A=+—HI FZ

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2. "R (@)
2.4 B A G B

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee,
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s interests in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies
that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively.
In addition, when there has been a change recognised
directly in the equity of the associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interests in the associates,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates is included as part of
the Group’s interests in associates.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment
at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group
elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2. "R ()
2.4 BREFHRE @)

(Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL (Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2. "R ()
2.4 BREFHRE @)

(Continued)
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures its certain leasehold land and
buildings, investment properties and certain financial
assets at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the
most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which

the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for a non-financial asset is
required (other than inventories, deferred tax assets and
investment properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating
unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a
corporate asset (e.g., a headquarter building) is allocated
to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis, or otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting
policy for that revalued asset.

RELATED PARTIES
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

M

(i)

(viil

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND DEPRECIATION

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Hotel properties Over the lease terms
Leasehold lands Over the lease terms
Buildings 2.5% to 3%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 20%
10% to 20%
15% to 20%
20% to 25%

Plant and machinery
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND DEPRECIATION (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation. Such properties are
measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at
the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of
profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their
carrying amounts will be recovered principally through
a sales transaction rather than through continuing use.
For this to be the case, the asset must be available for
immediate sale in its present condition subject only to
terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such
assets and its sale must be highly probable. All assets
and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as held for sale
regardless of whether the Group retains a non-controlling
interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets (other than financial assets) classified
as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying
amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets classified as held
for sale are not depreciated or amortised.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
LEASES

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

(@)  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Where applicable, the cost of a right-of-
use asset also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Leasehold lands
Properties

25 to 50 years
2 to 35 years
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
LEASES (Continued) iIERE D

AEEERBAMA (8
b) HEEE

Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend
on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised
by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate the lease.
The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense
in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change
in the lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(Continued)
LEASES (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c)  Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office premises
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). Lease payments
on short-term leases are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of
its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract
contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the
statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on
the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.
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Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Properties under development are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value and comprise land
costs, construction costs, applicable borrowing costs,
professional fees and other costs directly attributable
to such properties incurred during the development
period. Net realisable value is determined by reference
to the sales proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary
course of business, less applicable estimated selling
expenses and other estimated costs to make the sale,
and the estimated costs to be incurred to completion or
by management estimates, based on prevailing market
conditions.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets unless the construction of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond the
normal operating cycle. On completion, the properties are
transferred to properties held for sale.

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

2. ®BEHOK ()
2.4 BA®EBK ()

FRP X
BRPYFRENA R BB FERIE
EFHR BRLIHAA ZEKAK B
RZEBRRA - EXERRARYER
BRAANEL CHMBERKA A ER
FEDES2ERBEEEBBETHEN
BRTPMEHERMSHE (FRERDN
ERFHERX RE ML IHE AR
K RRTHAFBERAL)  HEEBR
BRI RS EHRERE -

BRTVEINSARBEE  FRIFEHNA
FAMERREAR 2B —REERY
RR-ZEVERTRBERFHELE
ES

RE &A@ R E E

CEX TR
TREENSRABGBERERIZE
P~ R A ED R R B At 2 E K
AR RE RRAFESIRRNMER PR
o




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A W R
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2. "R ()
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(Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.
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Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss.

Purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established,
except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a
recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which
case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are not subject to
impairment assessment.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Dividends on the equity investments are also
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a
financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from
the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if
the economic characteristics and risks are not closely
related to the host; a separate instrument with the same
terms as the embedded derivative would meet the
definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded
derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change
in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies
the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a
reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value
through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative
is required to be classified in its entirety as a financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (‘ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information. The Group considers
that there will be a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Continued)

General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 12 months past due. The
Group has rebutted the 90 days past due presumption of
default based on reasonable and supportable information,
including the Group’s credit risk control practices and
the historical recovery rate of financial assets over 90
days past due. However, the Group may also consider a
financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or payables, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and
other payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(Continued)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and
other payables, and borrowings) (Continued)

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in the
statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the
ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy
as set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (i) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised.

Convertible bonds

The component of convertible bonds that exhibits
characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability in
the statement of financial position, net of transaction
costs. On issuance of convertible bonds, the fair value of
the liability component is determined using a market rate
for an equivalent non-convertible bond; and this amount
is carried as a long term liability on the amortised cost
basis until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The
remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion
option that is recognised and included in shareholders’
equity, net of transaction costs. The carrying amount of
the conversion option is not remeasured in subsequent
years. Transaction costs are apportioned between the
liability and equity components of the convertible bonds
based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability
and equity components when the instruments are first
recognised.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair
value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE—-F=—/NF=A=+—HI FZ

2. "R ()
2.4 BREFHRE @)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out
basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished
goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value
is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value on an individual property basis.
Cost includes all development expenditure, applicable
borrowing costs and other direct costs attributable to
such properties. Net realisable value is determined with
reference to the sales proceeds of properties sold in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable estimated
selling expenses and other estimated costs to make the
sale or by management estimates, based on prevailing
market conditions.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-
term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally
within three months that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value and held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in the statement of
profit or loss.

INCOME TAX

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the jurisdictions/
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
HAMBHEME

Year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE—-F=—/NF=A=+—HI FZ

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

2. "R ()
2.4 FREFBK (@)

i % B (&)
FAREHEEERLSRRAETER
BEE B TERAIN

s HWEERLERBERBECER ZHR
E—REBEBEH IR HF
PHAZEESRE BERERS
By - 1 & 5 A 2 R AR B B S &S
B EYE B ELHETRER
BR ARG ZEE &

o HEMBARMBEANRTRERH
ZEANERHZRMS  WMERE
RO R RIER RERER
RAIERFRATEE T 2RO E -

BERERAEEDRAAANIIRERZ
£ BFENRPARAE L RERKRE
FATHIA B R M HE SR M DA RT HUR B s 2
£ FENKRPARAEL AR HEHR
TR 5 18 R J& R (E A 3H PR AR T A AR -
HELA T BB 9D -

o HEABAMREREER ZIET
MBEE R EHNE—RIF
BEGAFIXHTIIHREE
HBE MEERSE WEsHin
MR RPN BRI ELE
BT eEEREFRRR L AIHNRE
R M

o HEMBARNMBEARTRERH
ZARERERME ELHA
BEZERENERFZRNAER
7 2R AT ¢ [B] 2 E By 2= A A AR IR
S B AR 048 FI) A PR o



Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements
LA W R M

Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—/F=H=+—HILFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
INCOME TAX (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it
is recognised as income on a systematic basis over
the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed. When the grant relates to
an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income
account and is released to the statement of profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset or deducted from the carrying amount of
the asset and released to the statement of profit or loss
by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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2. "R ()
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the
Group with a significant financial benefit for more than one
year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or
less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #Z-ZFZpF=H=+—

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

()

(i)

(i)

(v)

V)

(i)

Restaurant operations

Revenue from restaurant operations is recognised
at the point in time when/as control of the asset
(a promised good or service) is transferred to the
customer.

Bakery operations

Revenue from the bakery operations is recognised
at a point in time when/as control of the asset (a
promised good or service) is transferred to the
customer.

Sale of food products

Revenue from the sale of food products is
recognised at a point in time when/as control of the
asset (a promised good or service) is transferred
to the customer, generally on delivery of the food
products.

Hotel operations

Revenue from hotel operations is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligations,
as the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Property management services

Revenue from property management services is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-
line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group.

Sale of properties

Revenue from the sale of completed properties is
recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains the control of the completed properties,
being the point when the legal title of the completed
property is passed to the customer and the
collection of the consideration is probable.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #EZ=-F=F=H=+—HI FE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. @E UK ()
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 & k & 3 B3 ()
(Continued)
REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued) WA R (8
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) EFAHWA (8)
(vii)  Property agency services i) Y ECEE R
Commission income from property agency services %%1&@%&%2@%%)\)’53@%%
is recognised at a point in time when the services Rz REER A —RARXS
are rendered which is generally the time when the BHEBRERBE R F'ﬂ

transacting parties first come into an agreement.

Revenue from other sources ® B H A K2 A

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis e WAL B AT B R ERR o I
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not FEFURR —IHEH AR 2 ] FHEN
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in FREEE 2 GTHRBRARKA -

the accounting period in which they are earned.

OTHER INCOME bW A

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using FMEWATEREARER T A Z AR
the effective interest method by applying the rate that FHIEREAME (ER) BEFrARRE
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over TR ERMRESREE 2 REFE
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter Z R (A ERAN R AR EG B R
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of R

the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ AR B T R AR 3R B AR B AN B2 B
right to receive payment has been established, it is T IR B BN SRR A BEERA
probable that the economic benefits associated with the AEB LK CHEEN EHFTERE
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the o

dividend can be measured reliably.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES aH AR

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is BHEBEEASEEEEBE R RG
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from AT B B P A S A B B (AR T
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods ERE)ER aHNBEREAEERETE
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue AR AWA (BNEEEBEE MR
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., B2EGRIETEPE) -

transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme. Eligible
participants receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby eligible participants render
services in exchange for equity instruments (“equity-
settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge
or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because
non-market performance and/or service conditions
have not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether
the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

DA 1% B 5 3 fF o

RS e JE TR 5 A AR 1 3FE B I 22D
ERRFEZEBERE BELMEX
FiRMF 2 R ERIBRAREH &R E
BeEa T AHE 2 REMR D
MISERGHERRNELENE R Z
R {E AR {A B AR D AR B 2 LA AR
18188 I AR R AR 755 40 M5 - 198 BBAE
FEER BB IR o R IEP TS AR KRB
iRt FERB IR T RN R 2 A F
(IR NI NG

RN IETIHE M, HIRTS G R L&
MR ARREBZEBTEEA R
X B REEE TS NIERERT
- REFTA H AR, SRR R
BERER TwmEaFRBRTRES
EK BRSPS RER/CRE-

HEREEER ZRRERMEE R
REGRTE KPR ERRES
ARG AT B B8 2 7K o BESI - A

B RERSN 2B FEEAIEM:
SHEEHREAMA S RIEHRALFE
FHERF

fiei 4 2 A BB DR AT 3H - BUR R ER
AHEHEE A RAER K TR
B2 Fx - R ZIRER - B IEARREE
PN 6% 18 24 8 B 4% ) 8 1B 1 I 5 BB AR 1
REfEERD - AT - ER THRBREC
AR YRR EAREESYE
REERY - R R 8H 2 22 3 52 R - 198
R R RE R E - — ATER P -



Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements
LA W R M

Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.

OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in central pension schemes (the “CP Schemes”)
operated by the respective local municipal governments.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their covered payroll expenses to the CP
Schemes to fund their benefits. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the CP Schemes is to pay the
ongoing required contributions under the CP Schemes.
Contributions under the CP Schemes are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the CP Schemes.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

2. "R ()
2.4 BERKEFF K (@)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
and associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong
dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end
of the reporting period and their statements of profit or
loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the average
exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the
differences are attributable to non-controlling interests. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in
the reserve relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
HAMBHEME

Year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE—-F=—/NF=A=+—HI FZ

2,

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rate ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to CIT in the PRC. As a result of
the fact that certain matters relating to CIT have not been
confirmed/determined by the relevant tax authorities,
objective estimates and judgements based on currently
enacted tax laws, regulations and other related policies,
and interpretations and practices in respect thereof are
required in determining the provision for income taxes to
be made. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts originally recorded, the
differences will have an impact on the income tax and tax
provisions in the period in which the differences realise.
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Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—/F=H=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. ERGEAE kA

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Estimates for net realisable values of properties
under development and properties held for sale

The Group assesses the carrying amounts of properties
under development and properties held for sale according
to whether their net realisable values are lower than
their costs, with their net realisable values based on the
realisability of these properties taking into account, inter
alia, management’s estimates of the expected selling price
based on prevailing market conditions, less applicable
estimated selling expenses and other estimated costs to
make the sale, and the estimated costs to be incurred
to completion. As at 31 March 2024, the carrying
amounts of the Group’s properties under development
and properties held for sale were approximately
HK$314,303,000 (2023: HK$321,756,000) and
HK$408,789,000 (2023: HK$449,774,000), respectively.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which
the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows. The carrying
amount of goodwill at 31 March 2024 was approximately
HK$28,162,000 (2023: HK$52,581,000). Further details
are given in note 16 to the financial statements.
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #Z=—F—/JF=H=+—HIFFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The Group engaged a firm of independent professionally
qualified valuers to perform the valuations of the
investment properties of the Group at the end of the
reporting period.

The valuation of investment properties involves significant
estimations and assumptions, including, among others,
the estimated rental values and capitalisation rates for the
income capitalisation approach and the estimated market
price for the direct comparison approach.

The carrying amount of investment properties of
the Group as at 31 March 2024 was approximately
HK$2,232,073,000 (2023: HK$2,329,752,000). Further
details, including the key assumptions used for fair
value measurement, are given in note 14 to the financial
statements.
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Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—/F=H=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
Non-financial assets are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on, inter
alia, available data from binding sales transactions in an
arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax
planning strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax
assets related to recognised tax losses at 31 March
2024 was HK$19,477,000 (2023: HK$19,570,000).
The amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 March
2024 was HK$568,973,000 (2023: HK$501,786,000).
Further details are contained in note 31 to the financial
statements.
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Year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE—-F=—/NF=A=+—HI FZ

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EARGEAE kA

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on financial
assets at amortised cost

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. At each reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s
trade receivables is disclosed in note 22 to the financial
statements.

The Group uses the general approach to calculate ECLs
on financial assets at amortised cost other than trade
receivables, which are determined with reference to,
inter alia, the estimation of the amount and timing of
future cash flows and collateral values when determining
impairment losses and the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a
number of factors, change in which can result in different
levels of allowances.
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Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and
has two reportable operating segments as follows:

(@ the restaurant, food and hotel segment which
engages in the operations of hotel, restaurant and
food businesses; and

(b) the property investment and development segment
which comprises the development and sale of
properties and the leasing of residential, commercial
and industrial properties.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance
assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit/(loss), which is a measure
of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax. The adjusted profit
before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s profit
before tax except that bank interest income, unallocated
other income and gains, net, finance costs as well as
corporate and unallocated expenses are excluded from
such measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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Year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE—-F=—/NF=A=+—HI FZ

4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEHHER @)
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-_Z_-_NME=RA=+—HLFE
Restaurant, Property
food and investment and
hotel development Total
g8 NERE
BERREE REE @t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TER TEr
Segment revenue (note 5) DI (FiFES5)
Revenue from external customers RENPRF 2 BA 559,291 102,565 661,856
Intersegment revenue SEBEZ WA 2,751 7,682 10,433
562,042 110,247 672,289
Reconciliation: 58D -
Elimination of intersegment revenue WisEH B2 WA (10,433)
Total revenue LGN 661,856
Segment results AEHEE (73,781) (45,087 (118,868)
Reconciliation: A -
Bank interest income RATH B WA 10,607
Unallocated other income and gains, net 7 7 it E I A Je 5 -
FE 11,762
Corporate and unallocated expenses PERRAEX T (40,487)
Finance costs R A (127,036)
Loss before tax BRF AT E R (264,022)




Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements
BAMBHEME

Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

and equipment.

4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BE»HER (90
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2024 (Continued) BE-_ZT-_NF=A=+—HLEFE
(&)
Restaurant, Property
food and investment and
hotel development Total
28 MERE
RERERE REE @t
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TER TER TEx
Other segment information HitrpHER:
Changes in fair value of investment REMECATEES:
properties, net i - 38,047 38,047
Share of losses of associates [EEHE A REE - 64,870 64,870
Other interest income HiF 2 WA - (17,976) (17,976)
Impairment of trade receivables, net EWE G ZmE  F58 2,943 - 2,943
Reversal of impairment of other Hitt R FRERE
recelvables, net ik - (163) (163)
Impairment of goodwil BERE 24,419 - 24,419
Depreciation of property, plant and NE BERXEINE
equipment
- segment - 53,499 12,742 66,241
- unallocated Ny 2,189
68,430
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZINE 38,354 = 38,354
Capital expenditure BARRX
- segment - 26,323 10,948 37,2711
- unallocated xR 2,379
39,650*
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant * BEAFXBIERAEDE BENLEE-
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Year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE—-F=—/NF=A=+—HI FZ

4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BE»HER (90
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE T -_ZF-A=+—HIFE
Restaurant, Property
foodand  investment and
hotel development Total
R RBE RER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT AT AT
Segment revenue (note 5) WA (FiEES5)
Revenue from external customers REMPEP ZBA 574,461 109,021 683,482
Intersegment revenue AEFEZBWA 2,106 4,661 6,767
576,567 113,682 690,249
Reconciliation: BTl
Elimination of intersegment revenue HisE D B2 A (6,767)
Total revenue BRA 683,482
Segment results DWEE 8,970 (96,642) (87,672)
Reconciliation: SHED -
Bank interest income RITH B WA 3,528
Unallocated other income and gains, net & 2 At £ i Y A J 25 -
R 2,772
Corporate and unallocated expenses TERRAEX (19,790)
Finance costs B RSB A (84,283)
Loss before tax B ATER (185,445)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4., BETHE R (a0
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2023 (Continued) BE-_ZTZ-_=ZF=ZA=Z+—HILFE
(&)
Restaurant, Property
food and  investment and
hotel development Total
ER- MERE
R RBE RERE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THT
Other segment information Hittn HER
Changes in fair value of investment REMECATEES:
properties, net i - 90,003 90,003
Share of losses of associates FEfRE & A RER - 48,066 48,066
Other interest income HinF 2 WA - (33,397) (33,397)
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of BB ZEFZRE
trade receivables, net (RERE) F8E 4,235 (1,737) 2,498
Impairment of other receivables, net Hi R ZORE  F8 - 18,373 18,373
Impairment of goodwil HERE 11,889 - 11,889
Depreciation of property, plant and nE BERSETE
equipment
- segment - 67,517 23,952 91,469
- unallocated Vol 1,718
93,187
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEEZIE 39,682 332 40,014
Capital expenditure BARRX
- segment - 99,789 1,261 101,050
- unallocated Vol -
101,050*
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant * BEARALTBEREVE BEREER

and equipment and investment properties. BEWE-
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEHBER (@)
INFORMATION (Continued)
GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

(a) Revenue from external customers

18 & R
(@) KEMBERFZWA

2024 2023

—BoNEF —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

THERT FHET

Hong Kong BB 229,051 285,742
Mainland China Fh B K B 432,805 397,740
661,856 683,482

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

BRI AERTIRIER P E 2

[ € e

b) FERBHEE

2024 2023
—E-MmE —E =4

HK$’000 HK$’000

FH T FHET

Hong Kong B 1,055,291 913,415
Mainland China B K FE 3,449,834 3,792,683
4,505,125 4,706,098

The non-current asset information above is based
on the locations of the assets and excludes financial
instruments and deferred tax assets.
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Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEZHER @)
INFORMATION (Continued)
INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR FHFEEP &R
CUSTOMERS
No revenue from any single external customer accounted BHE_ZT-_NFRZTZ=F=A
for 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue for the years =+—HULEFE WEKREEME—H
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. P 2 WA AR R B A2 10%5k A
J: o
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA-~H MU A R F#
GAINS, NET
REVENUE PN
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADHTIAT
2024 2023
—E-NE —EC-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Revenue from contracts with KEEFEHZ KA
customers
Income from restaurant, food and B R MBEEBKRA
hotel businesses 559,291 574,461
Proceeds from the sale of properties, 5% %)% A5 708 -
property management service MEEERBBAR
income and commission income AU A 2,293 12,976
561,584 587,437
Revenue from other sources XK G E KR WA
Gross rental income el A@E58 100,272 96,045
661,856 683,482
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Year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE—-F=—/NF=A=+—HI FZ

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA~ HAbde A Rl is o i 8
GAINS, NET (Continued) (%)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH KEEFAHZHA
CUSTOMERS
(i) Disaggregated revenue information i) WAZEEHR
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE-_E_PNEFE=FA=+—HI
FE
Property
investment
Restaurant, and
food and hotel development Total
ER-BRER MERER
Segments BIE BE @it
R HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TER TER TER
Types of goods or services ERBREESE
Restaurant operations BHEE 315,653 - 315,653
Bakery operations HBERRE 132,336 - 132,336
Sale of food products RmiHE 86,110 - 86,110
Hotel operations BEEE 25,192 - 25,192
Property management services W% IR - 1,438 1,438
Sale of properties MEHE - 855 855
Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERFA K 2 @Y
customers 559,291 2,293 561,584
Geographical markets WETS
Hong Kong e 211,755 - 211,755
Mainland China HE A 347,536 2,293 349,829
Total revenue from contracts with ~ REBRFP & HZ B
customers 559,291 2,293 561,584
Timing of revenue recognition W A TR
At a point in time RE R 534,099 855 534,954
Over time B B ] 25,192 1,438 26,630

Total revenue from contracts with ~ REEBP AKX 7 B A
customers 559,291 2,293 561,584
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Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA~ H AW A R & - #
GAINS, NET (Continued) (#)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH KEEFAHZHA (1)
CUSTOMERS (Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information i) WAZEER (50
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_FE-_ZF=A=+—HIFF
E
Property
investment
Restaurant, and
food and hotel development Total
ER-Rm MERER
Segments BE R @t
28 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT AT
Types of goods or services ERRREESR
Restaurant operations BHRILE 270,267 - 270,267
Bakery operations MeELE 129,776 = 129,776
Sale of food products RmiE 153,481 - 153,481
Hotel operations BELE 20,937 - 20,937
Property management services MEE R R - 1,148 1,148
Sale of properties MERE - 11,828 11,828
Total revenue from contracts with ~ REBRF &2 B
customers 574,461 12,976 587,437
Geographical markets WETS
Hong Kong e 217,936 - 217,936
Mainland China B A 356,525 12,976 369,501
Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERFA K 2 BUA
customers 574,461 12,976 587,437
Timing of revenue recognition W A 2B
At a point in time RE— R 553,524 11,828 565,352
Over time B b ] 20,937 1,148 22,085

Total revenue from contracts with ~ REEFE A4 2 @I
customers 574,461 12,976 587,437




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A W R

Year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE—-F=—/NF=A=+—HI FZ

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA~HAMW AR FH#
GAINS, NET (Continued) (%)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH KBEEPAHZRA (80
CUSTOMERS (Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information i) WAZEER (50
(Continued)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue TXHINKRERFAEHZWAE Y
from contracts with customers to the amounts EREEZ SR HER:

disclosed in the segment information:

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE_E_mMFE=/A=+—HI
FE
Property
investment
Restaurant, and
food and hotel development Total
B -RAR MERER
Segments BIE BE @t
R HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THT TET THT
Revenue from contracts with ~ REEFAHNZKA
customers
External customers IR 559,291 2,293 561,584
Intersegment revenue AEEBA 2,751 - 2,751

562,042 2,293 564,335
Intersegment adjustments and 7 ER R EH R B 85
eliminations (2,751) - (2,751)

Total revenue from contracts with ~ REBF A4 2 W A%
customers 559,291 2,293 561,584
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BAMBHEME

Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA~ H AW A R & - #
GAINS, NET (Continued) (#)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH KEEPGHZRA (80)
CUSTOMERS (Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information i) WAZEER (50
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023 P E = F = HA=+—HIF
FE
Property
investment
Restaurant, and
food and hotel development Total
ER-Rm MERER
Segments BE R @t
28 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT AT
Revenue from contracts with ~ REEFAHZKA
customers
External customers IBEP 574,461 12,976 587,437
Intersegment revenue A EPEBA 2,106 - 2,106

576,567 12,976 589,543
Intersegment adjustments and 73 0 8 B g
eliminations (2,106) - (2,106)

Total revenue from contracts with ~ RBZPA K Z W A&
customers 574,461 12,976 587,437
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Year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE—-F=—/NF=A=+—HI FZ

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA~ H A A Rk % 0 ¥
GAINS, NET (Continued) (%)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH KEEFEHZHA )
CUSTOMERS (Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information i) WAZEER (50
(Continued)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue TRETRRARNHRE ABRERTAR
recognised in the current reporting period that were WEPUzEHEBEZWASRE -

included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period.

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Revenue recognised that was st AR RE BV 2
included in contract liabilites at & #BEZ
the beginning of the reporting B MR A
period:
Restaurant, food and hotel ZH-RMNMBE 14,153 13,796
Property investment and MERERER
development 1,942 7,168
16,095 20,964
(i) Performance obligations (i) J& & &1t
Information about the Group’s performance EBEAEBRAORECERB M
obligations is summarised below: ™~
Restaurant operations B E
The performance obligation is generally satisfied BAOBEE—MRRERIRBEEE
at the point in time when/as goods or services are HIFEFRER -TENEE, B
transferred/provided to a customer. Payment of the SPGB ek RS 2 12 il i —
transaction price is generally due at the point the MAXNRZGEE-

customer purchases/obtains control of the promised
goods or services.
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Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA~ H it A Rk ss o iF#
GAINS, NET (Continued) (%)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH KBEEFAHZHA ()
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations (continued)

(i) F&HEAT (8

Bakery operations

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
at the point in time when/as goods or services are
transferred/provided to a customer. Payment of the
transaction price is generally due at the point the
customer purchases/obtains control of the promised
goods or services.

Sale of food products

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
upon delivery of the products to the customers
and payment is generally due within 30 to 90 days,
extending to a longer period for major customers,
from the date of delivery, except for new customers
or certain food products, where payment in advance
is normally required.

Hotel operations

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
over time as services are provided and payment
is generally due when the services have been
rendered.

Property management services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered. Property management service
contracts are for periods of one to eight years and
payment in advance is normally required.

Sale of properties

In respect of the sale of completed properties, the
performance obligation is satisfied at a point in
time when the legal title of the completed property
is obtained by the customer. Payment of the
transaction price is generally made in accordance
with the terms of the respective sale and purchase
agreements.

TS E
BRHEET BN ERIREEET
BEEEER - ZEFPNBE BUSH
B o SRS 2 AR IR — AR 2R
X5 ER-

R &
BHEE—RRAR PR ERE
ER - — MR E B1%30290H
AR (FERFEEREERE
BR) - EMRPHETRMBRIN H
BESEBELK

B AT &

JBHIE AT — R B A AR 7% B i B )
EK R R E IR HRSRE R
%q o

VEEEIRFE
BHORERREREREREEZ
K-MEREBRGENRB—FE
NE WBEFEERMNK-

YEHE

MRTHMEZHEMS  BHEME
REFBBERIMEZEENE
RZEHAMIEN X HER RS
REREHES B2 ERRMAT e
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Year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE—-F=—/NF=A=+—HI FZ

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA~ H bW A R r 5 - i #
GAINS, NET (Continued) (%)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH KEEPGHZRA ()
CUSTOMERS (Continued)
(ii) Performance obligations (continued) (i) B&HEM (8
Property agency services W FE IR
The performance obligation is satisfied when the BHE ER R R ER - K
services have been rendered and payment is —Ae A% B BIREET30H A EIHR -
generally due within 30 days from the agreement
date.
OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET HAb A Rocsm o A
An analysis of other income and gains, net is as follows: HaA RS FEOITET
2024 2023
—EWE ===
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Bank interest income RITFB WA 10,607 3,528
Investment interest income JEF BWA 3,926 2,081
Other interest income H At A B HA 17,976 33,397
Dividend income from financial assets EAFEIEREERERT
at fair value through profit or loss RIBZEMEEL
iR 2 A 1,654 3,323
Gain on lease modification MEERT 2 Wz 215 733
Gain on lease termination HIEEE 2 W - 2,115
Government subsidies* BT #8 Bh* - 10,199
Others Hh 14,336 12,282
48,714 67,658
* For the year ended 31 March 2023, government subsidies * HE-Z-=F=-A=1+—RALFE"
mainly represented subsidies received in connection Tk T 785 B 2 2B 4 Ui B B 4 R T K

with the support from the “Anti-epidemic Fund” and
“Employment Support Scheme” of the Government of the

BERF R RES ]| R [R7ET

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. There were 8 XHAROMA - SRR MAA R
no unfulfiled conditions or contingencies relating to these AR B R E W B RHT EE =

subsidies. b=
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Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

6. LOSS BEFORE TAX 6. Fx Bl A s A
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBERBAESBER, (GTA) AT
(crediting): I8
2024 2023
—EomE —E=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
B sx FET FET
Cost of inventories sold and services B &7 E & E IR RH% 2 A
provided 398,069 384,589
Depreciation of property, ME BEREBZE
plant and equipment 13 68,430 93,187
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FFAEEEZITE 15(a) 38,354 40,014
COVID-19-related rent concessions 18 A ¥ COVID-19/8 @ &
from lessors BR 15(c) - (1,000)
Lease payments not included inthe Kt AHEBEHEZ
measurement of lease liabilities HERK 15(c) 19,638 6,313
Auditor’s remuneration™ ZERET B & 3,831 3,659

Employee benefit expense (excluding 1& & & 75 % (= E
directors’ remuneration (note 8)):  (HTEE8) BR4N) #

Wages, salaries and bonuses TIE -Hakita 152,407 120,658
Pension scheme contributions™* iR {K$ 58/t Fo
(defined contribution schemes) (REHZKEE) 13,261 11,083
165,668 131,741
Foreign exchange differences, net  SMNEZ%E - F58 1,970 170
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) WA N &8 2 8E
of CRE#E)
- trade receivables, net* —-EWRE SRR S8 22 2,943 2,498
— other receivables, net* —H i EUER R SR 23 (163) 18,373
— property, plant and equipment % BEREE Rk
and right-of-use assets* EREEE" 7,856 -

Direct operating expenses (including BEFE S 2 IREMEEL 2
repairs and maintenance) arising EREEIH (BELEE
from rental-earning investment RIRE)
properties 414 501

Changes in fair value of investment & EWE A FEZE) F5E*
properties, net* 14 38,047 90,008
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Year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE—-F=—/NF=A=+—HI FZ

6. LOSS BEFORE TAX (Continued) 6. P Bais A s

2024 2023
1 -3 e
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B &x FET FET
Fair value losses, net:* RNTEEBE FE:
Financial assets at fair value BATEIIERNERR
through profit or loss REZeHEE 16,067 7,674
Fair value loss on redemption option & 0] A] # % (& A& 12
of convertible bonds* N EEE 30(b) 17,465 -
Loss on modification of [BEI Ak ES 2 BiE
convertible bonds* 30(b) 2,363 -
Loss on disposal/write-off of HEHETE BER
items of property, HBEE 2 BE SR
plant and equipment, net* 492 3,194
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEHB AR ZEE 37 1,644 -
Impairment of goodwill* B E 16 24,419 11,889
Release of deferred income” WA BRRR (401) (783)
** The auditors’ remuneration included Ernst & Young’s audit > RHENEBEL KGR EST 2
fee of HK$2,850,000 (2023: HK$2,850,000), and audit EET82850,0008 L (T ==
fees payable to other subsidiaries’ auditors in respect of 2,850,000/ 7T ) + AR FERIE S K
audit services provided for certain subsidiaries in Hong A E T M B A FR T AT RS M
Kong and Mainland China. R E BT B A R B AR 2 Tt & -
E Inclusive of an amount of HK$93,464,000 (2023: ¢

HK$95,995,000) classified under cost of inventories sold
and services provided.

Included in “Other expenses, net”, as appropriate, in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The release of deferred income is classified under cost of
inventories sold and services provided.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by
the Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

BRERIBACEFEREREREZ
X 793,464,000 L (Z T = = F:
95,995,000/ 7T ) Z & 58 °

SAAGEBEAREMAX  F8)
(mEm)A -

EEWARG D ERHETERAM
RHIRTEAAS

AER B R 0B X 30 08 Wy BT A
WARARER B Z HFKF -
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Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

FINANCE COSTS 7. MHEA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BB ADIAT

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest on bank borrowings RITIEEZF A 119,804 77,514
Interest on convertible bonds AR ESRZFE 2,193 2,079
Interest on lease liabilities HERGBEZHE 5,039 4,690
127,036 84,283

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. #HEM 2

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong

BEEBHARZAMERARES L™
MA(TEMARA])  -BBRREHE
383(1)@)" (b): () & (Mix kBB AR (HE
BEEFRER) BHIFE2REBEAFEE

Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Hong Kong =T
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Fees e 900 900
Other emoluments: Hihfi & :
Salaries and allowances e KoERL 10,223 10,984
Equity-settled share option expense AR 4&EE 2 BERER - 20
Pension scheme contributions RIR eI
(defined contribution scheme) (REHFKETED 185 179
10,408 11,183
11,308 12,083
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #Z=—F—/JF=H=+—HIFFE

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EHEM2 =
(Continued)
(A) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE A Br#frEs
DIRECTORS
The fees paid to independent non-executive REEESNBUIFRITESHEES N
directors during the year were as follows: T
2024 2023
—E-NE —E=F
Fees Fees
Hue e
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FHET
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles LS EAE 300 300
Mr. Wong See King =ERBEEAE 300 300
Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, SR EE I S A
Christopher 300 300
900 900
There were no other emoluments payable to the RNEFWEENBIIFNTESH
independent non-executive directors during the year HthHm (T _=F:|) -

(2023: Nil).
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Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EFHM L s
(Continued)
(B) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS B) HITES
Salaries Bonuses  Equity-settled Pension
and paid and  share option scheme Total
Fees allowances payable expense  contributions  remuneration
e 21 NREREE Bie
R REM ZBRE e e
e 41 AL X 3 Fot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FTET FTET TET FTET TET
2024 —E-ME
Executive directors: WIES:
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung ENBRAE - 1,253 - - 62 1,315
Mr. Ma Kai Yum SNREE - 2,029 - - 70 2,099
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John SksaEE - 806 - - 17 823
Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen  BRIAREL & - 1,532 - - 18 1,550
Mr. Liang Rui RELAE - 3,864 - - - 3,864
Mr. Ma Hung Man* Py e - 739 - - 18 757
- 10,223 - - 185 10,408
Salaries Bonuses  Equity-settled Pension
and paid and share option scheme Total
Fees allowances payable expense contributions remuneration
e Bt MEREE BRE
R RIER ZBRE el Be
e e pi2an 53 3% #mE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHT TR FTHT FTHT THT THT
2023 —EC-=F
Executive directors: WITESE:
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung ENEEE = 1,364 S S 62 1,426
Mr. Ma Kai Yum ENREE = 2,279 = = 70 2,349
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John SB#ELE - 843 - - 18 861
Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen ~ BRIAHEL & = 1,500 = 20 18 1,538
Mr. Liang Rui s = 4,558 = = - 4,558
Mr. Ma Hung Man* Bl - 440 - - 1 451
= 10,984 = 20 179 11,183
* Mr. Ma Hung Man was appointed as an executive * %%Y?&iﬁ@ig::iﬂﬂ AN
director on 8 September 2022. HEZERNITES
There was no arrangement under which a director FAWBEEHRHFABHREIM
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during Fe k-

the year.
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #Z=—F—/JF=H=+—HIFFE

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION

The five highest paid employees during the year included
four (2023: four) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration
for the year of the remaining one (2023: one) non-director,

9. hfikm#HEAZHM

-

RAFE  AfikaFEERENS (=
T =F:R)EE HFEMFEHT
REXKHFE BT —B(ZTZ=%F:
—R)FEF FEBITBRABZESH

non-chief executive highest paid employee are as follows: EEZHMFBENT :
2024 2023
11 -3 T =F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Salaries e 1,294 1,372

The remuneration of the non-director, non-chief executive
highest paid employee for the year fell within the band of
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 (2023: HK$1,000,001 to
HK$1,500,000).

B FFTBTHABZESHES
A 2 B R 71,000,001 T 2
1,500,000 THIEBEA (T = =F:

1,000,001 7£ &1,500,00078 7T ) °
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Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

10. INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate
of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for
one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity
under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first
HK$2,000,000 (2023: HK$2,000,000) of assessable
profits of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2023:
8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed
at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%). Taxes on profits assessable in
Mainland China have been calculated at the relevant rates
of tax prevailing in Mainland China in which the Group
operates.

10. Fr 5 B

BEENEGHIBEBEFAREBBEE M
SR BE M IR16.5% (Z B - =4
16.5% ) C R ERE - HEREEH
—HEMBRFAFGB M ENTH
ABRER - ZME QR E2,000,000
I (ZF = = : 2,000,000/ 7T) &9
ERRABEHE B8.25% (T ==
F:8.25%) HRTHERBFEREA
16.5% (ZE=_=F:16.5%) - £ B
B K B 1B 2 FE R B K 2 BRIE 0 3%
PBIRRE 2 BRI TR R E

2024 2023
—E-mEF T =F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Current — Hong Kong BVE— & &
Charge for the year REEZH 773 241
Current — Mainland China BIVHA — A B K
Corporate income tax RS/ 22,356 21,059
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBERE (19,091) (11,655)
Deferred (note 31) B (HTEES1) (6,971) (25,357)
Total tax credit for the year AFEERIBE P BTE (2,933) (15,712)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #EZ=-F=F=H=+—HI FE

10. INCOME TAX (Continued) 10. Fi 15 B (a0
A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before BEBEEMEHEEARKRTAERER
tax at the Hong Kong statutory rate to the tax credit at the ZBBE A ERERNEAE 2 HBE
effective tax rate is as follows: FERRINTS
2024 2023
—E-mE —ET-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHT
Loss before tax MR AT E 1B (264,022) (185,445)
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory BREBEETE16.5%
tax rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) ZEZ=%:165%)
FTEHBIE (43,563) (30,598)
Effect of higher tax rates ﬁﬁ%fﬁﬁ”‘ﬁﬂ%@%ﬁﬁﬁﬁz
for specific provinces or enacted LISy R -2
by local authorities (284) (2,031)
Adjustments in respect of current tax B EIfE 2
of previous periods BN IE AR (19,091) (11,655)
Losses attributable to associates FEAGELZ N A EE 10,704 7,931
Income not subject to tax BARBUA (714) (4,151)
Expenses not deductible for tax A FE X 35,529 16,462
Tax losses utilised from previous FRBTH/
periods IBEE (2,722 (3,520)
Tax losses not recognised RIERKBIIAEE 17,208 11,850
Tax credit at the Group’s effective rate 1% 7N & B B B i &
AR IR S (2,933) (15,712)
The share of tax credit attributable to associates DEEEBERRZMEBBER AL
amounting to approximately HK$2,962,000 (2023: 2,962,000 L (ZEZ=FHIFE R
HK$8,470,000) is included in “Share of losses of 8,470,000/%7T ) Bt Adr&iBmak [ FE(L

associates” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. e N EIEIE] Mo
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Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2024
(2023: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is
based on the loss for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 1,571,359,420 (2023:
1,571,359,420) in issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share
amounts presented for the years ended 31 March 2024
and 2023 in respect of a dilution as the impact of the
convertible bonds and share options outstanding had an
anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share amounts
presented.

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are
based on:

11.

12.

i &
EZgTEAMBE_T-_WEF=
E+—BLEEFERGRBRE (=
—=FE)

B w) % kR A O\ A
5 fx i 18

A

BREAGESENREIAREER

EEEABEAFEEEBRFERNEET

AR 2 N AE 19 801,571,359,4208%
—E - =4%:1,571,359,4200% ) st & -

B 1 AR TR Y AT #0054
23N EREAEESBAERES
TR WIEREERAREE T
ER-E-SHE=F=+—BIFEM
I EREREIERRE

FIER R EE BB TIRIEA T &G
&=

>

2024 2023
—E-mEF —T=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT F#ET

Loss BB
Loss attributable to ordinary equity ~ AR EFRER R #EEF

holders of the parent, used in the paSYNS S e

basic and diluted loss per share BE AELEE

calculation (250,250) (175,680)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE—-F=—/NF=A=+—HI FZ

1«

12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE PARENT (Continued)

12. 82 8 &8

15 ﬂ&%ﬁﬁAWE{ﬁ
=91 ZiRC

Number of shares

BB
2024 2023
—E-mE —E=F
Shares B 12
Weighted average number of ARt ESRERNREE
ordinary shares in issue during JEHTEZ FRE T
the year used in the basic and AR N RE 8
dilutive loss per share calculation 1,571,359,420 | 1,571,359,420
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 13. ¥ - W B K&
EQUIPMENT
Furniture,
Hotel Landand  Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor Construction
properties buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
BE BER B
EENE IHRET  WEEE #E RERRE B EBRIR ok
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT THT FHL THT THT
31 March 2024 “E-mFE=R=t-H
At 1 April 2023: WZEZ=FMA—-A:
Cost or valuation BRAEREE 375,543 565,595 300,337 118,278 112,030 29,092 20271 1,521,146
Accumulated depreciation and ZHMERAE
impairment (161,574) (125,092  (177,479) (85,345) (86,295) (27,241) - (663,026)
Net carrying amount FEFE 213,969 440,503 122,858 32,933 25,735 1,851 20,271 858,120
At 1 April 2023 W-B-=4#mF-A 213,969 440,503 122,858 32,933 25,735 1,851 20,271 858,120
Additions RE - 327 29,989 3,879 2,476 2,079 - 39,650
Depreciation provided during FRTERE (I3T6)
the year (note 6) (9,806) (17,912 (21,341) (8,989) (8,690) (1,692) - (68,430)
Disposals/write-off HE /i (523) (5,781) (253) - (297) - - (6,854)
Impairment A - - (369) - (54) - s (423)
Transfer to assets held for sale EREHEHIELE (140,457) - (4,162) (32) (10,032) (161) - (154,844)
Exchange realignment EHAZ (11,254) (18,007) (5,180) (1,323) (1,035) (49) (1,143) (38,081)
At 31 March 2024, net of RZB-MmE
accumulated depreciation and ZA=t-R"
impairment BB RHTERAE 51,929 399,040 121,542 26,468 8,103 2,928 19,128 629,138
At 31 March 2024: i k3
=A=+-R:
Cost or valuation BRAELEE 72,351 527,367 298,378 107,451 81,580 25,286 19,128 1,131,541
Accumulated depreciation and ZEATERAE
impairment (20422)  (128,327)  (176,836) (80,983) (73,477) (22,358) - (502,403)
Net carrying amount EEFE 51,929 399,040 121,542 26,468 8,103 2,928 19,128 629,138
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13. ¥~ W K&l o

Year ended 31 March 2024 #HZ_—%

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Furniture,
Hotel Land and Leasehold Plantand  fixtures and Motor ~ Construction
properties buildings  improvements machinery equipment vehicles  in progress Total
HE % Rk i
BENE  LHREF NERE KE RERZE L) ERIR oE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEL THT FHET FET FHET TEL TAT TET
31 March 2023 ZE-=FZA=t-H
At 1 April 2022: R-B-—%#mA-R:
Cost or valuation BRAELEE 405,211 552,616 307,014 122,950 103,156 28,790 21,873 1,541,610
Accumulated depreciation and ZHMERAE
impairment (161,424)  (107976)  (176,779) (77,563) (92,427) (25,747) - (B41,910)
Net carrying amount REFE 243,787 444,640 130,241 45,387 10,729 3,043 21,873 899,700
At 1 April 2022 R-E-—#FWA—H 243,787 444,640 130,241 45,387 10,729 3,043 21,873 899,700
Additions B - 43,049 29,322 3,016 24,289 1,374 - 101,050
Depreciation provided during FRTERE (I3E6)
the year (note 6) (14,098) (24,695) (27,940) (15,582) 8,677) (2,195) = (93,187)
Disposals/write-off HE /i - (618) (4,716) S (1,307) (370) = (7,011)
Exchange realignment ERAE (15,720) (21,873) (4,049) 112 701 (1) (1,602) (42,432
At 31 March 2028, net of WZZ==%
accumulated depreciation and =A=+—-A"
impairment BB ETERRE 213,969 440,503 122,858 32,933 25,735 1,851 20,271 858,120
At 31 March 2023: N =
=A=t+-8:
Cost or valuation BRAESEE 375,543 565,595 300,337 118,278 112,030 29,092 20,271 1,521,146
Accumulated depreciation and ZHMERRE
impairment (161,574)  (125002)  (177.479) (85,345) (86,295) (27,241) = (663,026)
Net carrying amount REFE 213,969 440,503 122,858 32,933 25,735 1,851 20,271 858,120
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 13. W% -FhE k&

EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Certain of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings were
revalued at 31 March 1995 by independent professionally
qualified valuers at open market value based on their
then existing use. Since 1995, no further valuation of the
Group’s leasehold land and buildings has been carried
out as the Group has relied on the exemption, granted
under the transitional provisions as set out in paragraph
80AA of HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equijpment, from
the requirement to carry out further revaluations of its
property, plant and equipment which were stated at
valuation at that time.

Had these leasehold land and buildings been carried at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, their total carrying amount would have
been approximately HK$225,000 (2023: HK$327,000).

At 31 March 2024, certain of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment with a net carrying amount of
approximately HK$64,396,000 (2023: HK$98,321,000)
were pledged to secure certain banking facilities granted
to the Group (note 40).

BYSEXAERMGEMCRERRER
B EEEAATER-NANEF=A
=t REAKEETHELWRET
ETER -B-NANEFE AEEZHE
ErREFEEETE-SERL R
ARAKEFEREEEGTERIE6
S BE K AR T FEBOAAB T2
BRGXRHZ BB ZENERIZMG
BIRZYE BERRBETE—F
EfiZBRE-

Mz EHE T RIEFUUE LK AR
2T E RMERREBEAR EEK
MH{EEA A2250008 T (T - =4F:
327,000/ 7T) °

R-_E-_WNMF=ZA=+—H £~&£H
AR R 18 4964,396,0008 T (Z T - =
£ :98,321,0008 L) 2 &ETYX - KE
BRECEER - ERASEERRET
RITEE 2 R (FTzE40) -
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. £ &Y %
2024 2023
—E-NE —T=F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5T FERT TFAET
Carrying amount at beginning of R E 2 BREE @ R4 {E
year, at valuation 2,329,752 2,522,690
Transfers from prepayments 32 3= REL N B E] - 3,347
Disposal = (17,480) (48,200)
Net loss from fair value NFEREEE L
adjustments B EFRE 6 (38,047) (90,003)
Exchange realignment ME 5 38 & (42,152) (58,082)
Carrying amount at 31 March, at A=A =+—HZRHAE
valuation ®RitE 2,232,073 2,329,752

The Group’s investment properties consist of
three classes of asset, i.e., residential, commercial
and industrial properties, based on the nature,
characteristics and risks of each property. The
Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31
March 2024 based on valuations performed by HG
Appraisal & Consulting Limited (2023: HG Appraisal &
Consulting Limited), independent professionally qualified
valuers, at approximately HK$2,232,073,000 (2023:
HK$2,329,752,000). Each year, the Group’s management
decides to appoint which external valuer to be responsible
for the external valuations of the Group’s investment
properties. Selection criteria include market knowledge,
reputation, independence and whether professional
standards are maintained. The Group’s management has
discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions
and valuation results when the valuation is performed
for financial reporting. Certain investment properties are
leased to third parties under operating leases, further
summary details of which are included in note 15 to the
financial statements.

At 31 March 2024, the Group’s investment properties with
a carrying amount of approximately HK$1,850,240,000
(2023: HK$1,857,419,000) were pledged to secure
certain banking facilities granted to the Group (note 40).

Further particulars of the Group’s principal investment
properties are included on pages 247 to 252.

BESMEZELD FUHERRR K&
EREMER=-BEERR (BEFE=E-
BERTEVE)EAXR - R_ZT_UF
A=+ B AEBZREVER
BERBIEESERGEMEET G
FEBABRAR (ZEZ=F HEFT
HERERBERARETZHBEEM®AD
£2,232,073,0008 L (ZE - =%

2,329,752,000/% L) - BFE  AEEZ
EREATRTINBHEMEBELAER
WEMEZINPHE TR ERBEM
B BE BUMKESTHETEE
EE-AEEERERM S BHRET
HEREGEMTREERE RGELS
R-AETREMEDNRECERERTSE
=H E—IHEFRBEERMBEHRE
BFE150A o

RZE-_WME=ZA=+—H Z~EEBK
HE{E#)A1,850,240,000 T (—Z T ==
F:1,857,419,0008 L) 2R EMEE
ERH (EAAEEERE TIRITEE
Z R (MIEE40) ©

AEBESREMEZE—SHBER
E4TEDEDH o
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14. X&YW ¥ (&)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY A fE E %
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TRINRAEBIREMFE 2 A FEFHE
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties: B

Fair value measurement as at
31 March 2024 using
R-ZZ-ME=A=+-H
ERANTREETZATENE

Quoted
prices Significant  Significant
inactive  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
REBTE EATEE EAFTER
ZHE BAER BAE
(F-®) (B=8&) (B=8) #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TR TERT TERT TER

Hong Kong: B
Commercial properties BENE - - 124,400 124,400
Industrial properties T¥#M% - - 113,309 113,309
Residential properties FENE - - 27,600 27,600
Mainland China: SIEN
Commercial properties [GEZ/ES - - 1,853,940 1,853,940
Industrial properties I£9% - - 112,824 112,824

2,232,073 2,232,073
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14. L&Y % ()
NEHEE K 5

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

Fair value measurement as at
31 March 2023 using
RZZBZ=4=A=1—-H
FRANTREETZATERNE

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RERMS  EATEE EATIER
ZHE BAE BAE
(B—%) (F=&) (B=R) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER TR TET THET
Hong Kong: BB
Commercial properties HENE - - 143,100 143,100
Industrial properties IEN%E - - 119,190 119,190
Residential properties FEME - - 30,220 30,220
Mainland China: REIARE
Commercial properties HENZE - - 1,917,226 1,917,226
Industrial properties T¥#M% - - 120,016 120,016
- - 2,329,752 2,329,752

RER BEEBENEIME-REFE -
B2 AFEFERTERLE=RPEA
g (ZT=F &)

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2023: Nil).
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14. & W ¥ )

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued) NFHEEH s
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised BERE-RRAFEERAZ AFEE
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: EHEK:
Hong Kong Mainland China
E# PEIARE
Commercial Industrial Residential ~ Commercial Industrial

properties properties properties properties properties
BENE IEM% FEHE WENE IEM%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin T THx Tix Tix

Carrying amount at 1 April 2022 RZZ--_FNA-AZ
REE 148,700 161,336 29,740 2,060,200 122,714
Transfers EL4 = = 3,347 = =
Disposal hE - (48,200) = = =
Net gain/{loss) from fair value adjustments RiERH#EA A FEBE
recognised in profit or loss Wi/ (BB)FE (5,600) 6,054 (2,867) (93,879) 6,289
Exchange realignment EHA% - - - (49,095) (8,987)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2023and  WR=Z-=%F
1 April 2023 =R=t-Hk
“E-ZFNA-H
LEHE 143,100 119,190 30,220 1,017,226 120,016
Disposal e (17,480) - - - _
Net loss from fair value adjustments RERBRATERR
recognised in profit or loss BRFE (1,220) (5,881) (2,620) (27,890) (436)
Exchange realignment R - - - (35,396) (6,756)

Carrying amount at 31 March 2024 RZZZME
=A=1-H
LEEE 124,400 113,309 27,600 1,853,940 112,824




14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and
the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

Valuation techniques

fh i
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14. X EW ¥ (&)

Hong Kong:
BA:
Commercial properties

EESUES

Industrial properties

TEN%E

Residential properties

FENZ

Mainland China:
B

Commercial properties

EESYES

Industrial properties

TEN%E

Under the direct comparison approach, fair value is
estimated with reference to recent transactions for similar
properties in the proximity with adjustments for the
differences in transaction dates, building age, floor area,

Direct comparison approach

EENEE

Direct comparison approach

ERNEE

Direct comparison approach

ERNEE

Income capitalisation approach

LON- VN9

Income capitalisation approach

LON- VN9

2 F 8 & (a0
TRE MR EYEGEERR 2 (GERM
REB@AE:
Significant
unobservable inputs Range
EXTTHEEGAR gE
2024 2023
“BomE [ ZB-=F
Estimated market price HK$17,000 to | HK$15,000 to
(per square foot) HK$44,500 HK$45,000
st hE (B FHRR) 17,0008 E | 150008 L%
44,5008 1T 45,0007 7T
Estimated market price HK$2,200t0 | HK$2,250 to
(per square foof) HK$3,000 HK$3,260
fbstiE (B FTER) 2200872 | 22008LE
3,000 7T 3,260/ T
Estimated market price HK$5,700 to HK$6,700 to
(per square foof) HK$9,300 HK$10,000
fhstmfE (B FHRER) 5700872 | 67008LE
9,300 7T 10,0008 7T
Estimated rental value HK$32 to HK$46 to
(per square metre per month) HK$464 HK$§63
st HE (B8R KEA) RETE 4ETLE
4643 1T 463E T
Gapitalisation rate 2.8% t06.0% | 2.8% to 6.0%
BRLE 2.8%%6.0% 2.8%%6.0%
Estimated rental value HK$16 to HK$17 to
(per square metre per month) HK$17 HK$21
st AE (8ERKEA) 1682 17ELE
178 20T
Gapitalisation rate 7.0% 7.0%
ERfLE

BREBEEERLEE RAFED2EHIR
PEZ MM ZEHRE LRATE
LBYEEROME X5 AH Bk
BEEEEZERELAE-

etc. between the comparable properties and the subject

properties.
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14.

15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

Under the income capitalisation approach, fair value is
estimated by taking into account the current rent passing
of the property interests and the reversionary potential of
the tenancy.

A significant increase/decrease in the estimated rental
value and the estimated market price per square foot/
square metre in isolation would result in a significant
increase/decrease in the fair value of the investment
properties. A significant increase/decrease in the
capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a significant
decrease/increase in the fair value of the investment
properties.

LEASES
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE

The Group has lease contracts for various leasehold
lands and properties used in its operations. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire the leased lands
from the owners with lease periods of 25 to 50 years,
and no ongoing payments will be made under the terms
of these land leases. Leases of properties generally have
lease terms between 1 and 35 years. Generally, the
Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the
leased assets outside the Group. There are several lease
contracts that include extension options, which are further
discussed below.

14.

15.

XEWE @

NI TE R om)

BB AEA(LE A FEDEEZY
s BHESKTERABE Y EEE
Hibste

fErHERGHATE (BFTR/ ¥
K)EBRIBEZIN, WO EBIREY
EHRXTEREBEM,HD BRLE
BEARIEN, RO BRIREMEN
RFERER D10

il

A% B AR R KHA
AEERNEENSERELIBRY
2 EREA N ARECRAEY
—RENFARNEERBE L A5
AR25EE0F - TR % + 1 & o
2 KB RS M HOR -
BENEHBRBEN T1E365F - — &
MmE AEETTAREEUSIALE
ERHREEAE - RRERENET
BRSO HBERIIMT -
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15. LEASES (Continued) 15. 8 =)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued) AEEEBKMA (8)
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) fE HHEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use rEEZEAEEREERFA
assets and the movements during the year are as BEHWT
follows:
Leasehold
lands  Properties Total
HEL L/ ES st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHT FHT
As at 1 April 2022 RZE-__FMHA—H 31,274 89,503 120,777
Additions NE - 57,642 57,642
Remeasurement on lease ~ E ¥t EMREEF]
modifications - 10,347 10,347
Termination of leases ME&L - (6,809) (6,809)
Depreciation charge (note 6) #1 & (fff#¥6) (3,035) (36,979) (40,014)
Exchange realignment PE 5 F % (2,234) (2,122) (4,356)

As at 31 March 2023 and RZE-_=F=H

1 April 2023 =t—BRZZE-=F
mA—H 26,005 111,582 137,587

Additions NE - 9,650 9,650
Remeasurement on lease ~ EH T EHEEET

modifications - 19,138 19,138
Transfer to assets held EREFELEEE

for sale (7,803) - (7,803)
Depreciation charge (note 6) #T & (ff}#¥6) (1,251) (37,103 (38,354)
Impairment pERIEL - (7,4393) (7,433)
Exchange realignment IE 5 % (1,454) (3,854) (5,308)
As at 31 March 2024 RZT e

=A=+—H” 15,497 91,980 107,477
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15. LEASES (Continued)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

15. 8 =)
AEBEERKMA (8)

(b) M & #fig
AEBZHERBREERFAE

movements during the year are as follows: EJR U
2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=
Lease Lease
liabilities liabilities
HESE HEAE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHT
Carrying amount at beginning R F #] 2 BRE A
of year 118,148 97,521
New leases MEE 9,511 57,019
Remeasurement on lease EFFTEREBE]
modifications 18,923 9,614
Termination of leases WIEHEE - (8,924)
Accretion of interest recognised F RNFER 2 T £ 1 18
during the year 5,039 4,690
Principal portion paid [RENENEA=55) (36,647) (33,727)
Interest paid BAIFIE (5,039) (4,690)
COVID-19-related rent A ¥ COVID-19
concessions from lessors HEEEER - (1,000)
Exchange realignment M 5 B (4,126) (2,355)
Carrying amount at 31 March ~ R=A=+—HZKEAEE 105,809 118,148
Analysed into: PRI
Current portion mENER 1A 34,747 36,366
Non-current portion JER B EB (D 71,062 81,782
105,809 118,148

HMEREBZIHADMEMBREK
By sE44rh 4R 5 -

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed
in note 44 to the financial statements.
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15. LEASES (Continued) 15. 8 =)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued) AEEEBARAN (5
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in (¢ EtABEREMEMMNE
relation to leases are as follows: BT :
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEARZNE 5,039 4,690
Depreciation of right-of-use TREEEZITE
assets 38,354 40,014
Expenses relating to short-term B 5 HAEHEH
leases A 19,638 6,313
COVID-19-related rent A ¥ COVID-19
concessions from lessors HEAHESER = (1,000)
Gain on lease modification/ MEB/RiEz =
termination (215) (2,848)
Impairment of right-of-use ERAEEEZRE
assets 7,433 -
Total amount recognised in FFABRENESRE
profit or loss 70,249 47,169
(d) Extension options (d) #2213 hE
The Group had several lease contracts that included rEEEB % TESEREEED
extension options. These options were negotiated MEER -EREEHE 7T ELEE
by management to provide flexibility in managing BUEEEERHEEEHRS
the leased-asset portfolio and they were aligned WHEAEENEBRRKRE—
with the Group’s business needs. Set out below are Blo TP T AL BRIERE 2
the undiscounted potential future rental payments TRz e EAR AE R B R IR Y
relating to periods following the exercise date of BERKRES SEHEENRILR
extension options that were not included in the lease FFAME RN
terms.
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$ 000
Payable within five years REFAENS FExT FAET
Extension options expected TEET T HEIT 2
not to be exercised EHRRERE - 3,326
(e) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note (e) MERETMILABENIMIBEHRRM T

38(c) to the financial statements. 38(C) 1 & °
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15. LEASES (Continued) 15. & (a)

THE GROUP AS A LESSOR

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14)
consisting of commercial properties, industrial properties
and residential properties in Hong Kong and Mainland
China under operating lease arrangements. The terms of
the leases generally require the tenants to pay security
deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments
according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental
income recognised by the Group during the year was
HK$100,272,000 (2023: HK$96,045,000), details of
which are included in note 5 to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2024 and 2023, the undiscounted lease
payments receivable by the Group in future periods under
non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as
follows:

A G W AR Rt HLA

AEERBCEHETHLRAREIREY
% (M314) BEALRER R B A R
MEAYE TAVERTEDE-HE
MiEFKBEERAR X NERIZSWR
BEREATAMEHARES A&
B 7 F AR B9 A 2 UL A /100,272,000
B IT (—F = =4 : 96,045,000/ 7T ) -
HABHR YRR EES ©

RZE-_NFER_T-_=F=A=1+—
B NEEREHEEHEPETY 2 A E
HEAS L E R R EARE FE Y 2 RBAIR
HERIBERT

2024 2023

—E-WE —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTET FHT

Within one year —FR 63,182 81,179
After one year but within two years ~ —FE{ERMEN 52,905 73,469
After two years but within three years FRFEER=FNR 33,802 53,501
After three years but within four years = F & {BRINF A 28,072 31,449
After four years but within five years  PUFZBRAFR 26,129 27,591
After five years hF% 56,425 83,432
260,515 350,621
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16. GOODWILL 16. 1 &

31 March 2024

—E-_ME=A=+—H

HK$’000
FHET
At 1 April 2023: RZTEZ=FWA—Q1:
Cost %N 85,172
Accumulated impairment BETRE (32,591)
Net carrying amount R FE 52,581
Cost at 1 April 2023, net of accumulated RZEZ=FWOA—HZKA"
impairment bk REHRVE 52,581
Impairment during the year (note 6) FRRME (K5E6) (24,419)
Cost at 31 March 2024, net of accumulated RZZE-NF=RA=+—HZKA"
impairment bk REFRVE 28,162
At 31 March 2024: RZZBEZMFE=RA=+—0:
Cost B AR 85,172
Accumulated impairment Z2iHRE (57,010)
Net carrying amount BREFE 28,162
31 March 2023 —E-=F=ZA=+—H
HK$’000
FET
At 1 April 2022: M-E-——&mA—A:
Cost %N 85,172
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE (20,702)
Net carrying amount FREEE 64,470
Cost at 1 April 2022, net of accumulated RZZTZZFWMA—B KA
impairment Mr REHRE 64,470
Impairment during the year (note 6) FRRME (K5E6) (11,889)
Cost at 31 March 2023, net of accumulated MR_E-_=ZF=ZA=+—B2ZKA&"
impairment Mer REHRE 52,581
At 31 March 2023: RZBZ=F=RA=+—8:
Cost B AR 85,172
Accumulated impairment R2iHRE (32,591)
Net carrying amount BREFE 52,581
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16. GOODWILL (Continued) 16. 7§ & (@)
IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL B Z
Goodwill acquired through business combinations is MEBSHAWEZAEEHEERT
allocated to the following cash-generating units for B EEBEMUERERR:

impairment testing:

e Mainland China food supply business; and e HEAKERMHEEER: K
e Hong Kong restaurant and food. o BEEHKRRM-
The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the SEESREELESEM 2 HEREEN
cash-generating units is as follows: ™
2024 2023
—E-NE —E_=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FHET
Mainland China food supply business B A BE & G 4 FE 3 75 9,989 9,989
Hong Kong restaurant and food BBEHERRE M 18,173 42 592
Carrying amount at 31 March R=A=+—BzKHEE 28,162 52,581
The Group’s recoverable amounts of the Hong Kong AEBEBERLERBEELASUR
restaurant and food cash-generating unit, and Mainland PREAERRUEEBREEAELM L
China food supply business cash-generating unit have AElEEEERABRESREEAER
been determined based on a value in use calculation BEZRAFHZMBREE BRZEER
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets/ EBRACFEREEFEEE - REans
forecasts covering a five-year period, approved by senior TEREA 2 TR ENF10%E13% (=
management. The discount rates applied to the cash flow EZ=F :NTF10%E14%) - BB AF
projections ranged from 10% to 13% (2023: ranged from HrhBEARERmMBEERReELS
10% to 14%). The growth rates used to extrapolate the UARBEAERRRRBACEASN L
cash flows of the Mainland China food supply business RERERNEREEN F2%E3% (=
cash-generating unit and the Hong Kong restaurant and T =F 1 2%%E3% ) HEITTEN -

food cash-generating unit beyond the five-year period are
ranging from 2% to 3% (2023: 2% to 3%).
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16. GOODWILL (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
(Continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculations
of the above cash-generating units for 31 March 2024
and 31 March 2023. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash
flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwiill:

Budgeted revenue/gross margins — The basis used to
determine the value assigned to the budgeted/forecast
revenue/gross margins is the average revenue/gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the
budget/forecast year, increased for expected efficiency
improvements and/or expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
recognised impairment losses of approximately
HK$24,419,000 relating to the goodwill allocated to Hong
Kong restaurant and food cash-generating unit, being the
carrying amount thereof (before deducting the impairment
losses) that could not recover. The impairment losses
arose mainly due to downsizing of the Hong Kong style
“Cha Chaan Teng” restaurant business.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
recognised impairment losses of approximately
HK$4,274,000 and HK$7,615,000 relating to the goodwill
allocated to the Mainland China food supply business
cash-generating unit and the Hong Kong restaurant and
food cash-generating unit, respectively, being the carrying
amounts thereof (before deducting the impairment
losses) that could not recover. The impairment losses
arose mainly due to COVID-19 induced deterioration in
economic conditions and other negative operating factors
affecting those cash-generation units.

16. 7 & (g)

A 2 W E s

AE_T_HOFE=-A=t—HRZ
—=F=ZA=1— EZLﬂﬁ@FE
NzEREEREEARR BEEER
Eﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁ“ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂﬁ%@
BEZETERREAMT

TBEWA EEREN-AEETEE S
TR A BB EFIFTIEEEE 2 HEE
AEEEE BATEN—FREZF
BHRAZEER WE FTERBERE
R/ KBTS ERMAS -

730 5 — T P 2 3 B s R B BB AT
BRBEIEHE B ST AR

HE-_T-_MNMF=-A=+—HLFE"
AEEBROMEERERRRGE
CELBN s EAREBREEBLRY
24,419,000 7T ' BN AN E T Al W/ 2
FREE (MBRREEIER) - REBXE
ERHENEBR [RERE] EBRERER
B

BE_Z_ZF-A=+—HILFE"
REBBRADPELETERERDHERE
%ﬁ%iﬁ@?i T_L&E/%"zﬁﬂﬁﬁuu

PEABUZBEEREREEBXS LD
4,274,0007% 7t 57,615,000 7T * Bl A
SETATKE REE (NBRBEES
Al) o WEEBLXEZEHBNRCOVID-198
BEERRAB AT EZERSE
EBENBEREEMAEC
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 17. R B &~ w2 B

2024 2023
—ENEF —ET-=

HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Share of net assets DMREEFE 664,593 744,563
Due from associates RN & N E) 2 FRIB 825,059 472,620
Loans to an associate BT —EEBEARZER 40,225 42,803
1,529,877 1,259,986
Portion classified as current assets DB AREBEE Z 35 (354,064) (283,038)
1,175,813 976,948

The amounts due from associates and loans to an FEUREE L N R IA RS T —EEE QT

associate are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

In the opinion of the directors, except for certain
amounts due from associates totaling approximately
HK$354,064,000 as at 31 March 2024 (2023:
HK$283,038,000), which are considered as short-term
advances, the remaining amounts due from associates

ZEFRREER RERZEREE-

EER

F & B

B BR-_ZE-_NE=A=+—
$2 N\ BIFIEA H#49354,064,000

7t (—F = = £ : 283,038,000/ 7T )

WIR ARG B AN A T
o

I

GIE:

AREMER (5fE [ =4

) BE LRGARAKEERE AR

and the loans to an associate (collectively, the “long-
term interests”) are considered, in substance, part of FEFIREN —HH A FER AR
the Group’s net investments in the associates, for which BEARFT &It TR A REE K o

settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the
foreseeable future.

There was no recent history of default and past due
amounts for the amounts due from and the loans to
an associate. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the loss
allowance was assessed to be minimal.

FEUCER & N R S e TR A
BEDANMBRESL -
FRZFB_=F=A=1—

=8

AT A -

ENFZER

=
=

R M
B EEE
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 17. B & A § 2 HERE (e

Particulars of the material associate are as follows:

TEBEQTFBEOT

Percentage of

Place of ownership interest
Particulars incorporation attributable
Name of issued shares held and business to the Group Principal activity
AL K
£ RAECRITRORFE SR AEEELERERSIE  TEEXH
2024 2023
—ECME | ZTo=F
South China International Purchasing Ordinary shares (unlisted) Hong Kong 50 50  Investment holding
Exchange Centre Limited (“SCI")
EHEARREZSHOERAR L@k (3E L) Eit REZR
(TEmER])

SCI and its subsidiaries (collectively the “SCI Group”) are
mainly engaged in property investment and development
in Mainland China. The SCI Group is considered a
material associate of the Group which, in the opinion of
the directors of the Company, is strategic to the Group’s
property investment and development operating segment
and has been accounted for using the equity method in
the consolidated financial statements.

EHERREMBAR (5HE [EBEER
SEDEENFEAERENERER
BREK - EFHBEREERRAANEE
—HEBBERR ARREERS
HUAREE 2 MERERBEREEDH
ERBEEIER XN AR A M5 MR AR
FOEARR
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Year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE—-F=—/NF=A=+—HI FZ

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial

17. R BB NGB 2B ()
TEIIREEREEE PR EE

information in respect of the SCI Group adjusted for any (B EFBER 2 EMEZ2EHFAR) &
differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the BB RERNCRABESER:
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements:
2024 2023
“ENE —E_=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Current assets MENVEE 112,191 145,378
Non-current assets FERBEE 3,082,368 3,308,407
Current liabilities mENEE (847,997) (689,750)
Non-current liabilities FnBEE (1,590,718) (1,892,818)
Net assets BEFE 755,844 871,217
Less: Non-controlling interests B IEERR R (567) (1,439)
Net assets attributable to owners of ZEmR B EEHEAR A
the SCI Group EIEEEFRE 755,277 869,778
Reconciliation to the Group’s B AERBEEZAER
interest in the SCI Group included REMBEREE 2 K
in non-current assets:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 75 B ffr A # 2 Lt 5l 50% 50%
Group’s share of net assets of rEERGEERREE
the SCI Group BEFE 377,639 434,889
Due from the associate” JT&“ UG B N /) FRIE 429,432 223,265
Loans to the associate” tLTEE R CER - 4,642
Carrying amount of the interest therein & & 2 #E 5 BRE & 807,071 662,796
Revenue WA 32,598 31,770
Loss for the year KFEEEE (85,175) (89,928)
Other comprehensive loss Hih2HEE (30,198) (159,057)
Total comprehensive loss AEELHEBERTE
for the year (115,373) (248,985)
8 In the opinion of the directors, these long-term interests : EERR ZEREEREE FRETE

ERBEAR 2 BE -

are, in substance, part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate.
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Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—/F=H=+—HILFE

17. P BB AE 2 ()
TEFIRAEBERNFEAZ B S AT

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial

information of the Group’s associates that are not 2B IS E R
individually material:
2024 2023
—E-NEF —T=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FET
Share of the associates’ losses FREGEEQRIEIR
for the year 22,719 2,824
Aggregate carrying amount of the REBRBEAR ZERZ
Group’s interests in the associates BEETHEE 368,742 314,152

18. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED 18. 1§ & B % 2 “F i 5 ik & it K

AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER i A T WA H R B 2
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME %
2024 2023
—E-UE —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Equity investments designated EERRATFEIERR
at fair value through other Hth2EKWAFEEZ
comprehensive income EERE
Listed equity investments, at fair value TR E  Z A F(E 19,449 95,368
Unlisted equity investment, FELTERIRE EATFE
at fair value 40,934 33,663
60,383 129,531
Portion classified as current assets ~ DB AR EE Z 35 (17,329) (33,663)
43,054 95,868

BAFESIRERE 2R AR ERIE
ZEMEBEEROBER/RDEE FARE
AERERIATMARE Bl ABHRE

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income are classified as current assets as there are
no restrictions on the investments being realised and

converted to cash and cash equivalents.

ReMBHeFE
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18. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED

18.

AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

The above equity investments were irrevocably
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income as the Group considers these investments to be

strategic in nature.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the fair value
losses in respect of the Group’s equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income recognised in other comprehensive income
amounted to approximately HK$66,414,000 (2023:

HK$24,118,000).

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

19.

EEBEAFHEIIERRRHE
i 4 0 A PR B 2 BE 2 AR
% (#)

MR AEE RS DR S LB
B AN S R A B b B X R
ERATESE RN E i 2 ER AT
L

HE_Z-_ME=ZA=1+—RALLEE"
REEREM2ERARRZIEE /IR
AFEFERREMEERAPEEREZ
ERIE 2 A FEREL 566,414,000
BT (T - =4 :24,118,000/ 7T ) °

te 2 5 Bk B i 4R A R

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS HzeMEE
2024 2023
—E-mE =4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Listed equity investments, at fair value MR E @ KA FE 26,875 68,009
Listed debt investments, at fair value M EHKIRE  RAFE 1,203 8,916
Unlisted investments, at fair value FELETRE  BATFE 7,231 47,313
35,309 124,238

The listed equity and debt investments were classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as they

were held for trading.

The above unlisted investments were fund investment
products issued by banks, and a life insurance contract
with a bank to insure a director of the Company. They
were mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are
not solely payments of principal and interest.

iR REGRERRDFEREERM
DERBAFEFABECEREE-

BiiF EM B HIRITRITZIESH
BEMRARREZRERBZ ASR
BRAEKN AREANREREALIFER
A BB B %586 0 8RR
NFEINERENEBEETRENESRE
Eo
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Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—/F=H=+—HILFE

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 19. ¥ 2 F 15 51 Bk & 4R &5 g
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued) HZzemEE @)
Under the life insurance policies, the beneficiary and BEASRBRE REXZARRE
policy holder is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the BEABARRZENB AR RIRE
Company and the insured sum is US$800,000 (equivalent % 8 /800,000 7T (48 % 706,264,000
to approximately HK$6,264,000), which has been fully BIL) ERBEINAERRE-
paid as initial premium.
The fair values of the listed and unlisted investments ERIFELEMRE 2 AT ETIZS B
were based on the market values/fair values provided by BRREZTE/AFEIRBREHERZ
financial institutions or quoted market prices at the end of MiZMEREE-
the reporting period.
At 31 March 2024, the Group’s financial assets at fair RZE-_WMF=ZA=+—H &~5E
value through profit or loss with a carrying amount of AR {E %) 528,083,000 L (ZE ==
approximately HK$28,083,000 (2023: HK$41,037,000) F 141,037,000 7T ) 2 & A FEFER
were pledged to secure certain banking facilities granted Rt REzeMEEDEERRT
to the Group (note 40). ERAEBMERE TRITEEZER
(Hf5E40) °
PROPERTIES UNDER 20. BRI ERFHELED X
DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTIES
HELD FOR SALE
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT BRphE
2024 2023
—E-NE =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
At beginning of year RE ] 321,756 337,320
Additions = 6,710 7,266
Exchange realignment ME 5 A (14,163) (22,830)
At 31 March W=A=+—H 314,303 321,756
Properties under development TEHAR A TEIR® T 2
expected to be completed: BRPME:
Beyond normal operating cycle BEBRERIERDEEL
included under non-current assets*  H 54K ‘& i 2 314,303 321,756

*

Based on the current best estimates made by the Group’s
senior management.

REASESHREREIFHZER &

fefht -
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20. PROPERTIES UNDER 20. BRI ERFHELED X
DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTIES (%)
HELD FOR SALE (Continued)
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT BRPYE @
(Continued)
The Group’s properties under development are located in REBECERTPYMEMRPRKRERS
Mainland China and Hong Kong. Ao
Included in the Group’s properties under development FAREB Z2ERIPUWERR_FT
are land use rights with an aggregate carrying amount of TWHE=ZA=1+—HLEEBELD
approximately HK$224,126,000 at 31 March 2024 (2023: 224,126,000 0 (& = =
HK$236,311,000). 236,311,000/ 7T ) 2 T H{sF FA#& -
PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE R &Y %
The Group’s properties held for sale are located in N BE (Shnk=—Ly/E IvRiALEipN

Mainland China.

21. INVENTORIES 21. 7 &
2024 2023
=BomE | ZF-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TAT

Food, beverages and others B R REAM 34,380 30,082
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES 22 JEWE 5 K &

2024 2023
—E-E TEC=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FH T FHET

Trade receivables JEUE BERX 58,809 56,160
Impairment BAE (27,213) (25,247)
31,596 30,913

For restaurant, bakery and hotel operations, the Group’s
trading terms with its customers are mainly on demand
or credit card settlements. For sale of food products,
customers are generally given credit terms of 30 to 90
days, except for new customers or certain food products,
where payment in advance is normally required. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management.

Generally, the Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances.
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net

REY EEEREELHHE  AEE
BEEFYESERIEREBRIE
FREH RRQWHENS B5 MK
B30Z00R Y EHE HHFESRET
BRABIN - B —RAE S 5 AR
B R R R R R B BT
BB SRERETHYANES
1T -

—RmE AEEYERERKE HE
RERBTEENERRIEMERR
Tte BB BRAE /TR R -

RBEEHR BREZERRERAH
FAMREEBE R ITAT

of loss allowance, is as follows:

2024 2023

—E-mEF —E=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FAET

Within 30 days BNERZ=30H 12,038 12,654
31 to 60 days 31%E60H 5,481 3,967
61 to 90 days 61290H 2,863 3,073
Over 90 days H3B0H 11,214 11,219
31,596 30,913
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of

22 JEWE % K & (&)
EWESERY REERREES N

trade receivables are as follows: T
2024 2023
11 - 3 —E_=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
At beginning of year REH] 25,247 24,034
Impairment losses, net (note 6) BAEEE  FRE (M3E6) 2,943 2,498
Exchange realignment b 0 3 B (977) (1,285)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 27,213 25,247

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on days past
due for groupings of various customer segments with
similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects reasonable
and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, trade
receivables are written off if past due for more than one
year and are not subject to enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a

provision matrix:

As at 31 March 2024

AEBNBRE BB EREEELET
WMESH Ut ERBEEHR -BH
RREBEFEERUBSERANZEARTS
7 #RAR B e B0 HA B B E © 7% At B R R

RBEEHAISNEEBESEM EA0
BB AR R EAN IR & 32 K2 7] 52
Bt —RiM = - i EUE BIRUEE
4 BIFLAMEE - B TNE BT IER

BR

o

TXEINARERBRBEEFEAKE

Z

R E 5 RS

KIEEEBRNER

R-B-_WE=A=+—H

Expected Gross Expected

credit carrying credit

loss rate amount losses

FEHA TE AR

EEBEX REAE FEBE

% HK$'000 HK$’'000

% FHET FET

Credit-impaired receivables 1 BB {E < & Ug BR 3X 100.0 18,440 18,440
Other trade receivables HiEWE SERZ

aged: BRER -

Current to 3 months BV HA 2= 461 2R = (& A

past due 0.9 20,574 193

Over 3 months past due #1838 = 1@ A 43.3 19,795 8,580

Total Gy 46.3 58,809 27,213
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 22 JEWE 5 K & (#)
As at 31 March 2023 RZE-=F=H=+—H
Expected Gross Expected
credit carrying credit
loss rate amount losses
8 HA TEHA
FEEBEEX BREARE = EEE
% HK$’000 HK$’'000
% FHET FHET
Credit-impaired receivables 1z B BB 2 & U BR =X 100.0 16,743 16,743
Other trade receivables HEMEKRE SRR
aged: ARG -
Current to 3 months BNERZ= 8 83 = {&l A
past due - 19,694 -
Over 3 months past due  #1HAHEE =18 A 43.1 19,723 8,504
Total 5t 45.0 56,160 25,247
23. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 23. H i e IR K - 4% @ KT AT R
AND PREPAYMENTS I8
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FHET
Prepayments SEER e 33,493 54,243
Other receivables and deposits Hi U RS RIES 341,782 400,312
375,275 454,555
Impairment allowance BABEE (35,798) (38,960)
339,477 415,595
Portion classified as current assets ~ D EARBEE 2 25 (316,713) (381,529)
Non-current portion IERE 2 BB 22,764 34,066
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ﬂ: N
23. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 23. Hfth e e Bk K - 4% @ R T AT X
AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued) TR (&)
Other receivables and deposits Hofh 0k BR 3 R % 2
Included in other receivables and deposits as at 31 FFAHMBURERRIZES 2 EHR_F
March 2024 was approximately HK$247,323,000 (2023: “HE=A=+t—HBeEEKtE (=
HK$324,600,000) in respect of the outstanding loan T =F LR)BUHFINREREER
principal and interest amounts due from seven (2023: AR K F B & & 4247,323,0007% T
seven) independent counterparties, with details as set out & = =4 :324,600,000/87T) ' B E
below. R
Outstanding
principal Repayment
Initial amount and during the
principal interest as at year ended Impairment
amount of 31 March 31 March  loss as at 31
the loan Interest 2024 2024 March 2024
('000) rate (HK$'000) (HK$'000) (HK$'000)  Purpose
BE
R-B-WF —E-mE
g%/ =ZA=+t-A ZA=t+-R R-Z-mE
RENDH ZAEE t5¥Ez =A=t+-H
ReH AEBRAL BYE ZHEFE
Party: AL: (Fr): F= (T#xr) (F#&xr) (T#&x) R#
Counterparty A HEFA RMB 14.4% 144,834 3,271 462  Funding for a property
120,000 per annum development project in the
PRC
AR F5144% ESARTEN-BNXES
120,000 EE
Counterparty B HFHB RMB 5% 22,452 59,652 61  Funding for the acquisition of
93,138 per annum a shopping mall in the PRC
AR® BF5% ELARUBARTEN -8
93,138 BYHL
Counterparty C #FRHC RMB 16% 32,792 - 32,792  Funding for a property
28,600 per annum re-development project in
the PRC
AR® BF16% ESARPEN-—BNEER
28,600 EE
Counterparty D HEAD RMB 5% 11,689 1,963 161 Funding for a property
15,000 per annum re-development project in
the PRC
AR® BF5% ESARTEN-—ENEER
15,000 EAE
Counterparty E HEHE RMB 5% 11,689 2,059 161  Funding for a property
15,000 per annum re-development project in
the PRC
AR® BF5% ESARTPEN-—BENEER
15,000 EAE
Counterparty F HEAF RMB N/A 21,706 - - For potential investment in the
20,124 counterparty
AR® TEA ARUFAHELERE
20,124
Counterparties G HEHG HK$2,000 5% per annum 2,161 - 2,161  Bidding for a land for
a potential property
development project in
Hong Kong subsequently
not proceeded by the Group
72,000 BEF5% REBE—EEENRME
HE (BRASELEET
ZHER)
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23. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Impairment assessment

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date by considering the probability of default of
counterparties. As at 31 March 2024, the probability
of default applied ranged from 0.27% to 100% (2023:
0.63% to 100%) and the loss given default was estimated
to be 59.6% (2023: 69.8%). Expected credit losses are
estimated by applying a loss rate approach with reference
to, inter alia, credit quality of debtors or historical loss
record of the Group and/or other reasonable and
supportable information available. The loss rate is
adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions, as appropriate. The loss rate
applied as at 31 March 2024 was 15.1% (2023: 12.4%).

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
other receivables and deposits are as follows:

23. 3 fth B BR K - 4% @ R T K

TH (@)

Wi fE 5T

BEDW IR EREAREBEER
SHFENZAREEET R_F=-I
F=ZA=+—H CEANF021%ZE
100% (ZZF == : 0.63%Z=100% ) Z
BAOTRESE RENMEELECEER
HEFA59.6% (ZT == :69.8%) °
BHEEERNEBERABERXTA#
T w2 E (AP el BEBAZE
BERIASEERLBBLER HHE
Al S 2 GBI RER - BEEXEIER
AR B Al AR 0 2 AR PRASEE AR 5 78R
(@A) RZTE-—mWF=A=+—H
KAZEERERAEI51% (T - =F:
12.4%) °

HihERERR RIRE 2 R ERBREE
ES )L UNE

2024 2023

—E-mF —B-=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FHET

At beginning of year RF ) 38,960 22,051
Impairment losses, net (note 6) BEEE  F5E (M5E6) (163) 18,373
Exchange realignment M 5 3 B (2,999) (1,464)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 35,798 38,960

Except for the balances mentioned above, the remaining
financial assets had no recent history of default and past
due amount.

B L X Rtz BRI Rtr e BB BN
By BEOELRBREHE-
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24. DUE FROM DIRECTORS

Particulars of amounts due from directors, disclosed
pursuant to section 383(1)(d) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 3 of the Hong Kong

24, FE & F A
RIEE B D RE B 25383(1)(d) ik R B H
AR (BEESFEER) RAIFEIN 2
BEBRBEZERNESREFBREEN

Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of T
Directors) Regulation, are as follows:
At
Maximum 31 March Maximum
At amount 2023 amount At
31 March outstanding and at outstanding 1 April
2024 |during the year SA1 April 20%—‘;3 during the year 2022
A ——
RAEE =A=1+—-A RAEE
RZB-@mE HAEE R-T-Z% HABE R-T-—F
=ZA=t+-H ZEEEE MA—H ZEEEHE mA—A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FET THET FAET THET
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung ENBRE 2,419 2,419 - 3.397 3,307
Mr. Ma Kai Yum BNyt 1,590 4,847 1,625 1,806 469
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John BRHTE 1,124 1,124 1,240 1,243 1,243
5,133 2,765 5,109

The amounts due from directors are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

25. CASH AND BANK BALANCES,
RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED

TIME DEPOSITS

EREEFARERR 2ERREX

i

25. e kRfT& - ZIRHA &
R B 0 E M A7

2024 2023
—ET-MF ZTE=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Cash at banks and on hand RITHEGFRES 120,844 280,778
Time deposits TEHTF K 41,310 40,529
162,154 321,307
Less: Pledged time deposits for short & : AR HIETER K
term bank loans and other HMRITEEER 2
banking facilities (note 40) TE HAF 3k (F13E40) (34,785) (33,568)
Restricted cash (note) SREIEE (M) - (32)
Cash and bank balances B& KIRTTHE 84 127,369 287,707
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25. CASH AND BANK BALANCES,

RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED
TIME DEPOSITS (Continued)

Note:

According to the relevant contracts/agreements, property
development companies of the Group are required to place
at designated bank accounts certain amounts as deposits for
potential default in payment of mortgage loans advanced to
certain property purchasers. Such guarantee deposits will only
be released either after the property ownership certificates
are submitted to the banks as collateral or when the property
purchasers have repaid the full mortgage loans to the banks.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi
amounted to approximately HK$90,634,000 (2023:
HK$218,049,000). The Renminbi is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland
China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange Renminbi for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Certain cash at banks earns interest at floating rates
based on relevant bank deposit rates. Short term time
deposits are made for varying periods of between one
day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank
balances and pledged time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

25. e RRATH B - ZIRH B2

KB W e 8 g

=

T

BREABEH, HE AEEZYEERD
AAEN-—EEBRNEERTERPIERE
T RARBRZBERZETHERERR
HER ZARESHFREHECRTES
BEBFEAXZMERERARITHEEH
RIBEREETT T AR o

RI|EHR  REBUAREENSE
& KR 1745 8 B #90,634,0007 7T (=
T — =4 218,049,000/ 7T ) - AR #&
WHABEBRLRREMERE R R
B BIREER) (HMNEE S GG R A EE -
EERNETEKRAIBRE) AEEE
HEEBFTETINEEB CRITHIBA
RERBEMEY-

ETRITRSEABBRITFRNERZF
BYF R EREUH B - R F AR B 2 BN
HFR BHERERZBRT— NF
—HE=Z@AAAF ARIRZEHE
HA T SRR AR A B, - SR1T A 88 I E 1
FRERRAEBROHRIAENTE
HYERTTH -
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26. ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) CLASSIFIED 26. 7 ERBERLEEE (A

AS HELD FOR SALE

@S EEHEREEEEEMR AR (Yiyang Carrianna
International Hotel Management Company Limited)
(“Yiyang Carrianna”), a 90% indirect subsidiary of
the Company, has been engaging in the holding and
operations of Yiyang Carrianna International Hotel
located at Zishan Road, Yiyang, Hunan Province, the
People’s Republic of China. As at 31 March 2024, the
Group has been under negotiations with an interested
party on the possible disposal of Yiyang Carrianna and
the sale was concluded after the year end date. On 26
April 2024, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement in relation to the disposal of its entire interest
in Yiyang Carrianna for an aggregate consideration
of RMB130,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$140,200,000) (the “Disposal”’). The Disposal is
expected to be completed during the year ending 31
March 2025. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities
attributable to Yiyang Carrianna, as included in the
Group’s restaurant, food and hotel segment for segment
reporting purposes, had been classified as assets and
liabilities held for sale and are presented separately in
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2024.

f&7)

SR EESRBEEEEERAR (&=
PREZR | ) AR B HE A 90%E 25 /9
BENBAR R—ENRSMNRFEAR
HABEHEA RSB RILENEGESE
BEABBENIERREEEE - R_F
TWMEZA=t+—H AEE—EHEM
ARt ERBEEH 2 EFEEH A E
THER LEERFAEBRET - R
TNEMA -+ B AEERHEE
HR=GEESN 2SRRI —mE
Einak 2R E A ARK130,000,0007T
(¥E M #9140,200,000E7T) ([HE=
H]) EHESEZENBE-_T_-_H
FZAZT—HALFERATK At
MOBREMS ' sTALEENES R
mEBED BHEGEEPRRGEER
BEEHSBEABIELEERERARE:
WHRZEZMF=A=+—HWEa8
BRAKRFEBL7 -



26. ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) CLASSIFIED

AS HELD FOR SALE (cContinued)

The major classes of assets and liabilities classified as
held for sale as at 31 March 2024 are as follow:

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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&) ()

26. 7 ERBfFELELEE (A

BERABEZIRENDERBELE

BERBER-_ZE-_WNE=A=+—H

DWWAT:
HK$’000
FHExT
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB M E 154,844
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 7,803
Inventories FE 164
Trade receivables FEWE 5 RN 702
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments £ i JEUZBR 3¢ ~ 2 & N T8 5 X8 12,909
Cash and bank balances B e RiR1THEH 2,015
Assets classified as held for sale DEABIEHEERE 178,437
Liabilities afE
Trade payables ERNESER (854)
Other payables, accruals and HMEAER B ERR
deposits received Bllkige (225,637)
Tax payable FET I8 (205)
Liabilities directly associated with the assets HD(EARBIELELEEEEEBRZ
classified as held for sale afE (226,696)

(48,259)
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27. TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end

27. JEft & 5 Bk 3k

RBEEHR BNEZRFRREZAH

of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as ZAREROMTIT
follows:
2024 2023
—E-NF —TE=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Within 30 days BIHRZE30H 21,631 24,744
31 to 60 days 31£260H 4,567 6,883
61 to 90 days 61290H 6,714 5,828
Over 90 days H#i@B0H 17,134 19,364
50,046 56,819
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are ENESERARFNBERBEEEANES
normally settled within the normal operating cycle. OB RHINEE -
28. OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND 28. H At EAT BRAK - ESF R R E
DEPOSITS RECEIVED S
2024 2023
g 11 -3 T =F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
{hg=a FHERT FHET
Contract liabilities aHBE (@) 12,385 16,095
Accruals FEE & A 5,437 3,715
Other payables and deposits HiEMNERRERIZS
received (b) 188,791 214,453
At 31 March W=A=+—8” 206,613 234,263
Portion classified as current NERRBEEZHS
liabilities (193,865) (027,484)
Non-current portion EME) 2 EB 12,748 6,779
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28. OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND 28. H fth AT IR 2 - EETE A K E

DEPOSITS RECEIVED (Continued) W% & (w0
Notes: P sE
(@)  Details of contract liabilities are as follows: @ EHBEEFBET:
31 March 31 March 1 April
2024 2023 2022
—E-NE —E=F —E-=
=A=+—-8 | ZA=+—H mA—A
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FBT FET FHET
Consideration received FEREFRE:
from customers in advance:
Restaurant, food and hotel EH - RARBIE 8,037 14,153 13,796
Property investment and YIERE RER
development 4,348 1,942 7,168
Total contract liabilities ERBERR 12,385 16,095 20,964
Contract liabilities include consideration received from AHaBEEREEKREFPRERE AL
customers in advance for the Group’s sales of food ErHERMEHEEDE - HAER
products and sales of properties. The decrease in AFEERILIEBEREFAZAR
contract liabilities in the current year was mainly due to ZEARBAIMFTE

the decrease in consideration received from customers in
advance at the end of the year.

(o)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an (o) EMEMERERIETFE  FHERAE=
average term of three months. @A -
29. PROVISIONS 20, 13 i

Provision

for restoration

costs

BREARE

2024

—BopeE

HK$’000

FET

At beginning of year T F 7] 4,687
Amount utilised during the year RERNEBAEE (330)
Exchange realignment ME H A (103)
At 31 March W=A=+—8 4,254
Portion classified as current liabilities NEARBEGE D -
Non-current portion FERE 2D 4,254
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29 .PROVISIONS (Continued)

The provision for restoration costs relates to the Group’s
obligations to reinstate its leased properties to their
original state or to a condition, as specified in the
respective tenancy agreements, at the end/upon the
termination of the relevant lease terms.

29. Bl (w)

EBRERARBEAEERBRELRER
SRIERBEEEMEREEAHEE
Mz RMREHRRZEER
88 -

ERRABRETI2EBELR N ATER
BEMURBARBRESMAELZETR
&R fhETMEE - % FRR LA T IA
ERRMERT (@) -

The provision for reinstatement costs was determined
based on certain assumptions and estimates made by
the directors of the Company with reference to past
experience and available information. The assumptions
and estimates are reviewed, and revised where

appropriate.

30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 30. it B Z SR AT 1 & & o] 4 Bk f&
BORROWINGS AND CONVERTIBLE %
BONDS

(a) MWEZHRITRKE

(a) Interest-bearing bank borrowings

2024 2023
“E-mE —E-ZF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%)  Maturity HK$’000 rate (%)  Maturity HK$'000
ERFIE EBME
(%) ZH#A TER (%) FHEA THET
Current
mE
Bank loans - secured 3.9-9.0 Ondemand 1,322,961 3.1-6.4  On demand 656,293
ROER-FHEA RERE RE KA
Current portion of long term 3.5-6.7 By 31March2025 127,430 3.9-7.2 By 31 March 2024 533,189
bank loans - secured
RARTER AT S R-ZZ-H§ RZZ_MFE=H
- BHEF ZA=t+—8A =+—HH
1,450,391 1,189,482
Non-current
FRB
Bank loans - secured 6.7 2025-2027 209,644 52-7.2  2024-2027 509,565
RITER-FER R-ZB-R%FZE RZE_MNEE
—EC4E —E+F
1,660,035 1,699,047
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 30. M B Z A7 & & ik ik &

BORROWINGS AND CONVERTIBLE % (#)
BONDS (Continued)
(a) Interest-bearing bank borrowings (Continued) (a) MEZHRATHEE (58
2024 2023
—E-mEF —T=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Analysed into: pal i I
Bank loans repayable: IRITEFENR
Within one year or on —FARRERKEE
demand 1,450,391 1,189,482
In the second year F_F 48,000 331,469
In the third to fifth years, F=FEZERF
inclusive (BERMERFEEN) 161,644 178,096
1,660,035 1,699,047

(b)

Included in the Group’s interest-bearing bank
borrowings are borrowings with an aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HK$$113,538,000
as at 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$65,580,000)
which are denominated in Renminbi. The remaining
interest-bearing bank borrowings are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars.

Certain of the Group’s interest-bearing bank
borrowings are secured by the pledge of certain
assets of the Group as further detailed in note 40 to
the financial statements.

Convertible bonds

On 15 July 2021, the Company issued 3%
convertible bonds with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$75,425,251.80 (the “Convertible
Bonds”). There was no movement in the number
of these Convertible Bonds during the year. The
Convertible Bonds are convertible at the option
of the bondholders into ordinary shares from 15
January 2022 at the initial conversion price of
HK$0.60. The Convertible Bonds are redeemable
at the option of the issuer at 100% of the principal
amount plus interest accrued. The Convertible
Bonds carry interest at a rate of 3% per annum,
which is payable half-yearly in arrears on 15 January
and 15 July.

(b)

RZZE-_WF=A=+—H &K
EEMEZRITEETREEES
#9113,538,000/8 L (Z =4
65,580,000/ 7T) Z B E U AR
i% HEpMW B ZRITEENET

REEETHE ZfEfﬂﬁ“‘TJLATEE
MAEEETEERER E—
FHIFEN B M WK M TE40

o e e B2 %

R-ZB=—#+A+AHAB ARA
BT T AN HEE R75,425,251.80
7B TLEIB% AR AR {8 % ([ AT AR &
£ %%T%hﬁ#@ﬁ#iw

ﬁ}\ Ea_%ﬁ::ﬁ H—HEEI
RANEE R (E0.60/8 L it AL B
AR B 1T AT E IR IZ100% A £ 58
INEETF) BB R - AT AR E A IR T
FEIEFFB R—A+THEB KL
A+AREHEBEFIfF—K-
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 30. M B Z 471 & & o] 4 ik &
BORROWINGS AND CONVERTIBLE % (%)
BONDS (Continued)

(b) Convertible bonds (Continued)

(b) TR E S (50

The fair value of the liability component was
estimated at the issuance date using an equivalent
market interest rate for a similar bond without a
conversion option. The residual amount is assigned
as the equity component and is included in
shareholders’ equity.

The convertible bonds issued during the year ended
31 March 2022 had been split into the liability and
equity components as follows:

EHOHNAREBENREITAER
BERREERNBUERNREN
BRIRMAE - RISR R0 AL s B
2 WET AR -

HE-_ZT-_—_F#=A=+—HI&E
BT BBRESD BABEED
MiEFELED T

HK$’000
FERT
Nominal value of convertible bonds issued %% 7T #) 7] # f% (& 5 H (8 75,425
Equity component WS =R (16,162)
Direct transaction costs attributable to the BR A B I D EE L HRA
liability component (1,501)
Liability component at the issuance date 217 B B {EEEH 57,762

On 31 July 2023, the Convertible Bonds were
extended and to be matured on 31 July 2024. The
Convertible Bonds carry interest at a rate of 6% per
annum, which is payable half-yearly in arrears on 31
January and 31 July. The early redemption option
for the issuer on the Convertible Bonds was lapsed,
resulting in a fair value loss of HK$17,465,000
recognised in profit or loss during the year.

R-E-_ZF+tA=+—H A
BEHEEHEER T —NF+
A=+—RHEIf- iRk EHFREF
ReEE WN—A=+—HBRtA
S+ —HAB¥FIN—RBITA
BB HRESF CIREERED X
Mo EHFARBEER AT EESE
17,465,000/ It °
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 30. it B 2 SR AT 1 & & ] # ik &
BORROWINGS AND CONVERTIBLE % (%)
BONDS (Continued)
(b) Convertible bonds (Continued) (b) T ®F ()
The movements of the liability component are as BEHXD 2EHIOT
follows:
2024 2023
—E-WE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
At beginning of year NG 57,988 58,171

Fair value loss on redemption ~ JE [ A[ AR EHFEERE 2
option of convertible bonds N EEE (M)

(note 6) 17,465 -
Loss on modification of BRI AR ESR 2 B8

convertible bonds (note 6) (FFzE6) 2,363 =
Interest expense FEXH 2,193 2,079
Interest paid 2 F B (3,038) (2,262)

At end of year RER 76,971 57,988
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31. DEFERRED TAX 31. EEFiIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year AEERELEHBEEEZEHOT :

are as follows:

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES i L TE B R
2024
“E-mE
Depreciation Fair value
allowance in  adjustments
excess of  arising from Revaluation
Right-of-use related acquisition of  of investment
assets  depreciation  subsidiaries properties Total
T W B it
BBEHNE AREERZ REME
RRAREE WHESHE AVERE Eff @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TET TER TET TET TET
At 31 March 2023 RZZB-=F=A=+—H - 20,659 6,417 244,217 271,293
Effect of adoption of amendments SR E B & s E A B 12575
to HKAS 12 (Note 2.2(c) AR & (Hi2.2(0) 17,507 - - - 17,507
At 1 April 2023 (restated) RZZEZ=5WA—H
(&) 17,507 20,659 6,417 244,217 288,800
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to  RNEFBERF 2
the statement of profit or loss EEHET L (K5)
during the year (note 10) (Kiz10) (3,237) 171 - (7,075) (10,141)
Exchange realignment EHAE (721) - - (3,019) (3,740)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at RZE-ME=A=+—-HZ
31 March 2024 ERHEEERE 13,549 20,830 6,417 234,123 274,919
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31. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 31. 3% B TA (a0
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued) % 5 BE & (a0
2023
.
Depreciation Fair value
allowance in adjustments
excess of arising from Revaluation
related  acquisition of  of investment
depreciation subsidiaries properties Total
YR B
BBAEHNE RNREEYZ REME
WiTE R TR NEEPE Bff Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THx FET FET THET
At 1 April 2022 R-E-—&MmMA—H 20,360 6,417 270,478 297,255
Deferred tax charged/(credited) AFERERPLL/
to the statement of profit or loss (FTA) ZERHIE
during the year (note 10) (H#E10) 299 = (23,691) (23,392)
Exchange realignment BEH R - - (2,570) (2,570)
Gross deferred tax liabilties at 31 ZEZ=F=ZA=1+—H
March 2023 Z;@URIE BfE#E 20,659 6,417 244,217 271,293
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31. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 31. 3% B IE (a)
The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are RAFEZELEHBEEZZSHWOT !
as follows:
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS i A B E B E
2024
—ECNE
Losses
available for
offsetting
against
Lease future taxable
liabilities profits Total
AL R R
ERBORF
HEEE EHEzER @
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER
At 31 March 2023 R-ZE-_=ZF#=ZA=+—-H 1,394 19,570 20,964
Effect of adoption of amendmentsto ~ RABB G ERF125R BT A
HKAS 12 (note 2.2(c)) & (f32.2()) 17,507 - 17,507
At 1 April 2023 (restated) RZZ-=FMA—H (Fi) 18,901 19,570 38,471
Deferred tax charged to AEEBRRTIHAZELEHE
the statement of profit or loss (K33E10)
during the year (note 10) (3,077) (93) (3,170)
Exchange realignment [ 5 30 (1,032) - (1,032)
Gross deferred tax assets R-B-ME=ZA=+—-HZ
at 31 March 2024 BEEREEERE 14,792 19,477 34,269
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31. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 31. E R IE (@)

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (Continued) i GBI & E (8
2023
—E-=F
Losses
available for
offsetting
against
Lease future taxable
liabilities profits Total
A LA R 2R
JERT
HEAE K#EEE pak
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAEL FTEL TEL
At 1 April 2022 RZE-__FWNA—H 793 18,206 18,999
Deferred tax credited to AEEBRRPHAZELRE
the statement of profit or loss CiEal)
during the year (note 10) 601 1,364 1,965
Gross deferred tax assets RZE-=F=fR=+—-HZ
at 31 March 2023 B BEERE 1,394 19,570 20,964

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$471,802,000 (2023: HK$444,616,000),
subject to the agreement by the Hong Kong Inland
Revenue Department, that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies
in which the losses arose. The Group also has estimated
tax losses arising in Mainland China of approximately
HK$97,171,000 (2023: HK$57,170,000), subject to the
agreement by relevant tax authorities, that will expire
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable
profits. Other than as disclosed above, deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as it is currently not considered probable by
management that taxable profits will be available against
which the tax losses can be utilised.

AEBEREBEEAZHEEBEEY
471,802,000 c (== F:
444,616,000/ 7T ) -,/\f—*fiﬁlﬁm%%ﬂ
B AA{EE Mt EFEETERD
FRAEESBEZ BERR 2 RKRER
BmFEE - NEETNBRE P B AR
2 fh T B TE B 18 4997,171,000%8 7T (=
T~ =4 :57,170,000/6 7T ) (7B 48R
MEHEARE®%  FAEE)  mitEn]
FR LA B8R 2R 8 SR T g K 4K 88 2 S 1B Al A%
R—FERFRE S -BREXTEES
SN AREBEEBRRATAIGEEELR
W R RFBEEETESA 2 tE
MIBEE BRI EEEBRELTH
BEE-
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31. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 31. B IE (@)

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (Continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For
the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group
is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008.

At 31 March 2024, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland
China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled approximately HK$1,509,923,000 at
31 March 2024 (2023: HK$1,838,540,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.

I B IE B E (4

BT CREIREMERUE) - R BIRRE
A2 NI B R EMIBEIMNEEETIR
2B EREBUI0%TEIN - BB TE
BT N\F—A—ABE® WEA
R_EZ+F+_A=+—HEMES
Z BF o fin B K fE BRIR AN B BB
ALARER 2 AT B BBIEL - Bl RE
EEAREHR - AEB2EALEA
5%510% - At - REBARZFRF
BIREKL 2B AR ST NFE—
A—BRELZAFMDIKZKREHR
SEEAIE

RZZEZME=A=1+—08 XEEL
KRB KRR Y B BB BN 2
B AR KRELBFNENS BN
BRELEHIEBE-EFRA ZSHMER
ARARRRDIRZERF 2 ET
AR -_E-_MF=ZA=+—H 2
FRAEZHBARZIRERB TN
M 48 2= KB A £ 491,509,923,000/% T i&]
AERBELHEBEARE(ZE ==
1,838,540,0005 7T ) °

AN R A EL AR BOR A A B 3 EAE AE FRAS
BigRe
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32. DEFERRED INCOME 32, EEUA
The Group’s deferred income represents cash subsidies AN 58 B A IR RE WA 2R W 3B R T 5B P
received from a government authority in respect of R—EFRAEMEZERAEI 2RSS
a property development project in Mainland China. Hh-BE_ZT-_MF=A=1+—AH1t
Deferred income of approximately HK$401,000 (2023: FE R AL A401,0008 T (= F
HK$783,000) was released to the statement of profit or =% :783,000% L) BEABRK

loss during the year ended 31 March 2024,

33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. Ik A&
SHARES 1% 1
2024 2023
—E-MF T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Issued and fully paid: BB MR AR :
1,571,359,420 (2023: 1,571,359,420) S A& EI{E0.10/87T.2
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each L iBA%1,571,359,4200%
R
1,571,359,4200% ) 157,136 157,136
SHARE OPTIONS i Wt HE
Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the RARIBRES 1B RIBBRZETE
share options issued under the scheme are included in BITHWERESR N B RERMEE34 -

note 34 to the financial statements.
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 34. B Mk HEH 3

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “2015
Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants
of the 2015 Option Scheme include the Company’s
directors, including independent non-executive directors,
other employees of the Group and consultants of any
member of the Group. The 2015 Option Scheme became
effective on 24 August 2015 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
permitted to be granted under the 2015 Option Scheme
is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is
subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting
with such participant and his associates abstaining from
voting.

Share options granted to a director are subject to
approval by the independent non-executive directors of
the Company. If the number of share options of the offer
to directors or any of their associates is in excess of
0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time
or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the
Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, the grant is subject
to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting
in which the grantee and his associates shall abstain from
voting.

ARRIRAE—RBERESS (2T -5
FREEE])  RYAKRERBZK
DIEHERIZ A ER2RERRBBR
RE) LB ZABER2BEEREAR
AER(BRBIFRNITES) XK
EEMETRAKEETMAKERAZ
BHE —T-RFBEREFIER-F
—hAFENAZTHBERBER MR
RITHHENKIER] K A% BT FREF
B

REE-_ZF-AFBRESS HERD
ZIEARITREB R ERERNEITEER
ARBAREMEBE BHITROERZ
10% (R — FE L 2 BIREBE I
[REE AR ERRAERRAS L&
MAEM2EENEBBAARERR

BRTESERELNTEEESEARRE
VIERTESH A -WIRE FESHE
EEMBBAZERESE BRBKQT
RERFE 2 ZE1TIN0.1%s A Ef12
EAHIM - BEE (EETHBRAQF
2 B%{E) %8 485,000,000 7T+ A% H 78
AR RN R NG EHfE - mAR
AREBBABNRARE FRERE-
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 34.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of offer. The amount payable
on acceptance of an option is HK$1. The exercise period
of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
directors and shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheet of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on the offer date, which
must be a business day; (i) the average of the closing
prices of the shares stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the offer date; and (jiij the nominal value of a
share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the
2015 Option Scheme during the year:

B 1% HE 5 A (a0

BRECRLE BR2RAKXRE
BRMBERERSNFERTET K TE
BAENTTEHREREE -

BERRZOTEENHEFTEE 4AS
LPERATEEZERE (AR ARND
REZAH (ZALAREER)RNER
BAXSRERAR ([BXXF])EBB®K
BRI ZMHE: (RN REERS
BHATAEE X ARBME A REX
F5I 2 SE U & R (i EfE -

R B T8 AR EEURLE X
RERRELERE-

ERAEER —T—RAFERETET
ARITEZ BT :

2024 2023
“EIRE —T-=F

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options

¥ HE 15

THE BREHE 1B BREHA

HK$ HK$

per share per share

BRER BRET
At beginning of year READ 0.714 11,000,000 0.714 11,200,000
Forfeited during the year RERKM - - 0.714 (200,000)
At 31 March R=ZR=+—H 0.714 11,000,000 0.714 11,000,000
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 34. BE M HESEE ()

No share options were exercised during the year (2023:

Nil).

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share
options outstanding as at the end of the reporting period

are as follows:

FRAE(ZT_=F | &) BREET
f&o

REBERRERITE 2 BREZITEE
KATEHEMT

The exercise price of the share options is subject to
adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other

similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

No share option was granted during the year (2023:
Nil). During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
recognised total share option expense of HK$20,000 in

respect of share options granted in prior years.

2024 2023 Exercise price* Exercise period
—E-ME —ZE-= THEE THEHE
Number of Number of
options options HK$ per share
BREHE BAEER BRET
2,500,000 2,500,000 0.714 20-2-2020 to 19-2-2025
—E-EF A+t REZT-_AF=-A+NA
2,000,000 2,000,000 0.714 3-6-2020 to 2-6-2025
—E T RNA=ZHBEZE_RFACZ
2,500,000 2,500,000 0.714 20-2-2021 to 19-2-2026
—E A -t+HEZZE-_X"F-A+ANH
2,000,000 2,000,000 0.714 3-6-2021 to 2-6-2026
TE - HXRAZBE_ZT-_XRFXAZH
2,000,000 2,000,000 0.714 3-6-2022 to 2-6-2027
B HFRAZBE_ZT-_+F,NHAH
11,000,000 11,000,000

N BRAETTEERARBRHURNAIETT
%$QEH§$ZE@§EM§@WF&§E

REAFELZEEREEERL (ZF==
F:E|) RZTE-_=F=A=+—HIL
FE - ASERTERL 2 BRETE
R 2 BB R AE S H 4258 520,00078 T ©
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
11,000,000 share options outstanding under the 2015
Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in the issue of 11,000,000
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional
issued capital of HK$1,100,000 and additional share
premium of approximately HK$6,754,000 (before issue
expenses and excluding the transfer of relevant amount
from the share option reserve).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 11,000,000 share options outstanding
under the 2015 Option Scheme, which if exercised in full
would represent approximately 0.70% of the Company’s
shares in issue as at that date.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 80
and 81 of the annual report.

The reserve funds of the Group represent the non-
distributable statutory reserves of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC. The transfers to these reserves
are determined by the boards of directors of the
subsidiaries in accordance with the relevant PRC laws
and regulations. The reserve funds are restricted as to
use but can be used to offset against future losses or to
increase the capital of the subsidiaries.

34.

35.

B 1% HE 5T A (a0

RBESR BE-_T—AFERE
2l AR 7] 11,000,00017 B A% 4 i &
TE - IRBARRIRITRALRE - 2ET
BB RTTEE 2 AR S B BUR A &5
%% 1711,000,0000% & @ A% R BB HNE B 1T
AN ,100,0007%8 7T A K2 BBANIAD S (B 49
6,754,000 7T (R FEITHZ AT ETE
FEEREREER 2 EHESE) -

RALERETBERRER RIE=
T-—HLFEREFTE X2FA
11,000,00017 & A% # 4 K 17658 - 14 &
FOTFEAEARAARIERBBITROL
0.70% °

fif Ml

AREREAEE LBEFE L HER
BEREBRBE 25 R A FRFEBORS!
eI TR

AEEZFES /RSB T BEALERK
M ZMBRBTRED IR ZIETE R o I
BRARAZESERRETEBBEZER
FERBEZSHEB HLERES AR
SR - HERT BRI 2 B IR S S A (F IR
INE B R R Z B o
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X

L

36. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 36. B E ErRkERZIESR
g .

&
J&

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING A )
INTERESTS
Details of the certain subsidiaries of the Group that have AEBETHB AR EBENIEZRIE
material non-controlling interests are set out below: mZFEEIMT
2024 2023
—E-E —_E-=
Percentage of equity interest held by — FE4% i% # %5 Fr 435 i i 2
non-controlling interests =l
— Hainan Carrianna Food Company — 8B EZEHERAER A A
Limited (“Hainan Food”) (IBmEeml) 35% 35%
— Profit Smart Group Limited and —MERGEEERARR
its subsidiaries (“Profit Smart HWB AR
Group”) ([MEEEE]) 24% 24%
Profit/(loss) for the year allocated to 7 Bt = JEHERREZE 2
non-controlling interests REERHM,/ (BE)
— Hainan Food —BERM (10,122) 4,873
— Profit Smart Group —FEEE 1,023 1,929
Dividend paid to non-controlling BT IR S 2 IR B
interests
— Hainan Food —/BERm - 10,735
— Profit Smart Group —MEEE 160 -
Accumulated balance of non- R E BE 2 JEIERER 2
controlling interests at the reporting ~ R&t 4%
date
— Hainan Food —BERmMm (47,757) (36,475)
— Profit Smart Group —F S 7,961 7,098
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36. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIESWITH 36. B & k&R ED 2 k4

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING & W 2 (s
INTERESTS (Continued)
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial TRIRUAEHWBRAR Z A MEER
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts BME-MERE LB AERRBIEKER
disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: ZER:
Profit Smart Hainan
2024 Group Food
MBS BERM
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FERT
Revenue WA 132,759 45,203
Profit/(loss) for the year REFRF, (&) 4,157 (28,919)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) ~ ANFEE2EUW A (E18)
for the year HBEE 4,157 (32,233)
Current assets REEE 37,902 54,918
Non-current assets, including goodwill FE BN & & » A R & 47,515 153,532
Current liabilities REAE (41,007) (229,420)
Non-current liabilities ERBAE (10,837) (4,317)
Net cash flows from/(used in) KRS, (FTA)
operating activities REeEMEFE 18,180 (23,237)
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEEEME, (FTA)
investing activities HWEMEFHE (4,532) 11,061
Net cash flows from/(used in) BMEEEME (FTA)
financing activities RemEFHE (13,750) 609
Net decrease in cash and cash RekReFEER
equivalents B FEE (102) (11,567)
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36. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIESWITH 36. B & Ak EEREHSZ 2 IE2
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING & W B A 6] (s)
INTERESTS (Continued)

Profit Smart Hainan
2023 Group Food
MR BER M
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHT
Revenue WA 130,094 103,826
Profit for the year REF Ew 8,040 13,924
Total comprehensive income AFEE2EKABE
for the year 8,040 12,088
Current assets mENEE 30,483 64,340
Non-current assets, including goodwill 3E7 B & & » £ 3R i & 42,018 183,978
Current liabilities BB E (37,0993) (236,796)
Non-current liabilities FRBRE (5,832) (4,675)
Net cash flows from operating KEEEETE
activities REeEmEFHE 23,635 2,445
Net cash flows from/(used in) wEESE, (FTA)
investing activities REeEMEFE (11,469) 78
Net cash flows from/(used in) MEEEAHE(FTHA)
financing activities HEeEmEFE (12,436) 780
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and R4 KRG ZHEIER
cash equivalents S 0R L) F R (270) 3,303
The above summarised consolidated financial information N EGREMBERBED RIKEEIE
has reflected the effects of acquisition accounting, ZEHTE ERERBERATERAE-

including goodwill and fair value adjustments.
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37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 37. & B A
During the year 31 March 2024, pursuant to the sale REE-_Z-_WF=A= + BHIEF
and purchase agreements entered into between the B BREASEHENEBLIE=FE]L
Group and four independent third parties, the Group WkEEEGE SEH }DJU AR E
completed the disposal of its entire 100% equity interest 1,000,000 A & # (431,090,0007% ¥ ) #0
in Carrianna (Shenzhen) Ready Meals Co. Ltd. and 160,000 A R #& (#9175,000/% & ) 52 5%
Suofenxia (Shenzhen) Restaurant Management Co. Ltd to tlj%ﬁﬁ’\fi =8 ORI FEHRmEHEE
the independent third parties for the cash consideration RNRAMZRM K ORY) BEREBERA
of RMB1,000,000 (approximately HK$1,090,000) ETZ%E‘MOO%H%E"E@&%*EE%E’\J%TE
and RMB160,000 (approximately HK$175,000), #91,644,000/8 5 o

respectively. The related losses on disposal amounted to
approximately HK$1,644,000.

HK$’000
FHExT
Net assets disposed of: BEEFELENT:
Cash and bank balances 8 & RIRTTH R 1,014
Other receivables, deposits and Ha U BR X - & RIET RIE
prepayments 2,828
Other payables, accruals and deposits HMEMERER BAERREK
received biraca (845)
Trade payables FERTE SRR (88)
2,909
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (note 6) HENE QR 2 EE (KiEe) (1,644)
Satisfied by: HERR:

Cash Re 1,265
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents SMBRAEALENBARIZE2RE
during the year in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries SEEBRAFENT
are as follows:

2024

—ET-MF

HK$’000

FTHET

Cash consideration ReRE 1,265
Cash and bank balances disposed of Be MFITEBTN SRR (1,014)

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents EREEMBARICEER
during the year in respect of the disposal of REFERNFE
subsidiaries 251
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(A) MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(B)

(@)

During the year, the Group had non-
cash additions to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of HK$9,650,000 (2023:
HK$57,642,000) and HK$9,511,000 (2023:
HK$57,019,000), respectively, in respect of
lease arrangements for leased properties.

During the year, the Group had non-cash
lease modifications to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities of HK$19,138,000 (2023:
HK$10,347,000) and HK$18,923,000 (2023:
HK$9,614,000), respectively, in respect of
lease arrangements for restaurants.

38. AR ERM

A TEEIAeXS

@)

FR - REEVENEESL
EmMEs AKEFERAEEE
RHEEBEMNIERSIEM
2 Bl 59,650,000/ 7T ( ==
— =1 :57,642,000& 7T) &
9,511,0008 T (ZE==F
57,019,000 7T ) B T

FRAEBEREENHEE
CHETRAEEENEE
& 9 Bl A19,138,0007 7T
— T = =4 :10,347,000/%
7T) }18,923,000% 7T (=&
T =4 9,614,00087T) i
TR HEBEBE -

CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING B) MEFHELZAEES
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Balances
with non-
controlling Interest-
shareholders,  Convertible bearing bank Lease
net bonds  borrowings liabilities
FERBRR
BE RE  TRREF AEBTGEH HEaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEn TEn FER TEn
At 1 April 2022 N-E-—EMA—H 24,508 58,171 1,629,186 97,521
Changes from financing cash flows BB EBZRETEL 12,903 (2,262) 73,140 (38,417)"
Non-cash items FHEEEH
New leases wHE - - - 57,019
Remeasurement EfitE = = = 9,614
Termination of leases MERE - S - (8,924)
Interest expense MBRY - 2,079 = 4,690
COVID-19-related rent concessions 17 ACOVID-19iE @ £
from lessors ER - - - (1,000)
Exchange redlignment A% 550 = (3,279) (2,355)
At 31 March 2023 A\—E-=#=fA=1—H 37,956 57,988 1,699,047 118,148
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 38. AL ERM w0
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(B) CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING B) MEGEHELEZARBED
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (%)
(Continued)
Balances
with non-
controlling Interest-
shareholders,  Convertible bearing bank Lease
net bonds  borrowings liabilities
FERRR

BE PR TRRES HERROHE HERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TEn TEn

At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023~ RZEZ=4=A=+—-Ak

“Z-=FMA—H 37,956 57,988 1,699,047 118,148
Changes from financing cash flows BEES HEREL 327 (3,038) (32,272) (41,686)"
Non-cash ftems HFHLEH
New leases niE - - = 9,511
Remeasurement EfirE - = = 18,923
Fair value loss on redemption option of BB Al AR B 5 & BHE 2
convertible bonds ATEER - 17,465 < =
Loss on modification of BigkES 2 BE
convertible bonds - 2,363 - -
Interest expense MERZ - 2,193 = 5,039
Exchange realignment R A% 487 - (6,740) 4,126)
At 31 March 2024 N-E-ME=F=1—H 38,770 76,971 1,660,035 105,809
* Includes principal portion paid of HK$36,647,000 * BE B2 E1536,647,000%8
(2023: HK$33,727,000) and interest paid of 0 (= F = =4 :33,727,000/%
HK$5,039,000 (2023: HK$4,690,000). 7) + R B F 85,039,000/ 7T

(ZZ==%:4,690,0007T) °
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 3B. ZaBemERMF W
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(C) TOTAL CASH OUTFLOW FOR C MEH2KEHAR
LEASES
The total cash outflow for leases included in the HARSRERZHER S THA
statement of cash flows is as follows: LRI
2024 2023
—E-NE B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FETT
Within operating activities LETEHA 19,638 6,313
Within financing activities MEEEBN 41,686 38,417
61,324 44,730
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39. COMMITMENTS 39. 7k i
The Group had the following capital commitments at the REMEBR NEEB A TERARE:
end of the reporting period:
2024 2023
—E-WF -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Contracted, but not provided for: ELRTHIME A AR B 4
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB Mk 2,412 2,540
Properties under development ERPYE 14,646 15,595
17,058 18,135
40. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 40. & & #
As at the end of the reporting period, certain of the B’ii&%ﬁﬁ R AEEBZETEECER
Group’s assets were pledged to secure certain banking B ERARSBERSE TR EE\ <
facilities granted to the Group. In addition, rental income EReIN AEBDEREE TIREYSE
generated in respect of certain investment properties of Z e WaETE TR (ERAKEAM
the Group has been assigned to certain banks to secure BRETRITHE 2 ER
certain banking facilities granted to the Group.
2024 2023
—E-OF —T==
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
Bt 5 FET FHT
Property, plant and equipment  #1% « /5 M & 13 64,396 98,321
Investment properties EME 14 1,850,240 1,857,419
Time deposits TE B3 TF 3K 25 34,785 33,568
Financial assets at fair value EATEINERERBRES
through profit or loss BEZEHEE 19 28,083 41,037
Total carrying value at 31 March M=A=+—B#EKMHEE 1,977,504 2,030,345
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@)

41. HEANLER S

The Group had the following transactions with @@ AEESEEEALTRFERET T
related parties during the year: R
2024 2023
—E-NE —Eo=F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
ihE=3 FHExT FHET
Sales of goods to related  [#E R AIHE & A
companies (i) 228 155

The selling price was determined based on
mutually agreed terms. The related companies
are controlled by a director of a subsidiary of
the Group.

QOutstanding balances with related parties:

M

(i)

The amounts due to directors are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

The amounts due from/to non-controlling
shareholders are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

Details of the amounts due from associates
and loans to an associate as at the end of the
reporting period are included in note 17 to the
financial statements.

U)

REETRABEZGREEE
B BERR R ALE—H
MEBABZ —RERESH-

HEEALTZREEER:

)

ENESFRRSEER 28

FE M A< FE 43 R AR SR 3RO
REEHR 2EREERE
3%0

PR & HA K e W B &2 2 R] R
ARkGET-—HBERARZE
AAFBEHR YRR
17 »
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 41. HEA LR 5 ()
(Continued)
(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the ) AEBEFTEZEEEABZHMMM:
Group:
2024 2023
—E-mEF T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Short term employee benefits %2 Hi{g & 1& 7 13,142 14,006
Post-employment benefits RRAE A 203 196
Equity-settled share option AR EE R BARER X
expense - 20
Total compensation paidtokey EXffFEEEEAE
management personnel o ) 13,345 14,222
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included ExMEe cE— T BEHRUBR

in note 8 to the financial statements. EL R
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of

2. ERERNzem TR

TR RBENSBITANBERR

financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period

are as follows:

M BRI ME

2024 —ENE
Financial assets tREE
Financial Financial
assets at assets at
fair value fair value
through through other
profit or loss Financial comprehensive
- Mandatorily assets at income
designated amortised - Equity
as such cost investments Total
BATEE
BHEE RRAMZE
BATESIE BAREZ
ERERETRE DB SH B A5t SREE
MEeMEE EHEREE -BHERE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEn FEr TEr TER
Due from associates R E N A2 RE - 825,059 - 825,059
Loans to an associate BT -HBERFAZER - 40,225 - 40,225
Equity investments designated at fair value through 18 A& A FEFIB &
other comprehensive income REMEZARAFREZ
BERE - - 60,383 60,383
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss %A (&5 & R B H
REHSREE 35,309 - - 35,300
Trade receivables EE ZET - 31,596 - 31,506
Financial assets included in other receivables, FARMERES RER
deposits and prepayments BRMECEBEE - 260,670 - 260,670
Due from directors ERESTE - 5,133 - 5,133
Pledged time deposits BREETHER - 34,785 - 34,785
Cash and bank balances Re RFTEH - 127,369 - 127,369
35,309 1,324,837 60,383 1,420,529
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 2. %R z22Mm TR @
CATEGORY (Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of T AE—BEMNSRTANSRESER
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period WEREE: (&)

are as follows: (Continued)

2024 —E-ME
Financial liabilities tRAR
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
8§
RAGHER
A NN
HK$’000
FET
Trade payables JERTE S RN 50,046
Financial liabilities included in other payables, FFAEMENERR B EA R
accruals and deposits received Blizerema®E 88,446
Due to directors FERTEEFIE 660
Due to non-controlling shareholders JE A FEYE AR AR 3R 3R 0B 38,770
Convertible bonds R ES 76,971
Interest-bearing bank borrowings B ZIRITIEE 1,660,035
Lease liabilities HEAE 105,809
2,020,737
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of

42. TR EwN @I @

TR RBENSBITANBERR

financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period

are as follows: (Continued)

MBREE - (&)

2023 —_F-=
Financial assets EREE
Financial Financial
assets at assets at
fair value fair value
through through other
profit or loss Financial comprehensive
- Mandatorily assets at income
designated amortised - Equity
as such cost investments Total
BATESE
HEE RREMZE
BATES& WARE
RRERPRE IABE SRS ARG SREE
MeBAE EMeREE ~EnRE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THL FHL FET
Due from associates BB E N R 2 R = 472,620 = 472,620
Loans to an associate BT -EBERRZER - 42,803 - 42,803
Equity investments designated at fair value through &7 A& AT EFI B &
other comprehensive income REMEZAKAFREZ
BERE - - 129,531 129,531
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss %A FE5I R R B H
REHCREE 124,238 - - 124,238
Trade receivables B 585 - 30913 - 30913
Financial assets included in other receivables, AR EKRR  RE R
deposits and prepayments BRAECEREE - 361,352 - 361,352
Dug from directors ERESHE - 2,765 - 2,765
Restricted cash ZEHRE - 32 - 32
Pledged time deposits BEATHAFER - 33,568 - 33,568
Cash and bank balances ReRRTHEH - 287,707 - 287,707
124,238 1,231,760 129,531 1,485,529
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 2. %R z22Mm TR @
CATEGORY (Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of T AE—BEMNSRTANSRESER
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period WEREE: (&)

are as follows: (Continued)

2023 —E-=F
Financial liabilities TRAE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
LA 85
PR ANEHE Y
ERBaE
HK$’000
FHET
Trade payables JERTE SRR 56,819
Financial liabilities included in other payables, FFAEMENERR BT EA K
accruals and deposits received BlikeremasE 67,370
Due to directors FERTEEFIE 3,067
Due to non-controlling shareholders FE A< FE 13 AR AR SR AR IR 37,956
Convertible bonds R ES 57,988
Interest-bearing bank borrowings fE 2 RITIEE 1,699,047
Lease liabilities HEAE 118,148

2,040,395
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43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 43. 2 M ITRAZAFHEREAFHE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s management is responsible for determining
the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting
date, management analyses the movements in the values
of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and
approved by management.

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at
which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale.

Management has assessed that the fair values of trade
receivables, financial assets included in other receivables,
deposits and prepayments, loans to an associate,
amounts due from associates, amounts due from
directors, restricted cash, pledged time deposits, cash
and bank balances, trade payables, financial liabilities
included in other payables, accruals and deposits
received, amounts due to directors, amounts due to non-
controlling shareholders, interest-bearing bank borrowings
and lease liabilities reasonably approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities/
no fixed terms of repayment of these instruments or
because the effect of discounting not reflected in the
carrying amounts of these instruments are not material.
The fair values of the non-current portion of financial
assets included in other receivables, deposits and
prepayments, interest-bearing bank borrowings and lease
liabilities have been calculated and assessed mainly by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities, as appropriate. The
changes in fair value as a result of the Group’s own non-
performance risk for interest-bearing bank borrowings and
lease liabilities as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023
were assessed to be insignificant.

J& %

rEEEREEREBTERIARNTE
AEZBRERERF REWREEH B
BrotremTAZEBEEPUBETHE
TERCEIERABE-HEREEE
ESSE

Az

ERMITANAFERZTIARENRS
hESERETRS GERblgEER
B A RBHEEARK

EREEMNHEZREER FTATR
BEZHMEERN e RIBNFIE
BT —RBERRNER BRBERQ
BIRFIR « B E =R - RO
RFE XBRHRE  SHEMEMTFR
Re MRITER  BNESERK FTAR
BMANEZEMEMNER BT ERARD
Wite  ENERFIE  EAIFEBRRER
R MBZB|ITEE UREEEEN
ATE FZERIPEABRE ZEIA
WEETEEXARKIAL BN ZEFTE
ZERHEERRZTAZERM I RE
BAFPEEREZEREAEMRSE F
AR wH b E A USRS - & R IE R
R HMEZRITEERAERE 2
WAL EMEEZ A FEIEEBEM
BERBUGESR EERRRHFTEHA
(w@Efm) 2 TRLER A/ ZHRIIR
BHRAKRSREAERFE-R=F
TME=A=t—BR-T-=%=A
=t—B AEEAMBZRTEER
HERBZAG TEHRREERFE
HELHESLTEK
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43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of listed equity and debt investments
classified as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income/financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of unlisted investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are based on market values.

The fair value of unlisted investment designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income has been
estimated using the asset-based approach based on
assumptions that are not supported by observable
market prices or rates. The valuation approach requires
the directors to analyse the value of the underlying asset
which is then discounted for considerations such as
marketability.

Below is a summary of the significant unobservable input
to the valuation of financial instrument together with a
quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 March 2024 and
31 March 2023:

43. e TRZAFHRAFH

J& & (m)

DEREERAFEINRMAEMEE
WARREz EiEmREFRENRD
FERATEINREN BT EEH
EREENRFEERMSREFE -D
BRARATEIRENBETRENSE
BMEEMNFLENRELRMEH -

BERAFEIERNEMEEKAS
BRIZZ I FTRENAFESREAE
EMEHAMNET A FNRREREE
B Afbat - ZMEREEXREESNT
ﬁFzm@ﬁﬁ EREEAERNTIS
mBMEERAZELTE

TX#Hilem T AGENERTATER
BABBERR-_ZS-NEF=A=1+—

BR_E-_=ZF=ZA=+—HMN=2/tH
RRE DT

Significant valuation Significant
technique unobservable input Range
BARMGERM FAERBAZE gBE
2024 2023
—ENME | ZE-=F
Unlisted investment Asset-based approach Discount for lack of 25% 30%

marketability
BRemERBMEITE

FLEMERE BEARE

The discount for lack of marketability represents the
amounts of premiums and discounts determinated by the
Group that market participants would take into accounts
when pricing the investments.

As at 31 March 2024, it was estimated that with all other
variables held constant, a decrease/increase in discount
for lack of marketability by 1% would result in increase/
decrease in the Group’s other comprehensive income by
approximately HK$190,000 (2023: HK$472,000).

B msnBEEeE RSB BTN
MZRHEELHEECERZERNEE
MTESRE-

R-ZEBE-_NMF=A=+—8 "mEH
thESRFIAENBERT  HetR=™
BRBUITER D BN %S E R AR E
ZE@EEH&M‘M/ B #9190,000
BIL(ZZEZ=4F:472,00087T) °
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43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 13. e M TRZ A FH KA FH
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL J& % ()
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY NP1 B %
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TREAAEESRIAZ A TEE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: I
Financial assets measured at fair value: EAFHEHTEZ2MEE:
As at 31 March 2024 R-B-mE=F=+—A
Fair value measurement using
AVLEHERRA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
REBT % EAUBE EAFUHE
ZHRE BAYE WARE
(%-8) (%5=8) (5=8) BE
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TERT TET TET TER
Equity investments designated at fair value EERATETIRRREM
through other comprehensive income FHRAREBZERZRE 19,449 - 40,934 60,383
Financial assets at fair value through RATESRERRBET
profit or loss REZERHEE 28,078 7,231 - 35,309
47,527 7,231 40,934 95,692
As at 31 March 2023 R_FE—=F=H=+—H
Fair value measurement using
AT EHEFER
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

iSEY iR BEAUEE  EATAERR
5B BABE QAHE

(F—8) (8-R) (B=&) nE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHL T FHL T
Equity investments designated at fair value EERATEVRRAEL
through other comprehensive income PEBARE ERRE 95,868 - 33,663 129,531
Financial assets at fair value through RATEIRRNER
profit or loss REZEREE 76,925 47,313 = 124,238

172,793 47,313 33,663 253,769
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing bank borrowings, and cash and bank
balances. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group
has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk
and equity price risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they
are summarised below.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rate relates primarily to the Group’s interest-
bearing bank borrowings with floating interest rates.
The effective interest rates and terms of repayment of
the interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group are
disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements. Interest
rate risk is managed on an ongoing basis with the primary
objective of limiting the extent to which net interest
expense could be affected by adverse movements in
interest rates.

Assuming the bank borrowings outstanding at the end
of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year, a 100 basis point increase/decrease in interest rates
would increase/decrease the Group’s loss before tax for
the current year by approximately HK$16,600,000 (2023:
HK$16,990,000).

In the opinion of the directors, the sensitivity to the interest
rate used above is considered reasonable with the other
variables held constant.

A4, B R Be B S R OBR

AEEZFESRTIAREMEZRT
BE - URRERRITEHR - ZFER
TAZIZENRRAKERKEERE
T AKENELHEEARBELZ
HinemEENMBE PIMEKRE SR
R EN B IR

AEBEeBRIAS R ETRBRERSH X
J—HS ) EﬂM‘/]lb@Jﬁ% &Hﬁfﬁiﬂ
nw%%A*ﬁ&H%ﬁﬁ&%ﬂkz
R BRattan R

E
AEEES cMENEEHRBR TR
EARSBZ IR B ZRITEE-
AEEZMBRITEREZERN KRR
BRI B I 75 Rk M RES0 © Fl R [
RRGEEEEE TERBRARG
ﬂgﬁiﬁﬁ MEANESHTEZIE
o

BERBEHRGAEBEZRITEER
B EFE M R EE - BIFIERIE 0,8
DI00EEBESAEBRAERFEE 2K
Tt Bl &5 1B 32 A0, 8L 4> 916,600,000 7T
(ZZ = =%:16,990,000/ 7T ) °

BEZA RHMBERETS VBN
T ARz FIEGURETIRRETE




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
HAMBHEME

Year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE—-F=—/NF=A=+—HI FZ

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 44, ¥R by g B H E & BOR

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
CREDIT RISK

The Group trades mainly with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures, as appropriate.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

For properties that are still under development, the Group
typically provides guarantees to banks in connection with
individual customers’ borrowing of mortgage loans to
finance their purchase of the properties for an amount
up to 80% of the total purchase price of the properties.
If a purchaser defaults on the payment of its mortgage
loan during the term of the guarantee, the bank holding
the mortgage loan may demand the Group to repay the
outstanding amount under the loan and any accrued
interest thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group is
able to retain the customer’s deposits and sell the related
property to recover any amounts paid by the Group to the
bank. Unless the selling price would drop by no less than
20%, the Group would not be in a loss position in selling
the property out and in this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is largely
mitigated.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets.

(8)

fa 5 B

AEEETRENZAEERHFNFE =T
EITR S - REAKERR  ARIREE
HETRINEFLPHARBEENEER
REIRF o N REERERREWAE

SRBERFYMENS  NEERTHES
BEFRBENMEMEBEMELNRIBE
FAEEO B ERRITIRMEER  MER
THERRANFEBEEENS% 1R
BEORERIRAREERBERELNY.

AR B RIBERNRITAIRGERAE
BEEEFETHREERALZLZER
AR E U FMRRT A
SEARBEPNRELHEEYEL
EMEREM AARE SIS FIRITHIR
R BRIFEB TREADRN20% AEE N
SEHEZMERAIBEL At &
RAEERRAEENEERBR AR
&~

Ja B B PR R 5 oK B B
TREFR=ZA=+t—BREAEEDN
EEBR (EZ2UBHERNR/ERE BRIE
BERLERZNARE ORI ESFSEM
BERRISERI@R)NEEERRERER
B ERARFRERD B -FIRERA
TREEZREAE
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 44. W A by E B H AR ROBOK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (%)
CREDIT RISK (Continued) f5 B R B (a0
Maximum exposure and year-end staging Ja B b PR R S AR B S (s
(Continued)
As at 31 March 2024 R-E-_WmNFE=A=+—H
12-month Lifetime
ECLs ECLs
128 R EH ZHEY
FEER FEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E-RR EIRR EZRR S CH

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET

Due from associates** W E ARz e 825,059 - - - 825,059
Loans to an associate** BF-BBEEQR2ER 40,225 - - - 40,225
Trade receivables* EWEZER* - - - 58,809 58,809
Financial assets included in other TARMERERR BER

receivables, deposits and prepayments BRREZEREE 70,850 190,665 34,953 - 296,468
Due from directors** ERESHE 5,133 - - - 5,133
Pledged time deposits" BEAEHER 34,785 - - - 34,785
Cash and bank balances" RERRITHER 127,369 - - - 127,369

1,103,421 190,665 34,953 58,809 1,387,848
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 44, BB A By & B OB R UK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (8)
CREDIT RISK (Continued) fs B B B a0
Maximum exposure and year-end staging Jal Fa b PR R 4 R B S (s
(Continued)
As at 31 March 2023 RZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—H
12-month Lifetime
ECLs ECLs
128 AT 2HEH
EEBE EERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FREE ERE F=RE [GH Aif

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET

Due from associates** EWEE QT 2 RE 472,620 - - - 472,620

Loans to an associate** BY-HBEAAZER™ 42,803 - - - 42,803

Trade receivables* EWE SRR - - - 56,160 56,160

Financial assets included in other FAEMEKER BER

receivables, deposits and prepayments ~ BAREZERHEE 102,356 262,348 35,608 = 400,312

Due from directors** ERESRE 2,765 - - - 2,765

Restricted cash’ ZRERS 32 - - - 32

Pledged time deposits" BEACHER" 33,568 - - = 33,568

Cash and bank balances" REeRBITER 287,707 - - = 287,707

941,851 262,348 35,608 56,160 1,295,967

* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the * HRAEBRAGCRER EZNEK
simplified approach for impairment, information based on B SRR B EEREN &AM
the provision matrix is disclosed in note 22 to the financial A M oo h i FE o
statements.

** The credit quality of the financial instruments is considered > SRIAENEREEWREARILE
“normal” as they are not past due and there is no Bl BAatfRERE HEEEM
information indicating that the financial instruments had a FAZEeM T EERBERURE
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. A o B 2 4 0 -

8 Not yet past due " i 7 380 A

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s FREAEEEERERKE SRR

exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are SRk E—FTEEE  RITBERE

disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements. M sE22 R I R o
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 44. B AT E B EHE R B R
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (&)
LIQUIDITY RISK B & 2 e
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds rEEEEREREERBENIHA
by considering the maturity of its financial assets and NRFEFRERERERHEESERA
liabilities and projected cash flows. [ Bz o
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between AEERMBERRBERERRTREME
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank B rEeREMHEERE ZBENETF
and other borrowings. 1o
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at TERAEFASERBEHRNEBAE"
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual NEHRITBRNREGTENIERER
undiscounted payments, is as follows:
2024
—ECmE
Within 1 year
or on demand 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total
—ELHT 3
FRERE Z1F EELE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TER
Trade payables EREZER 50,046 - - 50,046
Financial liabilities included in other FARMEMER  EER
payables, accruals and deposits received REWEEzEREE 75,698 12,748 s 88,446
Due to directors EREEHE 660 - - 660
Due to non-controlling shareholders ERFEERRRAIE 38,770 - - 38,770
Convertible bonds ARRES 76,971 - - 76,971
Interest-bearing bank borrowings (note 30) K5z BTEH (H330) 1,450,391 209,644 - 1,660,035
Interest payments on interest-bearing bank &2 R{THEENEMEEZ
and other borrowings FEXM 83,991 - - 83,991
Lease liabilities HEEE 34,516 70,150 2,527 107,193
1,811,043 202,542 2,527 2,106,112
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 44. B % A By & B H R R BCR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (%)
LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued) RN N EE D)
2023
—T-=F
Within 1 year
or on demand 1105 years Over 5 years Total
N —F
FRE KR ZRF AEHNE wEr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THx TR THET
Trade payables ERESER 56,819 = = 56,819
Financial liabilities included in other payables, &t AEfEMERF - FE:F B
accruals and deposits received kBEMZREzeBEBE 60,591 6,779 - 67,370
Due to directors ENEEHE 3,067 - - 3,067
Due to non-controlling shareholders e TN 37,956 - - 37,956
Convertible bonds ARRES 57,988 - - 57,988
Interest-bearing bank borrowings (note 30) Bt 22 RITIEE (FIEE30) 1,189,482 500,565 - 1,699,047
Interest payments on interest-bearing bank MEzRITEEZ
borrowings S 86,016 14,549 - 100,565
Lease liabilities HEAR 43,555 76,573 7,999 128,127

1,535,474 607,466 7,999 2,150,939
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44. BB R T E B EH B R BR

(%)
W& 2 EkE 8

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued)

Note: Included in interest-bearing bank borrowings are term izt MEZRITEEPBEAEEED
loans with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately 798,644,000 T2 EHER(=ZF
HK$798,644,000 (2023: HK$915,519,000). The loan Z=%:915,519,000% 7T ) - B X 1%
agreements contain repayment on-demand clauses giving EBE-E-KERARFERER
the banks the unconditional right to call in the loans at any 4T ERITEIGFRER 2 ERER -
time and therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity Et st LB AIE R M E - 2 ERIA
profile, the total amount is classified as “on demand” and A A TERER] RESEARBEAE
has been classified as current liabilities. f&e
Notwithstanding the above clauses, the directors do not BEBULER EEUTREZE
believe that the loans will be called in entirety within 12 BERER12EA AR EREHERE -
months, and they consider that the loans will be repaid EERAZBERURBEERBZE
in accordance with the maturity dates as set out in the P&z B HR A 558 o i AT E B
loan agreements. This evaluation was made considering SEEEMBHREREBR 2B
the financial position of the Group at the date of approval W AEBEBTERLL WEELD
of the financial statements; the Group’s compliance with TR RAEE—HEREBRITAAL
the loan covenants; the lack of events of default, and the AIEREHEMmEL -
fact that the Group has made all previously scheduled
repayments on time.

In accordance with the terms of the loans which contain RIRE S — I8 — A 2 KA E FURK
repayment on-demand clauses, the maturity profile of MERGER RBREHER ZZEEX
those loans as at the end of the reporting period, based on LAB HRITBE ARG E K 2B ESKED
the contractual undiscounted payments and ignoring the RE R 2 ARz 2N EIER
effect of any repayment on-demand clauses, is as follows: R

Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

—FEH5T —§ZEREF BFHNE @i

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TERT TER THT TERT

As at 31 March 2024 RZE-_mNF=A=1+—H 190,696 586,095 23,246 800,037

As at 31 March 2023 W-F-=%#=A=t-A 517,592 106,974 32,670 667,236
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 44, ¥R by g B H E & BOR

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (%)
EQUITY PRICE RISK 1 18 )& B
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity IR A (E 4% [ B2 5 AR = 45 UK I (& 7))

securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels
of equity indices and the values of individual securities.
The Group was exposed to equity price risk arising
from individual listed equity investments classified as
equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income (note 18) and listed equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (note 19) as at 31 March 2024 and
2023.

The Group’s listed investments are listed on the Hong
Kong, Shenzhen and Shanghai stock exchanges and are
valued at quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period.

EFBEZEIMEBBRAEFESF A
TETE%ZH B-R-B-_OR-_F_=
FZA=t—HA - AKEMEYHZKE
ET%HBAEPKQ"ﬁ%? EERFET

EREMEEMBRARE Z #EHZRE
([‘HE18)&’\*EF%TE’A$T§§|J$&BAT§
S REZEMEE (MFE19) hrEsl
EHERRE -

I'Z

AEEN ETHREERE RN LEE
BRERX S LT RIERHRERARNT S

WEME-

The market equity index for the following stock MEBEHFEH (RFAEREPRZ &
exchanges, at the close of business of the nearest trading ELX% AEERRERR)  RFRZ
day in the year to the end of the reporting period, and the EeAEEHAT:
respective highest and lowest points during the year were
as follows:
High/low High/low
during the during the
Asat  year ended As at year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2024 2024 2023 2023
—E-mE -
=ZB=+-H =RA=+-H
RZZ-m%F LEER [RZTZ=F IEFEER
=ZR=+-H 28/ [=A=1—A @/ {&
Hong Kong - Hang Seng Index EE—18 Ejﬂg;ﬁ( 16,541 20,651/14,961 20,400 22,701/14,597
Shenzhen - SZSE Component Index S 31| — 378 25 FX & 5 &5 9,401 11,968/7,965 11,726 13,122/10,087
Shanghai - SSE Composite Index 3§ — &4 & 1EE 3,041  3,395/2,702 3,273 3,425/2,863
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
EQUITY PRICE RISK (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
5% change in the fair values of the equity investments,
with all other variables held constant and before any

Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements

% 6 0B ok A
HIFFE

A4, B R Be B S R OBR

(&)

% 18 & B )

TR BRATA S B BRI T8 Rk et
BEIMABEZET REERRER
WK EEE WEXBREZ AT

impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at the end BEEHRSNEE 2 GRE - RS TH
of the reporting period. For the purpose of this analysis, ZIEERAFESRENEMAZEBA
for the listed equity investments designated at fair value BEZ FTERKREMNS ﬁ%ﬁ Ek
through other comprehensive income, the impact is REHAFEBEENTE
deemed to be on the fair value reserve.
Carrying
amount Changes
of equity in loss Increase
investments before tax in equity*
ERika BRBE A
FEE EE2 PRk 58 o+
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
TEx TET TER
2024 ZE-mE
Investments listed in: FTRER:
Hong Kong - Equity investment at fair value &6 —REM 2 ERAF
thought other comprehensive REZERRE
income (note 18) (B3E18) 19,449 - 972
Hong Kong - Financial assets at fair value EE-REETREZ
through profit or loss (note 19) SREE (M19) 23,643 1,182 -
Shanghai - Financial assets at fair value FE-REETREY
through profit or loss (note 19) SREE (f1319) 3,232 162 -
2023 ZEIZF
Investments listed in: LTTRER:
Hong Kong - Equity investment at fair value &/ —REf 2 EMRA S
thought other comprehensive REZERRE
income (note 18) CiEat) 95,868 - 4,793
Hong Kong - Financial assets at fairvalue &/~ RERFREZ
through profit or loss (note 19) SRBEE (M19) 64,454 3,223 =
Shanghai - Financial assets at far value i -RERTREZ
through profit or loss (note 19) SRBEE (M19) 3,555 178 =

* Excluding effect on retained profits

T ERRBENZEE
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 44, ¥R by g B H B & BOR

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its businesses and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements except for the undertaking
by the Company under a banking facility letter granted
to a subsidiary of the Group to maintain a minimum
consolidated tangible net worth of HK$3,000,000,000
(2023: HK$3,000,000,000), which has been complied
with during the year. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March
2023.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
defined as the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings
and convertible bonds, net of cash and bank balances
and pledged time deposits as a percentage of the
Group’s total equity (net of debit reserves). The gearing
ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as
follows:

(8)
BAEH

AEBALEENEERE  ARRE
SEABBAETRNLS B RBER

BN R UXFEEBERE  FHR&
REEREE-

AEERBEEBSINE RIBREE
MEREE EEHEEARNEBIWELH
B ARBFIABREARERE AEET
MREREEARNKBEITHR -BRAAQ A
?MK%@Z MK B ARERZIEITE
REMmMR M 27%”*2\?/&?%%1ﬁﬁ,m
ﬁﬁ/ﬁFrﬂEs 000,000,000/ 7T ( —
— =4 :3,000,000,0005% 7t) (H Eﬁq
BEE5F) N zti'*@itﬂﬂﬂiﬂ&l\mmbuz
BAZE R -BEZZE-_MF=A=1+—
ARk-—ZZFE-_=F=ZA=+—HIEFE
N WEREAEEFRHEBIZE BX®K
BFe

AEBUAERBBEL RERERNIT
o BIELERRERANEEMNEZRIT
fEE R AR EFRER S R IRITAERR
XRBIBE RO ERERES 1§1E$'§
B (MNRELFERE) BE2ED
RBERREAABELRDT

2024 2023

“EWE —T_=F

Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000

B 5 FExT FHET

Interest-bearing bank borrowings i & Z R1TEE 30 1,660,035 1,699,047

Convertible bonds AR ES 30 76,971 57,988

Less: Cash and bank balances & : 3R & M ER7T 45 84 25 (127,369) (287,707)

Pledged time deposits EEREEBFR 25 (34,785) (33,568)

Net debt FEE 1,574,852 1,435,760
Total equity net of debit MBREREEcERBE

reserves 3,682,497 3,932,747

Gearing ratio BEXRBELE 42.8% 36.5%




Notes to Consolidated F{nancial Statemenfs
BAMBHEME

Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

45. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING 5. HEHRFE
PERIOD
Subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group R-E-NE=ZA=+—HIEFE%R"
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an AEBEBYE=ZF([EFIIVE
independent third party (the “Purchaser”) in relation to the EREALE —FMNB AR IARE
disposal of the entire equity interest in a subsidiary to the TEH - HEXGHER T _NF+ A
Purchaser. Completion of the transaction shall take place T+ HZAIEMK-

before 20 October 2024.

Further details of the above were explained in the EXZE—FHFBRARFBHA=ZE
Company’s announcement dated 26 April 2024 and the THFMAZ+ARBZAHRER =T
circular dated 18 June 2024. FRATNRZBRHAMEE -




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
HAMBHEME

Year ended 31 March 2024 #EZ=-F=F=H=+—HI FE

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

46. A 2 H 2 W B K 0 &

RBEPR RNRARZH BN K ZE

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

T

2024 2023
—E-MEF ZTEZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries B ARG #EmR 2,186,623 2,213,226
Due from associates FEURESE & N E) 2 FRIB 7,655 =
Total non-current assets EMEEERE 2,194,278 2,213,226
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Other receivables, deposits and H b EULER 3K ~
prepayments B RIENRIE 139 72
Due from a subsidiary FEY—FREIB B A R 5KIB 80,000 80,000
Cash and bank balances & KIRITH R 987 3,675
Total current assets REEERE 81,126 83,747
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Convertible bonds AR ES (76,971) (57,9898)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings B2 RITIEE (185,308) (267,316)
Other payables and accruals Hi RS RETER (8,114) (8,163)
Due to directors JEE SRR (4,916) (17,225)
Total current liabilities REBBERAE (275,309) (350,692)
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEEEE (194,183) (266,945)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT (¥ E#LBERABARE
LIABILITIES 2,000,095 1,946,281
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBER
Interest-bearing bank borrowings B ZIRITIEE (207,800) (82,000)
Due to associates JESTESE 2 A B FRIR 2 (191,121)
Total non-current liabilities FERBBERTE (207,802) (273,121)
Net assets BEFE 1,792,293 1,673,160
EQUITY =
Issued capital BT 157,136 157,136
Reserves (note) i () 1,635,157 1,516,024
Total equity EmBRE 1,792,293 1,673,160




Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statemenfs
BAMBHEME

Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ=F—F=H=+—HIFFE

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 46. A 2 8 2 W K& (a0
POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Note: P sE
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: KRBz HEBRENT :
Equity Retained
Share  component Capital Share profits/
premium of convertible Contributed  redemption option (accumulated
account bonds surplus reserve reserve loss) Total
TRRES REBER/
RO EER BEH5 ERES EABERE BRERE (RiER) @zt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
iR TER iR TER iR TER FER

At 1 April 2022 R-ZE-_—FWA-H 1,505,959 16,162 12,618 316 5,511 16,057 1,556,623
Loss for the year and total FEEBBRATE

comprehensive loss for the year 2EFEAE - - - - = (24,905) (24,905)
Equity-setiled share option arrangements INEREE 2 BRERH - - - - 20 - 20
Transfer of share option reserve upon forfeiture of 1 B B 18 X 3B

share options ERBRERE - - - = (18) 18 =
Final 2022 diidend —E-CERERE = = = - - (15,714) 15,714)
At 31 March 2023 and at 1 April 2023 W-B-=5=F=1+-RAR

R-B-=EMA-A 1,505,959 16,162 12,618 316 5,513 (24,544) 1,516,024

Profit for the year and total REERFRAER

comprehensive income for the year 2ERAEE - - - - - 119,133 119,133
At 31 March 2024 W=B-MmE=A=1+-A 1,505,959 16,162 12,618 316 5513 94,589 1,635,157
The contributed surplus of the Company arose as a KRB ZEBEHRBTIE—AN—FNA
result of the Group reorganisation on 12 August 1991 +ToHZAEBEEEAMEL BA QA
and represented the difference between the nominal BITRAZ EEERBAREESAMmK
value of the share capital issued by the Company and BeMBARcEHEEFBEZER
the combined net assets of the subsidiaries acquired RMEBEFRE 2ARBITZ2HE-

pursuant to the Group reorganisation, less the effects of
the bonus issue of shares in previous years.
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46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 46. AN 6 2 M BRI F @)

POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as

REBRE-NAN-FQRDE (?&%ﬂ%

amended), the contributed surplus is distributable to i) BEHBHAIRETEEBADIKT
shareholders under certain specific circumstances. fRER o

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised, as
further explained in the accounting policy for share-based
payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The
amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to retained profits/(accumulated loss) should
the related options expire or be forfeited.

47. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 26 June 2024.

47.

BREFRBEERRLERRITEZER
BAVE FHE—TRRTHRERHM
A2 AARD RERE S 2 @R - %
TRANERBERERTERERER
0 B AR SN A B RE AR B B s R MR
HEREREETN,(RFER) -

BB ok 2 it

ﬁﬁﬁ#&i’%aﬁ/\_ = _P_Tli/\ﬂ ‘f’/\ H
REESREWIKER M-



Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group
as at 31 March 2024 are as follows:

Name/location

BB/

Schedule of Principal Properties
FEDEME

31 March 2024 Z—ZF=pJF=H=+—H

Tenure

HERMEE

Type

b

R-Z-WNF=A=+—HAEEFENT
RREMEFBELT

Approx. gross
floor area

(m?)
BEEEROH
(FHK)

Effective
% held

BERZH
BOk

Stage of
completion

52 A PR B}

Hong Kong
b

Unit B, 26th Floor

Wyler Centre, Phase |l

200 Tai Lin Pai Road

Kwai Chung, New Territories
R

KB B2005%
EfmhOE_H

262B=E

Ground Floor and Cockloft
61 South Wall Road
Kowloon City, Kowloon
JUBE SRR A FE 38
615RH T R E &

Shop on Ground Floor

No. 188 Hai Tan Street

Sham Shui Po, Kowloon
BEKY

BB

1885k 14

15th Floor and

Car park space No. 5
Young Ya Industrial Building
381-389 Sha Tsui Road
Tsuen Wan, New Territories
MARE

Y IH 38381-3895%
BLTERE

158 &

T S 55R B L

Notes:

Types of properties: |-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

Medium term lease

D

Medium term lease

ki

Medium term lease

il

Medium term lease

ik

I

GES

GES

I

1,568

87

114

2,604

GEE

100

100

60

100

Completed

B

Completed

B

Completed

BEMK

Completed

MEFERI-I% R—EE C-E*




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2024 —ZFZpj#F=H=+—H

Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group R -Z - PUF=A=+—HAEBFHEHN T

as at 31 March 2024 are as follows: (Continued) EREYEFEOT : (B)
Approx. gross Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type floor area % held completion
(m?)
HEEEHENH BERER *
&8/ HRAKE Ll (FFHXK) B THER

Hong Kong
gH

Ground Floor Medium term lease  C 53 70 Completed
No. 355 Sha Tsui Road

Tsuen Wan, New Territories

MREE H HRAR 4 [EES BIEK

b 1H 38 3555%

N

Ground Floor, Medium term lease  C 102 100 Completed
No. 102 Main Street Ap Lei Chau

Ap Lei Chau, Hong Kong

BEBBROM R ERRR AT EES BIERK

BS M I K B71025%

N

Shop on Ground and Cockloft Medium term lease  C 89 100 Completed
No. 186A Hai Tan Street

Sham Shui Po, Kowloon

NLBERKES EIR A BE BEX
518 H#7186A

1 T HE R g

Shop on Ground Floor Medium term lease  C 77 100 Completed
No. 270 Ki Lung Street

Sham Shui Po, Kowloon

NEERKE R HIRR A S BEK
EIE 552705%

T4

Notes: B

'IE.'I{F

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YRR I-T%¥ R—F=E C-&%




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEWEME

31 March 2024 Z—ZF=pJF=H=+—H

Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group R _-Z - PFE=A=+—HAEBZFHEHN T

as at 31 March 2024 are as follows: (Continued) SIREYEFEOT : (B)
Approx. gross Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type floor area % held completion
(m?)
HAEEEEAY BERER *
8/ HRA%E Ll (FFHXK) B THER

Hong Kong
b

Flat F on 1st Floor Medium term lease R 50 100 Completed
Gold Reserved Count

No. 16 Tai Main Lane

Tai Po, New Territories

AXNE HERRR A F= [=P:354
ANHHE165%

—BFE

5/F and main roof Medium term lease R 50 90 Completed
No. 35 Tsing Yuen Street

Tai Po, New Territories

AR H HRAE 4 TF=x [=A:-354
iR 1355,

LERFEXRA

Lot No. 423 on D.D. 292 Medium term lease R 70 90 Completed
No. 18 Ko Tong Ha Yeung

Sai Kung, New Territories

MREE FHIRR A F=E BIERK
=B TF185%

ERMI ENH

F292K) 3 R FE4235%

|IE.'I{F

Notes: e

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YIEER - T R—FE C—HX




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2024 —ZFZpj#F=H=+—H

Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group R -Z - PUF=A=+—HAEBFHEHN T

as at 31 March 2024 are as follows: (Continued) EREYEFEOT : (B)
Approx. gross Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type floor area % held completion
(m?)
HEEEHENH BERER
&8/ HRAKE Ll (FFHXK) B THER

Hong Kong
gH

Ground floor & 1st floor Medium term lease R 83 90 Completed
Lot No. 424 on D.D. 292

No.17 Ko Tong Ha Yeung

Sai Kung North, New Territories

mAmEIL f EAAE A T=x BEK
=B TFITR

ERMIEHNN

E292K73 R B 4245%

T R —1&

Lot No. 1528 on D.D. 244 Medium term lease R 62 100 Completed
No. 30 3rd Lane, Ho Chung Village

Sai Kung, New Territories

HRERE Hh HRAE 4 F=x BIAK
BRI F 35305

EEMLENN

F 244593 R 55 15285%

Lot No. 1582 on D.D. 244 Medium term lease R 31 100 Completed
Ho Chung Village

Sai Kung, New Territories

HRAEE IR A F=x BIEK
BB

EEMI 200

F244K)34 B 5 15825%

Mainland China
B K pE

Carrianna Friendship Square Medium term lease  C 28,390 100 Completed
Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

R B R R ERFR 4 SES B
ARFEEMNERERR

FEPREES

Notes: B E -

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YRR I-T%¥ R—F=E C-&%




Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group
as at 31 March 2024 are as follows: (Continued)

Name/location

BB/

Tenure

HERMEE

Type

b

Schedule of Principal Properties
i%%%%%

31 March 2024 —ZF—J#F=H=+—

R-ZF_WNF=ZA=+—HAKERHENET
RREMEFBEOT : (F)

Approx. gross
floor area

(m?)
BEEEROH
(FHK)

Effective Stage of
% held completion

BERER
BAL THREE

Mainland China
K B

A building at Hua Shan Road
Chaotian Industrial Area
Shilou Town

Panyu District

Guangdong Province
1_LE’\Jg‘ g

E@ﬁ
HMEIXR
EK e BETF

Imperial Palace
Hong Yi Cun
Baoan South Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

AYE B R
?@%

// N *T
SELE

14 Zu Miao Road
Chancheng District
Foshan Municipal
G}

B R

1B BAER145%

A building at Xi Huan Road
Chaotian Industrial Area
Shilou Town

Panyu District

Guangdong Province
URERE

EBE

AIEE

BHIXE

PR —BETF

Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

Medium term lease

ik

Long term lease

REHEQ

Medium term lease

REFEA

Medium term lease

ik

%

C/R

EEYS
FE

[GES

I

4,647 100 Completed

4,899 100 Completed

6,838 100 Completed

18,922 100 Completed

BeE:
MEFERI-1T¥ R—EE C—E*




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2024 —ZFZpj#F=H=+—H

Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group
as at 31 March 2024 are as follows: (Continued)

Name/location Tenure Type

BB/ ERAKE b

R-ZE-NF=A=+—HBAKEFENT
RREMEFBEOT : (F)

Approx. gross Effective Stage of
floor area % held completion

(m?)
BEEEEOE BEREE
(FHK) BAk THER

Mainland China
K B

Carrianna Friendship Square Medium term lease ~ C/R
Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RGBT =  HRAR 4 GEY4
ARBEREEREIA =
RS

Block 5, Hui Bo Commercial Centre  Medium term lease  C
Guangzhou South Station

Shibi Street, Panyu District

Guanzhou City

Guangdong Province

BRA h ERAE 4 EES
BMmESRAES

&M Ea vk

SEHEF LR

An industrial complex at Medium term lease |

18 Xingye Road

Xiuying District

Haikou City, Hainan Province

R EEa/AM fEIFR A I%
B BR185R 2 — I

Commercial Office Building Units Medium term lease  C/R
Block 3 Jiahui Life Plaza

Northern portion of Wandao Road

Quhai Community, Wanjiang District

Dongguan City, Guangdong Province

BRERSEM f EARE L) wE/
EIRfEtE F=x
Bt

SRR SE M A T

Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

4,210 100 Completed

BEK

9,203 100 Completed

15,907 65 Completed

B

3,682 100 Completed

GEE
WEMR: - T% R—{EE C—E X



Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEWEME

31 March 2024 Z—ZF=pJF=H=+—H

Particulars of principal properties held as property, plant and R -Z - NFE=A=+—HAEBEZHIEA
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2024 are as follows: M HWEREE L EEZYMEFBOT

Approx. gross Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type floor area % held completion
(m?)
HEEHENH BRES
£/ HRMtE Ll (FHK) B REHEER

Hong Kong
BH

Unit A, 26th Floor and Medium term lease | 812 100 Completed
Car park space Nos. 19, 20, 21,

22, 39 and 40 on 2nd Floor and

Lorry Parking Space No. L21

on 1st Floor, Wyler Centre, Phase |l

200 Tai Lin Pai Road

Kwai Chung, New Territories

R R EITR AT T% BIERK
KEHEE2005%

EmPLE =

2BIEAE R2EFE195

2055 « 2155 ~ 2255 »

395% A0SR BRI K

1Lk S ERE A

Unit 18 and 19 on 8th Floor Medium term lease | 298 60 Completed
Wah Sang Industrial Building

Nos. 14-18 Wong Chuk Yeung Street

Shatin, New territories

AR H R EITR AT Tx BIERK
BITFH14-18%

EHETE¥AE

BE18ER19E

|IE.'I{F

Notes: e

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YIEER - T R—FE C—HX




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2024 —ZFZpj#F=H=+—H

Particulars of principal properties held as property, plant and R-Z-PNE=F=+—HAEBHEIEAD
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2024 are as follows: % -HERRBZ EEWEFBUOT : (B)
(Continued)

Approx. gross Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type floor area % held completion
(m?)
REEEROR BREE
2B/ HRAME 5l (FFHXK) Bk ZTHER

Hong Kong
BE

(i) The 12th floor of Tower Two, and ~ Medium term lease | 2,780 95% Completed
(ii) Flat Roof B2 on the 7th floor of

Tower Two

Ever Gain Plaza

No. 88 Container Port Road

Kwai Chung, New Territories

AR  EARE 4 T BEK
5 1B 78 58 1% 885

KGN ES

=B+ &k

H—E+BEBETAB2

Mainland China
B kB

Nos. 3-6, 5/F Medium term lease  C 1,068 100 Completed
Carrianna Friendship Square

Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RN B = HERFE A EES BI&RK
AREERERERR

EEFRERES

h#E3-65%

Notes: e

ﬁl{‘:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial PEFER I-T¥ R—FE C-—HZE




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEWEM E

31 March 2024 —ZF—J#F=H=+—

Particulars of principal properties held as property, plant and R-Z-PE=F=+—HAEBHEIEAD
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2024 are as follows: ¥ BMENMXEZ TEWEFBUT: (8)
(Continued)

Approx. gross Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type floor area % held completion
(m?)
BEEEROR BREE
2B/ HRAME 5l (FFHXK) Bk THER

Mainland China
B KPR

Units A, B, Cand D Medium term lease  C 557 100 Completed
14th Floor and Unit South B on

17th Floor, Lianhua Building

Renmin South Road, Luohu District

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RIS R [ HERAE 4 EES BIEK
BHEARERE

ERNE

1418A B CKDERI7THEmMEBE

Room 301-304, 321-326 Long term lease C 1,570 100 Completed
Shenzhen Centre

Commercial Building, Min Tian West

Road, Futian Centre District

Futian District

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RN B R REEHD EES BI&R
‘AR

BEHPLERBEA

IR LEBRE

301-304% [2321-326 %

14 Zu Miao Road Medium term lease  C 12,954 100 Completed
Chancheng District

Foshan Municipal

I FHITH AT BE BEX
BHR

18 BR K 1457

ﬁﬂ:

Notes: 5]

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YIEER I-T% R—FE C—HE%




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2024 —ZFZpj#F=H=+—H

Particulars of principal properties held as property, plant and R-Z-PNE=F=+—HAEBHEIEAD
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2024 are as follows: % -HERRBZ EEWEFBUOT : (B)
(Continued)

Approx. gross Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type floor area % held completion
(m?)
REEEROR BREE
2B/ HRAME 5l (FFHXK) Bk ZTHER

Mainland China
A AR

Sales Centre Medium term lease  C 1,739 100 Completed
East of Xin Guang Road/South of

Da Gang Road C section

Lin Gang Industrial Area

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone

Lianyungang

HE; F EIA L) S BEX
EERRBERMAER

kB RABEACR

PO

Commercial Units numbered 8-S113, Medium term lease  C 2,036 100 Completed
8-S212, 8-S301 and 8-S401 of the

4-storey building, and 10 parking

spaces at basement Level 1

No. 8 Building on Land A3-4

Fifth Avenue

Runcheng Apartment Complex

Qianxing Road, Xishan District

Kunming, Yunan Province

EMARHAM HERFE A EES BIERK
78 1L [ A BR

EE NN N ]

A3-43t 5881 2 TUEHE T

9% A8-5113 - 8-5212

8-S301%8-S401 2 B Efi

IRRZBFHEIEZ

1018 R B L

Notes: B

Types of properties: |-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commeraial YIEER: I-T¥ R—FE C-—HE%




Schedule of Principal Properties
i%%%%%

31 March 2024 —ZF—J#F=H=+—

Particulars of principal properties held for sale held by the R-ZT_MFE=ZA=+—BAEBIFHIHE

Group as at 31 March 2024 are as follows: HEFEMEFFET

Approx. gross Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type floor area % held completion

(m?)
HEEHENH BERER

2B/ HAKE Al (FFHXK) Bolk THER
Mainland China
B K pE
Carrianna Friendship Square Medium term lease ~ C/R 212 100 Completed

Junction Renmin Road South
and Chunfeng Road
Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RIS R EIR A HE/ EEK
ARFBEIERBERZR T=x

EERRERES

Imperial Palace Long term lease C/R 153 100 Completed
Hong Yi Cun

Baoan South Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RN B R REAMA GEY4 =354
%?@V F=E

H—

BELER

Notes: MR

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial WEER: I-IT% R—FE C-BE%




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2024 —ZFZpj#F=H=+—H

Particulars of principal properties held for sale held by the RZ-ZT-MFEF=ZA=+—BAEEHBFHEE

Group as at 31 March 2024 are as follows: (Continued) HEZTEMEFBET: (B)
Approx. gross Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type floor area % held completion
(m?)

BEEEHENH BERER
£/ HRME Al (F7HK) B REHEER
Mainland China
B K pE
Leather Trade Centre Medium term lease  C 34,510 100 Completed

East of Xin Guang Road/South of
Da Gang Road B section

Lin Gang Industrial Area
Lianyungang Eco & Tech
Development Zone

Lianyungang

@%% R EAR 4 [EES EEX
B BRI R

%%F%E

R A B EBRR

REREZZH L

Building Materials Trade Centre Medium term lease  C 49,157 100 Completed
East of Xin Guang Road/South of

Da Gang Road C section

Lin Gang Industrial Area

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone

Lianyungang

Ei% F HARE 4 [EES BEK
BB R R

%%F%E

B RAB R ACR

BN 0

ﬁl{‘:

Notes: 5]

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YIEER - T R—FE C—H%




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEWEM E

31 March 2024 —ZF—J#F=H=+—

Particulars of principal properties under development held by R-ZE_FE=A=+—HAEBFEAELE

the Group as at 31 March 2024 are as follows: (Continued) P2 EFEMEFBOT: (B)
Expected

Site Stage of Effective completion
Location Use area completion % held date

(m?)

T ER BREE

1 B A7 (FFHXK) 7E B R Aot BEIERBH
Mainland China
h B K B
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 26,069 Foundation work 100 N/A
Da Gang Road B section residential in progress

Lin Gang Industrial Area
Lianyungang Eco & Tech
Development Zone

Lianyungang

;@DZ—/% BE/EE METRETH NiE A
BB R % R

%%F%[

B R A B B

East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 77,757 Foundation work 100 N/A

Da Gang Road F section residential in progress

Lin Gang Industrial Area

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone

Lianyungang

BE; HE/Ex WETIRETH NiE A
BEBLERMAER

HH R R A B A FER

East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 22,731 Foundation work 100 N/A
Da Gang Road C section residential in progress

Lin Gang Industrial Area

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone

Lianyungang

EE HE/EE R TIZETH TER
EEBEBERMARE

REEXRE

FLBERAB A CR




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2024 —ZFZpj#F=H=+—H

Particulars of principal properties held for sale held by the

Group as at 31 March 2024 are as follows: (Continued)

Location

1o B

Use

Jick

Site
area
(m?)
TEE
(F75K)

R-ZE_NF=ZA=1T—BAKEHFER

RZEBMEHBOT (F)

Effective
% held

Stage of
completion

ERER

52 R P B BOk

Expected
completion
date

BEr Rk A

Mainland China
HE K BE

East of Xin Guang Road/South of
Da Gang Road E section

Lin Gang Industrial Area
Lianyungang Eco & Tech
Development Zone

Lianyungang

BEE

EEBLERMAE R
REERR
R A8 B P ERR

East of Xin Guang Road/South of
Da Gang Road G section

Lin Gang Industrial Area
Lianyungang Eco & Tech
Development Zone

Lianyungang

HE;

BEBLERMAER
REEXR

F B R KB B AEGR

Commercial/
residential

BE/EE

Commercial/
residential

BE/EE

93,643

122,577

Foundation work 100
in progress

WETIRETH

Foundation work 100
in progress

R TIRETH

N/A

TEH

N/A






	封面
	目錄
	財務概要
	公司資料
	主席報告
	董事及高級管理人員簡歷
	企業管治報告
	業務回顧
	財務回顧
	董事會報告書
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益表
	綜合全面收入報表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	主要物業概要
	封底

